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U.S.$100,000,000,000 Global Medium Term Note Programme

unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed in the case of Notes issued by
BNZ International Funding Limited, acting through its London Branch by

BANK OF NEW ZEALAND
(incorporated in New Zealand with limited liability under registered number 428849)

Under this U.S.$100,000,000,000 Global Medium Term Note Programme (the Programme), National Australia Bank Limited (ABN 12 004 044
937) (NAB), Bank of New Zealand (BNZ) and BNZ International Funding Limited, acting through its London Branch (BNZ-IF) (each, an Issuer and
together, the Issuers), may from time to time issue notes (the Notes, which include Senior Notes (in the case of NAB and BNZ), Guaranteed Senior
Notes (in the case of BNZ-IF) and Subordinated Notes (in the case of NAB only) as such terms are defined on pages 125-126 of this Offering
Circular) denominated in any currency agreed between the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer (as defined below). Any Notes issued under the
Programme on or after the date of this Offering Circular are issued subject to the provisions described herein. This does not affect any Notes in issue
prior to the date hereof. The payment of all amounts owing in respect of Guaranteed Senior Notes issued by BNZ-IF will be unconditionally and
irrevocably guaranteed by BNZ (in such capacity, the Guarantor). Notes may be issued in bearer or registered form (respectively, Bearer Notes and
Registered Notes).

The Notes may be issued on a continuing basis to one or more of the Dealers specified on page 2 of this Offering Circular and any additional Dealer
appointed under the Programme from time to time by the Issuers (each, a Dealer and together, the Dealers), which appointment may be for a specific
issue or on an ongoing basis. References in this Offering Circular to the relevant Dealer shall, in the case of an issue of Notes being (or intended to
be) subscribed by more than one Dealer, be to all Dealers agreeing to subscribe such Notes.

This Offering Circular has been approved as a base prospectus by the Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier (the Competent Authority
or the CSSF), as competent authority under Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 (the Prospectus Regulation). The CSSF only approves this Offering
Circular as meeting the standards of completeness, comprehensibility and consistency imposed by the Prospectus Regulation. Approval by the CSSF
should not be considered as an endorsement of any of the Issuers, the Guarantor or of the quality of the Notes. Investors should make their own
assessment as to the suitability of investing in the Notes.

Application has been made to:
(i) the CSSF to approve this Offering Circular in connection with the issue by the Issuers of Notes:

(&)  with a minimum denomination of at least €100,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency) to be admitted to the official list
and traded on the Regulated Market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (the Regulated Market of the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange is a regulated market for the purposes of the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive (Directive 2014/65/EU as
amended (MiFID I1))); and

(b)  with a minimum denomination of at least €1,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency) to be admitted to the official list and
traded only on a specific segment of the Regulated Market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange to which only qualified
investors (as defined in the Prospectus Regulation) have access,

in each case, in accordance with the Prospectus Regulation (PR Notes); and

(i) the Luxembourg Stock Exchange to approve this Offering Circular in connection with the issue by the Issuers of Notes with a minimum
denomination of at least €100,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency) (the Exempt Notes) to be admitted to trading on the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange's Euro MTF market and the professional segment of the Euro MTF market (the Euro MTF market is not a
regulated market pursuant to the provisions of MiFID I, but is subject to the supervision of the Luxembourg financial sector and stock
exchange regulator, the CSSF) (the Euro MTF Market).

Each Issuer may also issue unlisted Notes and/or Notes not admitted to trading on any market and, where such Notes are, in addition, issued with a
minimum denomination of at least €100,000 or otherwise fall within an exemption under the Prospectus Regulation from the requirement to publish a
prospectus, such Notes are, in addition, hereinafter also referred to in this Offering Circular as Exempt Notes.

For the avoidance of doubt, each Issuer may also issue Notes with a minimum denomination of less than €100,000 (or its equivalent in any other
currency) which are offered to the public in the European Economic Area (and hereinafter also referred to in this Offering Circular as the EEA) or the
United Kingdom (and hereinafter also referred to in this Offering Circular as the UK) and fall within an exemption under the Prospectus Regulation
from the requirement to publish a prospectus.

This Offering Circular (as supplemented as at the relevant time, if applicable) is valid for 12 months from its date in relation to Notes which
are to be admitted to trading on a regulated market in the European Economic Area or the United Kingdom. The obligation to supplement
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this Offering Circular in the event of a significant new factor, material mistake or material inaccuracy does not apply when this Offering
Circular is no longer valid and the validity of this Offering Circular will expire on 16 November 2021.

The CSSF has neither approved nor reviewed information contained in this Offering Circular in connection with Exempt Notes, including
the form of Final Terms in respect of Exempt Notes. In accordance with Article 6(4) of the Luxembourg act dated 16 July 2019 on
prospectuses for securities (the Prospectus Act 2019), by approving this Offering Circular, in accordance with Article 20 of the Prospectus
Regulation, the CSSF does not engage in respect of the economic or financial opportunity of the operation or the quality and solvency of the
Issuers.

The Programme provides that Notes may be listed or admitted to trading, as the case may be, on such other or additional stock exchange(s), or
market(s), as may be agreed between the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor (in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes) and the relevant Dealer. References
in this Offering Circular to Notes being listed (and all related references) shall mean that such Notes have been admitted to the official list and to
trading on (i) the Regulated Market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange or (ii) the Euro MTF Market.

Notice of, inter alia, the aggregate nominal amount of Notes, interest (if any) payable in respect of Notes and the issue price of Notes which are
applicable to each Tranche of Notes will be set out in the applicable Final Terms (the Final Terms) which, with respect to all Notes to be listed on the
Regulated Market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange or the Euro MTF Market, will be delivered to the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and, where
applicable, the Competent Authority, on or before the date of issue of the Notes of such Tranche.

Information relating to the ratings of the Programme and issues of Notes under the Programme is set out on pages 78 to 79 of this Offering
Circular.

Neither the Notes nor the Guarantee (as defined under “Terms and Conditions of the Notes") (in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes) have been or
will be registered under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the Securities Act), or with any securities regulatory authority of any state or
other jurisdiction of the United States, and the Notes may include Bearer Notes that are subject to U.S. tax law requirements. The Notes may not be
offered or sold (or, in the case of Bearer Notes, delivered) in the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons (as defined in
Regulation S under the Securities Act (Regulation S)), except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration
requirements of the Securities Act. See "Form of the Notes" for a description of the manner in which Notes will be issued. Registered Notes are
subject to certain restrictions on transfer, see "Subscription and Sale and Transfer and Selling Restrictions".

Investors in Hong Kong should not purchase Subordinated Notes (as defined herein) in the primary or secondary markets unless they are professional
investors (as defined in the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571, Laws of Hong Kong) and its subsidiary legislation) only and understand the
risks involved. Subordinated Notes are generally not considered suitable for purchase by retail investors.

An investment in Notes issued under the Programme involves certain risks. In particular, Subordinated Notes are complex financial
instruments with high risk. There are risks inherent in the holding of Subordinated Notes, including the risks in relation to their
subordination, the circumstances in which the Subordinated Notes may be written down or converted into ordinary shares in the capital of
NAB and the implications on holders of Subordinated Notes (such as a substantial loss). The circumstances in which such holders may suffer
loss as a result of holding the Subordinated Notes are difficult to predict and the quantum of any loss incurred by investors in the
Subordinated Notes in such circumstances is also highly uncertain. For a discussion of these risks see "'Risk Factors".

Arranger
DEUTSCHE BANK

Dealers
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This Offering Circular comprises (i) a prospectus for the issuance of Notes under the Programme by
NAB; (ii) a prospectus for the issuance of Notes under the Programme by BNZ; and (iii) a prospectus
for the issuance of Guaranteed Senior Notes under the Programme by BNZ-IF. Each prospectus
constitutes, in respect of all Notes other than Exempt Notes issued under the Programme, a base
prospectus for the purposes of Article 8 of the Prospectus Regulation and, for Exempt Notes to be
listed on the Euro MTF Market, a base prospectus for the purposes of Part IV of the Prospectus Act
2019. When used in this Offering Circular, Prospectus Regulation means Regulation (EU) 2017/1129.

Each Issuer and the Guarantor (together, the Responsible Persons) accepts responsibility for the
information contained in this Offering Circular (and the Final Terms for each Tranche of Notes issued
under the Programme) in respect to itself only and the Notes. The Responsible Persons, each having
taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case, confirm that such information is, to the best
of their knowledge, in accordance with the facts and contains no omission likely to affect its import.

Copies of Final Terms will be available from the registered office of the relevant Issuer and the
Guarantor (in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes) and specified office set out below of each of the
Paying Agents (as defined below).

This Offering Circular is to be read in conjunction with all documents or parts of documents which
are deemed to be incorporated in it by reference (see ""Documents Incorporated by Reference and Credit
Ratings' below). This Offering Circular shall be read and construed on the basis that those documents
are incorporated in, and form part of, this Offering Circular.

Other than in relation to the documents which are deemed to be incorporated by reference (see
"Documents Incorporated by Reference and Credit Ratings'), the information on the websites to which
this Offering Circular refers does not form part of this Offering Circular and has not been scrutinised
or approved by the CSSF.

Following the publication of this Offering Circular, a supplement to this Offering Circular approved
by the Competent Authority pursuant to Article 23 of the Prospectus Regulation may be prepared by
any of the Issuers (a Supplement to this Offering Circular). Any such Supplement to this Offering
Circular will be available on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu). Each of
the Issuers and the Guarantor will, in the event of any significant new factor, material mistake or
material inaccuracy relating to information included in this Offering Circular which is capable of
affecting the assessment of any Notes, prepare a Supplement to this Offering Circular or publish a
new Offering Circular for use in connection with any subsequent issue of Notes.

In relation to Exempt Notes to be listed, following the publication of this Offering Circular, a
supplement to this Offering Circular approved by the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (as competent
entity for the purposes of Part IV of the Prospectus Act 2019) may be prepared by any of the Issuers
pursuant to rule 206 of Part 2, Chapter 2 of the rules and regulations of the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange (an Exempt Notes Supplement to this Offering Circular). In accordance with rule 205 of
Part 2, Chapter 2 of the rules and regulations of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, any such Exempt
Notes Supplement to this Offering Circular will be available, free of charge, at the registered offices of
the Issuers and the Guarantor and on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu)
and copies may be obtained free of charge from the specified office of the Agent at Winchester House,
1 Great Winchester Street, London EC2N 2DB. Each of the Issuers and the Guarantor will, in the
event of any significant new factor relating to information included in this Offering Circular which is
capable of affecting the assessment of any Exempt Notes to be listed, prepare an Exempt Notes
Supplement to this Offering Circular or publish a new Offering Circular for use in connection with
any subsequent issue of Exempt Notes to be listed.
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Deutsche Trustee Company Limited, as trustee for the holders of the Notes (the Trustee), has not
independently verified the information contained herein. No representation, warranty or undertaking,
express or implied, is made and no responsibility or liability is accepted by the Dealers or the Trustee
as to the accuracy or completeness of the information contained or incorporated in this Offering
Circular or any other information provided by the Issuers or the Guarantor in connection with the
Programme. No Dealer or the Trustee accepts any liability in relation to the information contained or
incorporated by reference in this Offering Circular or any other information provided by the Issuers
or the Guarantor in connection with the Programme.

No person is or has been authorised by the Issuers, the Guarantor, any of the Dealers or the Trustee to
give any information or to make any representation not contained in or not consistent with this
Offering Circular or any other information supplied in connection with the Programme or the Notes
and, if given or made, such information or representation must not be relied upon as having been
authorised by any of the Issuers, the Guarantor or any of the Dealers or the Trustee.

Neither this Offering Circular nor any other information supplied in connection with the Programme
or any Notes (a) is intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation or (b) should be
considered as a recommendation by any of the Issuers, the Guarantor or any of the Dealers or the
Trustee that any recipient of this Offering Circular or any other information supplied in connection
with the Programme or any Notes should purchase any Notes. Each investor contemplating
purchasing any Notes should make its own independent investigation of the financial condition and
affairs, and its own appraisal of the creditworthiness, of the relevant Issuer and/or the Guarantor.
Neither this Offering Circular nor any other information supplied in connection with the Programme
or any Notes nor the issue of any Notes constitutes an offer or invitation by or on behalf of any Issuer
or the Guarantor or any of the Dealers or the Trustee to any person to subscribe for or to purchase
any Notes.

Neither the delivery of this Offering Circular nor the offering, sale or delivery of any Notes shall in
any circumstances imply that the information contained in it concerning any Issuer and/or the
Guarantor is correct at any time subsequent to its date or that any other information supplied in
connection with the Programme is correct as of any time subsequent to the date indicated in the
document containing the same. The Dealers and the Trustee expressly do not undertake to review the
financial condition or affairs of any Issuer or the Guarantor during the life of the Programme or to
advise any investor in Notes issued under the Programme of any information coming to their
attention. Investors should review, inter alia, the most recently published documents incorporated by
reference into this Offering Circular when deciding whether or not to purchase any Notes.

The Bearer Notes are subject to U.S. tax law requirements and may not be offered, sold or delivered
within the United States or its possessions or to United States persons, except in certain transactions
permitted by U.S. tax regulations. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by
the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the Code), and the regulations promulgated
thereunder.

This Offering Circular does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy any
Notes in any jurisdiction to any person to whom it is unlawful to make the offer or solicitation in such
jurisdiction. The distribution of this Offering Circular and the offer or sale of Notes may be restricted
by law in certain jurisdictions. None of the Issuers, the Guarantor, the Dealers or the Trustee
represents that this Offering Circular may be lawfully distributed, or that any Notes may be lawfully
offered, in compliance with any applicable registration or other requirements in any such jurisdiction,
or pursuant to an exemption available thereunder, or assume any responsibility for facilitating any
such distribution or offering. In particular, no action has been taken by any Issuer, the Guarantor,
any of the Dealers or the Trustee which is intended to permit a public offering of any Notes or
distribution of this Offering Circular in any jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required. No
Notes may be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, and neither this Offering Circular nor any
advertisement or other offering material may be distributed or published, in any jurisdiction, except
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under circumstances that will result in compliance with any applicable laws and regulations. Persons
into whose possession this Offering Circular or any Notes may come must inform themselves about,
and observe, any such restrictions on the distribution of this Offering Circular and the offer and sale
of Notes. In addition, there are particular restrictions on the distribution of this Offering Circular and
the offer or sale of Notes in the United States and its territories or possessions or to any resident
thereof, the EEA (including Austria, France, Italy and Belgium and, for these purposes, the United
Kingdom), New Zealand (and hereinafter also referred to in this Offering Circular as NZ), Hong
Kong, Japan, Singapore, Switzerland, Canada, China, the Republic of Korea and the Commonwealth
of Australia (Australia); see ""Subscription and Sale and Transfer and Selling Restrictions"".

This Offering Circular has been prepared on the basis that any Notes with a minimum denomination
of less than €100,000 (or equivalent in another currency) will (i) only be admitted to trading on an
EEA regulated market (as defined in MiFID I1), or a specific segment of an EEA regulated market, to
which only qualified investors (as defined in the Prospectus Regulation) can have access (in which case
they shall not be offered or sold to non-qualified investors) or (ii) only be offered to the public in an
EEA Member State pursuant to an exemption under Article 1(4) of the Prospectus Regulation (and for
these purposes, references to the EEA include the United Kingdom).

SUITABILITY OF INVESTMENT

In making an investment decision, investors must rely on their own examination of the relevant Issuer
and the Guarantor (in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes) and the terms of the Notes being offered,
including the merits and risks involved.

The Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors. Each potential investor in the Notes must
determine the suitability of that investment in light of its own circumstances. In particular, each
potential investor may wish to consider, either on its own or with the help of its financial and other
professional advisers, whether it:

(1) has sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Notes, the
merits and risks of investing in the Notes and the information contained or incorporated by
reference in this Offering Circular or any applicable Supplement to this Offering Circular;

(i) has access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its
particular financial situation, an investment in the Notes and the impact the Notes will have on
its overall investment portfolio;

(iii)  has sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the
Notes, including Notes with principal or interest payable in one or more currencies, or where
the currency for principal or interest payments is different from the potential investor’s
currency;

(iv) understands thoroughly the terms of the Notes and is familiar with the behaviour of any
relevant indices and financial markets; and

(v) is able to evaluate possible scenarios for economic, interest rate and other factors that may
affect its investment and its ability to bear the applicable risks.

The Subordinated Notes discussed in this Offering Circular are complex financial instruments with
high risk. More generally, legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments. The
investment activities of certain investors are subject to legal investment laws and regulations, or
review or regulation by certain authorities. Each potential investor should consult its legal advisers to
determine whether and to what extent (1) Notes are legal investments for it, (2) Notes can be used as
collateral for various types of borrowing and (3) other restrictions apply to its purchase or pledge of
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any Notes. Financial institutions should consult their legal advisers or the appropriate regulators to
determine the appropriate treatment of Notes under any applicable risk-based capital or similar rules.

MiIFID Il PRODUCT GOVERNANCE / TARGET MARKET

The Final Terms in respect of any Notes may include a legend entitled "MIiFID Il product
governance' which will outline the target market assessment in respect of the Notes and which
channels for distribution of the Notes are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or
recommending the Notes (a distributor) should take into consideration the target market assessment;
however, a distributor subject to MIFID Il is responsible for undertaking its own target market
assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the target market assessment) and
determining appropriate distribution channels.

A determination will be made in relation to each issue about whether, for the purpose of the MiFID
Product Governance rules under EU Delegated Directive 2017/593 (the MiFID Product Governance
Rules), any Dealer subscribing for any Notes is a manufacturer in respect of such Notes, but otherwise
neither the Arranger nor the Dealers nor any of their respective affiliates will be a manufacturer for
the purpose of the MiFID Product Governance Rules.

IMPORTANT - EEA AND UK RETAIL INVESTORS

If the Final Terms in respect of any Notes includes a legend entitled ""Prohibition of Sales to EEA and
UK Retail Investors', the Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to
and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the EEA or in the
United Kingdom. For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a
retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of MIFID II; or (ii) a customer within the meaning
of Directive (EU) 2016/97 (the Insurance Distribution Directive), where that customer would not
qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MIFID I1; or (iii) not a
gualified investor as defined in the Prospectus Regulation. Consequently no key information document
required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (as amended, the PRIIPs Regulation) for offering or selling
the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the EEA or in the UK has been
prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail
investor in the EEA or in the UK may be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation.

U.S. INFORMATION

NEITHER THE NOTES NOR THE GUARANTEE (IN THE CASE OF GUARANTEED SENIOR
NOTES) HAVE BEEN OR WILL BE REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT, OR WITH
ANY SECURITIES REGULATORY AUTHORITY OF ANY STATE OR OTHER JURISDICTION
OF THE UNITED STATES. THE NOTES MAY NOT BE OFFERED OR SOLD (OR, IN THE CASE
OF BEARER NOTES, DELIVERED) WITHIN THE UNITED STATES OR TO, OR FOR THE
ACCOUNT OR BENEFIT OF, U.S. PERSONS (AS DEFINED IN REGULATION S UNDER THE
SECURITIES ACT), EXCEPT PURSUANT TO AN EXEMPTION FROM, OR IN A
TRANSACTION NOT SUBJECT TO, THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF THE
SECURITIES ACT AND ANY APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS. THE NOTES HAVE
NOT BEEN APPROVED OR DISAPPROVED BY THE UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND
EXCHANGE COMMISSION OR ANY OTHER SECURITIES COMMISSION OR OTHER
REGULATORY AUTHORITY IN THE UNITED STATES, NOR HAVE THE FOREGOING
AUTHORITIES APPROVED THIS OFFERING CIRCULAR OR CONFIRMED THE ACCURACY
OR DETERMINED THE ADEQUACY OF THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS
OFFERING CIRCULAR. ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL
OFFENCE IN THE UNITED STATES.

NONE OF THE DEALERS, THE ISSUERS, THE GUARANTOR OR THE TRUSTEE MAKES ANY
REPRESENTATION TO ANY INVESTOR IN THE NOTES REGARDING THE LEGALITY OF
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ITS INVESTMENT UNDER ANY APPLICABLE LAWS. ANY INVESTOR IN THE NOTES
SHOULD BE ABLE TO BEAR THE ECONOMIC RISK OF AN INVESTMENT IN THE NOTES
FOR AN INDEFINITE PERIOD OF TIME.

This Offering Circular has been prepared by the Issuers and the Guarantor for use in connection with
the offer and sale of the Notes (1) outside the United States to persons that are not U.S. persons
pursuant to Regulation S under the Securities Act and (2) with respect to Registered Notes, to
qualified institutional buyers within the meaning of Rule 144A (QIBs), in reliance upon Rule 144A of
the Securities Act (Rule 144A), or in transactions otherwise exempt from, or not subject to, the
registration requirements under the Securities Act. Each purchaser of Registered Notes that is a U.S.
person (as defined in Regulation S) is hereby notified that the offer and sale of any Registered Notes to
it may be being made in reliance upon the exemption from the provisions of Section 5 of the Securities
Act provided by Rule 144A.

Each purchaser or holder of Notes will be deemed, by its acceptance or purchase of any such Notes, to
have made certain representations and agreements intended to restrict the resale or other transfer of
such Notes as set out in ""Subscription and Sale and Transfer and Selling Restrictions". Unless otherwise
stated, terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them in ""Form of the Notes"'.

The Notes may include Notes in bearer form that are subject to U.S. tax law requirements. Subject to
certain exceptions, the Notes may not be offered or sold or, in the case of Notes in bearer form,
delivered, in the United States or to or for the account or benefit of, United States persons as defined
in the Code and regulations thereunder.

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

To permit compliance with Rule 144A in connection with any resales or other transfers of Notes that
are "'restricted securities' as defined in Rule 144(a)(3) of the Securities Act, each of the Issuers has
undertaken in the Trust Deed to furnish, upon the request of a holder of such Notes or any beneficial
interest therein, to such holder or to a prospective purchaser designated by such holder or beneficial
owner, the information required to be delivered under Rule 144A(d)(4) under the Securities Act if, at
the time of the request, the relevant Issuer is neither a reporting company under Section 13 or 15(d) of
the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act), nor exempt from reporting
pursuant to Rule 12g3-2(b) thereunder.

SERVICE OF PROCESS AND ENFORCEMENT OF CIVIL LIABILITIES

NAB is a corporation organised under the laws of Australia. All of the officers and directors named
herein reside outside the United States and all or a substantial portion of the assets of NAB and of such
officers and directors are located outside the United States. As a result, it may not be possible for
investors to effect service of process outside Australia upon NAB or such persons, or to enforce
judgments against them obtained in courts outside Australia predicated upon civil liabilities of NAB
or such directors and officers under laws other than Australian law, including any judgment
predicated upon United States federal securities laws. There is doubt as to the enforceability in
Australia in original actions or in actions for enforcement of judgments of United States courts of civil
liabilities predicated solely upon the federal securities laws of the United States.

BNZ, BNZ-IF and the Guarantor are corporations organised under the laws of New Zealand. All of
the respective officers and directors of BNZ, BNZ-IF and the Guarantor named herein reside outside
the United States and all or a substantial portion of the assets of each of BNZ, BNZ-IF and the
Guarantor and of their respective officers and directors are located outside the United States. As a
result, it may not be possible for investors to effect service of process outside New Zealand upon BNZ
or BNZ-IF or the Guarantor or upon such persons, or to enforce judgments against them obtained in
courts outside New Zealand predicated upon civil liabilities of BNZ or BNZ-IF or the Guarantor, as
the case may be, or their respective directors and officers under laws other than New Zealand law,
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including any judgment predicated upon United States federal securities laws. Each of BNZ, BNZ-IF
and the Guarantor has been advised by Russell McVeagh, their New Zealand counsel, that there is
doubt as to the enforceability in New Zealand in original actions or in actions for enforcement of
judgments of United States courts of civil liabilities predicated solely upon the federal securities laws
of the United States.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Offering Circular includes "forward-looking statements' within the meaning of Section 27A of
the Securities Act and Section 21E of the Exchange Act. All statements other than statements of
historical facts included in this Offering Circular, including, without limitation, those regarding the
Issuers’ and the Guarantor's financial position, business strategy, plans, targets, intentions and
objectives of management for future operations, are forward-looking statements. Such forward-
looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may
cause the actual results, performance or achievements of the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor, or
industry results, to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements
expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements are based
on numerous assumptions regarding the present and future business strategies of the relevant Issuer
or the Guarantor and the environment in which they will operate in the future. These forward-looking
statements speak only as of the date of this Offering Circular. Each of the Issuers and the Guarantor
expressly disclaims any obligation or undertaking to release publicly any updates or revisions to any
forward-looking statement contained herein to reflect any change in the expectations of the relevant
Issuer or the Guarantor with regard thereto or any change in events, conditions or circumstances on
which any such statement is based.

BENCHMARKS REGULATION

Amounts payable on certain Floating Rate Notes issued under the Programme may be calculated by
reference to LIBOR, EURIBOR, SONIA, SOFR, HIBOR, CDOR, SIBOR, CNH HIBOR, NIBOR,
BBSW or BKBM as specified in the applicable Final Terms and each as defined below or in the Terms
and Conditions of the Notes. As at the date of this Offering Circular, each of ICE Benchmark
Administration Limited (as administrator of LIBOR), European Money Markets Institute (as
administrator of EURIBOR), Refinitiv Benchmark Services (UK) Limited (as administrator of
CDOR), ABS Benchmarks Administration Co Pte Ltd. (as administrator of SIBOR), Norske
Finansielle Referanser AS (as administrator of NIBOR) and ASX Benchmarks Limited (as
administrator of Australian Bank Bill Swap Reference Rate (BBSW)) appears on the register of
administrators and benchmarks established and maintained by the European Securities and Markets
Authority (ESMA) pursuant to Article 36 of the Regulation (EU) No. 2016/1011 (the Benchmarks
Regulation). As at the date of this Offering Circular, the administrators of SONIA, SOFR, CNH
HIBOR, HIBOR, NIBOR and the NZ Bank Bill Benchmark Rate (BKBM) do not appear on ESMA’s
register of administrators and benchmarks under Article 36 of the Benchmarks Regulation. As far as
each Issuer is aware, (i) SONIA and SOFR do not fall within the scope of the Benchmarks Regulation,
and (ii) the transitional provisions in Article 51 of the Benchmarks Regulation apply, such that each of
the Treasury Markets Association (as administrator of CNH HIBOR and HIBOR) and New Zealand
Financial Markets Association (as administrator of BKBM) is not currently required to obtain
authorisation/registration (or, if located outside the European Union (EU), recognition, endorsement
or equivalence).

SECTION 309B NOTIFICATION

In connection with Section 309B of the Securities and Futures Act (Chapter 289) of Singapore (as
modified or amended from time to time, the SFA) and the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets
Products) Regulations 2018 of Singapore (the CMP Regulations 2018), the Issuers have determined,
and hereby notify all relevant persons (as defined in Section 309A(1) of the SFA), unless otherwise
specified before an offer of Notes, that all Notes issued or to be issued under the Programme are
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classified as prescribed capital markets products (as defined in the CMP Regulations 2018) and
Excluded Investment Products (as defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of
Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendations on Investment
Products).

PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL AND OTHER INFORMATION

NAB maintains its financial books and records and prepares its financial statements in Australian
dollars in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 of Australia, accounting
standards and interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board which differ in
certain respects from generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (U.S. GAAP).

In this Offering Circular all references to the ""NAB Group" refer to NAB and its controlled entities.
In addition, references to ""U.S. dollars™ and ""U.S.$" refer to United States dollars, references to
"Australian dollars™ and ""A$" refer to Australian dollars, references to ""New Zealand dollars' and
"NZ$" refer to New Zealand dollars, references to ""£" refer to pounds Sterling, references to "'euro"
and "€" refer to the currency introduced at the start of the third stage of European economic and
monetary union pursuant to the Treaty on the functioning of the European Union, as amended and
references to ""Renminbi** and "CNY" are to the lawful currency of the People’s Republic of China
and all references to the "PRC' and "China" are to the People's Republic of China excluding Hong
Kong, the Macao Special Administrative Region of the People's Republic of China and Taiwan.

0083121-0000440 UKO2: 2001152480.25 9



CONTENTS

Page
OVErVIeW OF the PrOGIaMIME ........oouiiiiiieieesse e ettt b e n e 11
L S U0 0] TSSOSO 19
Documents Incorporated by Reference and Credit RAtINGS ........coovrveiiiiiiiiiiiseee e 75
L0 0] TN NN 0] (=SSR 80
FOIM OF FINAI TEIMIS. ...t bbbt b e bbbttt b e bbbttt 85
Terms and ConditionS OF the NOTES ........cuiiiiiiie bbb ne e 125
LT 0 o 0T =T T LSS 206
DESCIIPLION OF NAB......cei ittt bttt h bt bbbt b e bt e e st b e bt bbb n e 207
DESCHIPLION OF BINZ ..ottt e et et e st e s e e besae e b e s te e st e sbeeteebesbeeneebesaeenbenreans 219
DESCHIPION OF BNZ-IF ...ttt bbb bbbt bbb n e 224
BOOK-ENLrY ClEAraNCe SYSIEMS ......c.eiiiiiiiiitiiiiite ettt ettt ettt ettt b b n e 227
B ;Lo o PRSPPSO 232
United States Employee Retirement INCOME SECUMLY ACL......coiiiiiiiiiecce e 259
Subscription and Sale and Transfer and Selling ReSIIICHIONS ..........cooeiiiiiiiiiii e 261
GENETAl INTOMMALION ...t sttt bbbt e e b e bt et st e et e nnenes 273

In connection with the issue of any Tranche of Notes, any relevant Dealer or Dealers (if any) acting as
the Stabilisation Manager(s) (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilisation Manager(s)) may over-
allot Notes or effect transactions (in each case outside Australia and New Zealand and not on any
market in Australia or New Zealand) with a view to supporting the market price of the Notes at a level
higher than that which might otherwise prevail. However stabilisation may not necessarily occur. Any
stabilisation action may begin on or after the date on which adequate public disclosure of the terms of
the offer of the relevant Tranche of Notes is made and, if begun, may cease at any time, but it must end
no later than the earlier of 30 days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche of Notes and 60 days
after the date of the allotment of the relevant Tranche of Notes. Any stabilisation action or over-
allocation must be conducted by the relevant Stabilisation Manager(s) (or persons acting on behalf of
any Stabilisation Manager(s)) in accordance with all applicable laws and rules.

Neither NAB nor BNZ has authorisation of De Nederlandsche Bank N.V. to pursue the business of a bank in
the Netherlands and is not registered as a "licensed financial enterprise™ pursuant to section 1:107 of the
Netherlands Financial Supervision Act (Wet op het financieel toezicht). NAB has authorisation of the
Australian Prudential Regulation Authority to pursue the business of a credit institution. BNZ is registered as
a bank and prudentially supervised by the Reserve Bank of New Zealand (RBNZ). In addition, NAB's
London Branch is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority (the FCA), is subject to
limited regulation by the Prudential Regulation Authority, and has permission to carry on the regulated
activity of (amongst other things) accepting deposits, and is an authorised person for the purposes of the
Financial Services and Markets Act 2000.
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OVERVIEW OF THE PROGRAMME

The following overview does not purport to be complete and is taken from, and is qualified in its entirety
by, the remainder of this Offering Circular and, in relation to the terms and conditions of any particular
Tranche of Notes, the applicable Final Terms.

This Overview constitutes a general description of the Programme for the purposes of Article 25(1) of
Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) No 2019/980 (the Delegated Regulation).

Words and expressions defined in "Form of the Notes" and "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" shall have
the same meanings in this Overview.

Information relating to the Issuers and the Guarantor

Description of the Issuers and
the Guarantor:

Issuers’ Legal Entity Identifiers
(LEISs):

Business of the Issuers and the
Guarantor:

0083121-0000440 UKO2: 2001152480.25

National Australia Bank Limited: registered in Australia with ABN 12
004 044 937 and having its registered office at Level 1, 800 Bourke
Street, Docklands, Victoria 3008, Australia.

Bank of New Zealand: incorporated as a company under the New Zealand
Companies Act 1993 with company number 428849 and having its
registered office at Level 4, 80 Queen Street, Auckland 1010, New
Zealand.

BNZ International Funding Limited, acting through its London Branch:
incorporated as a company under the New Zealand Companies Act 1993
with company number 1635202 and having its registered office at Level
4, 80 Queen Street, Auckland 1010, New Zealand, acting through its
London Branch at The Scalpel, 52 Lime Street, London EC3M 7AF.

NAB: F8SB4JFBSYQFRQEH3Z21
BNZ: N7LGVZM7X4UQ66T7LT74
BNZ-IF: 549300HVMZ89HDMELWO08

National Australia Bank Limited (ABN 12 004 044 937): NAB was
incorporated on 23 June 1893. The NAB Group is a financial services
organisation with more than 34,000 colleagues, operating through a
network of more than 850 branches, with more than 639,000 shareholders
and serving over nine million customers. The majority of the NAB
Group’s financial services businesses operate in Australia and New
Zealand, with branches located in Asia, the United States and the United
Kingdom.

Bank of New Zealand (in its capacity as an Issuer and the Guarantor):
BNZ is one of New Zealand's oldest banks, founded in 1861. It provides a
broad range of banking and financial products and services to retail,
business, agribusiness, corporate and institutional clients. It has been a
member of the NAB Group since 1992.

BNZ International Funding Limited, acting through its London Branch:

BNZ-IF is a subsidiary of BNZ carrying out offshore wholesale funding
requirements through the issuance of debt securities.

11



Information relating to the Programme

Description: Global Medium Term Note Programme
Arranger: Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch
Dealers: BNP Paribas

Citigroup Global Markets Limited

Credit Suisse Securities (Europe) Limited
Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch
Goldman Sachs International

HSBC Bank plc

J.P. Morgan Securities plc

Merrill Lynch International

Morgan Stanley & Co. International plc
National Australia Bank Limited

RBC Europe Limited

The Toronto-Dominion Bank

UBS AG London Branch

Wells Fargo Securities International Limited
and any other Dealers appointed in accordance with the Programme

Agreement.

Certain Restrictions: Each issue of Notes denominated in a currency in respect of which
particular laws, guidelines, regulations, restrictions or reporting
requirements apply will only be issued in circumstances which comply
with such laws, guidelines, regulations, restrictions or reporting
requirements from time to time (see "Subscription and Sale and Transfer
and Selling Restrictions"), including, in relation to BNZ and BNZ-IF, the
following restrictions applicable at the date of this Offering Circular.

Notes having a maturity of less than one year

Notes issued by BNZ or BNZ-IF having a maturity of less than one year
will constitute deposits for the purposes of the prohibition on accepting
deposits contained in section 19 of the United Kingdom Financial
Services and Markets Act 2000 (FSMA) unless they are issued to a
limited class of professional investors and have a denomination of at least
£100,000 or its equivalent; see "Subscription and Sale and Transfer and
Selling Restrictions™.

Trustee: Deutsche Trustee Company Limited
Principal Paying Agent: Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch
Registrars: Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas

Deutsche Bank Luxembourg S.A.
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CMU Lodging Agent:

Programme Size:

Distribution:

Currencies:

Maturities:

Issue Price:

Form of Notes:

Fixed Rate Notes:

Floating Rate Notes:

Exempt Notes:
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Deutsche Bank AG, Hong Kong Branch

Up to U.S.$100,000,000,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies)
outstanding at any time. The Issuers may increase the amount of the
Programme in accordance with the terms of the Programme Agreement.

Notes may be distributed by way of private or public placement and, in
each case, on a syndicated or non-syndicated basis.

Subject to any applicable legal or regulatory restrictions, any currency
agreed between the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer.

Such maturities as may be agreed between the relevant Issuer and the
relevant Dealer, subject to such minimum or maximum maturities as may
be allowed or required from time to time by the relevant central bank (or
equivalent body) or any laws or regulations applicable to such Issuer or
the relevant Specified Currency.

Notes may be issued on a fully-paid or, in the case of Exempt Notes, a
partly-paid basis and at an issue price which is at par or at a discount to,
or premium over, par.

The Notes will be issued in bearer or registered form as described in
"Form of the Notes". Registered Notes will not be exchangeable for
Bearer Notes and vice versa.

Fixed interest will be payable on such date or dates as may be agreed
between the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer and on redemption
and will be calculated on the basis of such Day Count Fraction as may be
agreed between the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer.

Floating Rate Notes will bear interest at a rate determined:

Q) on the same basis as the floating rate under a notional interest rate
swap transaction in the relevant Specified Currency governed by
an agreement incorporating the 2006 ISDA Definitions (as
published by the International Swaps and Derivatives
Association, Inc., and as amended and updated as at the Issue
Date of the first Tranche of the Notes of the relevant Series); or

(i) on the basis of the reference rate set out in the applicable Final
Terms; or

(iii)  on such other basis as may be agreed between the relevant Issuer
and the relevant Dealer.

The margin (if any) relating to such floating rate will be agreed between
the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer for each Series of Floating
Rate Notes.

Floating Rate Notes may also have a maximum interest rate, a minimum
interest rate or both.

The relevant Issuer may issue Exempt Notes which are Fixed Rate Notes,
Floating Rate Notes, Zero Coupon Notes, Index Linked Notes, Dual

13



Zero Coupon Notes:

Benchmark Discontinuation:

0083121-0000440 UKO2: 2001152480.25

Currency Notes, Partly Paid Notes or Notes redeemable in one or more
instalments.

Index Linked Notes: Payments of principal in respect of Index Linked
Redemption Notes or of interest in respect of Index Linked Interest Notes
will be calculated by reference to such index and/or formula or to changes
in the prices of securities or commaodities or to such other factors as the
relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer may agree.

Dual Currency Notes: Payments (whether in respect of principal or
interest and whether at maturity or otherwise) in respect of Dual Currency
Notes will be made in such currencies, and based on such rates of
exchange, as the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer may agree.

Partly Paid Notes: The relevant Issuer may issue Notes in respect of
which the issue price is paid in separate instalments in such amounts and
on such dates as the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer may agree.

Notes redeemable in instalments: The relevant Issuer may issue Notes
which may be redeemed in separate instalments in such amounts and on
such dates as the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer may agree.

The relevant Issuer and, in the case of Notes issued by BNZ-IF, the
Guarantor may agree with any Dealer that Exempt Notes may be issued in
a form not contemplated by the Terms and Conditions of the Notes, in
which event the relevant provisions will be included in the applicable
Final Terms.

Zero Coupon Notes will be (i) offered and sold at a discount to their
nominal amount or (ii) offered and sold at their nominal amount and
redeemed at a premium to their nominal amount, and in each case will not
bear interest.

In the case of certain Floating Rate Notes, if:

(A) where the Floating Rate Notes reference a benchmark other than
SOFR, the relevant Issuer determines that a Benchmark Event
has occurred, the relevant benchmark or screen rate may be
replaced by a Successor Rate or, if there is no Successor Rate but
the Issuer determines there is an Alternative Rate (acting in good
faith and by reference to such sources as it deems appropriate,
which may include consultation with an Independent Adviser),
such Alternative Rate. An Adjustment Spread may also be
applied to the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case
may be), together with any Benchmark Amendments (which in
the case of any Alternative Rate, any Adjustment Spread unless
formally recommended or provided for and any Benchmark
Amendments shall be determined by the relevant Issuer acting in
good faith and by reference to such sources as it deems
appropriate, which may include consultation with an Independent
Adviser); or

(B) where the Floating Rate Notes reference SOFR as the

benchmark, the relevant Issuer (or its designee) determines that a
Benchmark Transition Event and its related Benchmark
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Redemption:

Repayment:

Denomination of Notes:

Taxation:
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Replacement Date have occurred, the relevant benchmark will be
replaced by the relevant Benchmark Replacement. Benchmark
Replacement Conforming Changes may also be made.

For further information, see Conditions 5.2(b)(iii)(E) and 5.5. In the case
of Subordinated Notes, any Successor Rate, Alternative Rate, Adjustment
Spread, Benchmark Amendment, Benchmark Replacement, Benchmark
Replacement Conforming Changes or Benchmark Replacement
Adjustment (as applicable) will be subject to APRA’s prior written
approval, which may not be given for any Successor Rate, Alternative
Rate, Adjustment Spread, Benchmark Amendment, Benchmark
Replacement, Benchmark Replacement Conforming Change or
Benchmark Replacement Adjustment (as the case may be) that APRA
considers may have the effect of increasing the Rate of Interest contrary
to applicable prudential standards.

The applicable Final Terms will indicate either that the relevant Notes
cannot be redeemed prior to their stated maturity date (other than, in the
case of Exempt Notes, in specified instalments, if applicable or for certain
taxation reasons or following an Event of Default) or that such Notes will
be redeemable at the option of the relevant Issuer upon giving notice to
the Noteholders, as specified in the applicable Final Terms, on a date or
dates specified prior to such stated maturity and at a price or prices and on
such other terms as may be agreed between the relevant Issuer and the
relevant Dealer.

Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled, each Note,
which is not a Zero Coupon Note or an Exempt Note, will be redeemed at
an amount equal to at least 100 per cent. of its nominal value on its
scheduled maturity date.

In relation to BNZ and BNZ-IF, Notes having a maturity of less than one
year may be subject to restrictions on their denomination and distribution;
see "Certain Restrictions—Notes having a maturity of less than one year"
above.

Notes will be issued in such denominations as may be agreed between the
relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer save that the minimum
denomination of each Note (other than an Exempt Note) that will be
admitted to trading on a European Economic Area exchange or offered to
the public in a Member State of the European Economic Area in
circumstances which require the publication of a prospectus under the
Prospectus Regulation will be €100,000, or where it is a Note to be
admitted to trading only on a regulated market, or a specific segment of a
regulated market, to which only qualified investors (as defined in the
Prospectus Regulation) have access, €1,000 (or, if the Notes are
denominated in a currency other than euro, the equivalent amounts in
such currency at the date of issue) or such other higher amount as may be
allowed or required from time to time by the relevant central bank (or
equivalent body) or any laws or regulations applicable to the relevant
Specified Currency; see "Certain Restrictions—Notes having a maturity
of less than one year" above.

All payments in respect of the Notes will be made without deduction for
or on account of withholding taxes unless required by law, to the extent
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Rating:
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provided in Condition 8. In the event that any such deduction is made, the
relevant Issuer or, as the case may be, the Guarantor (in the case of
Guaranteed Senior Notes) will, save in certain limited circumstances
provided in Conditions 6 and 8, be required to pay additional amounts to
cover the amounts so deducted.

The terms of the Notes will not contain a negative pledge.
The terms of the Notes will not contain cross default provisions.

A holder of a Subordinated Note (or any related Receipt or Coupon)
issued by NAB shall not, on any account, set-off against any amounts
owing to it in respect of such Subordinated Note, Receipt or Coupon
amounts owing by the holder thereof to NAB and NAB shall not have any
right to set-off any amounts owing by it to a holder against any amount
owing by the holder to it.

The Senior Notes and Guaranteed Senior Notes will be unsubordinated,
direct and unsecured obligations of the relevant Issuer and will rank pari
passu with all other unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the
relevant Issuer (save for certain obligations preferred by mandatory
provisions of applicable law). Senior Notes issued by NAB do not
constitute deposit liabilities of NAB, are not protected accounts for the
purposes of the Banking Act and are not guaranteed or insured by any
government, government agency or compensation scheme of the
Commonwealth of Australia or any other jurisdiction or by any other

party.

The Subordinated Notes will be direct and unsecured obligations of NAB
and will be subordinated to the claims of all Senior Creditors of NAB in
right of payment with respect to the assets of NAB in the event of a
Winding Up of NAB as defined and further described in Condition 3.2
and are liable to be mandatorily Converted into Ordinary Shares or
Written-Off where this is determined by APRA to be necessary on the
grounds that NAB would otherwise become non-viable as further
described in Condition 10A. Subordinated Notes do not constitute deposit
liabilities of NAB, are not protected accounts for the purposes of the
Banking Act and are not guaranteed or insured by any government,
government agency or compensation scheme of the Commonwealth of
Australia or any other jurisdiction or by any other party.

Only Notes issued by BNZ-IF will be unconditionally and irrevocably
guaranteed by the Guarantor. The obligations of BNZ-IF and the
Guarantor under the Guaranteed Senior Notes will constitute
unsubordinated, direct and unsecured obligations of BNZ-IF and the
Guarantor and will rank pari passu with all other unsecured and
unsubordinated obligations of BNZ-IF and the Guarantor (save for certain
obligations required to be preferred by law).

See pages 78 to 79 of this Offering Circular for further information on
ratings.

A rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold any Notes and may

be subject to revision, suspension or withdrawal at any time by the
relevant rating agency.
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Delivery:

Risk Factors:
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Any credit rating in respect of any Notes or any Issuer is for distribution
only to persons who are not a "retail client” within the meaning of section
761G of the Corporations Act and are also sophisticated investors,
professional investors or other investors in respect of whom disclosure is
not required under Part 6D.2 of the Corporations Act and, in all cases, in
such circumstances as may be permitted by applicable law in any
jurisdiction in which an investor may be located. Anyone who is not such
a person is not entitled to receive the Offering Circular and anyone who
receives the Offering Circular must not distribute it to any person who is
not entitled to receive it.

Application has been made to:

(i the Competent Authority to approve this Offering Circular in
connection with the issue by the Issuers of PR Notes (as defined
above) to be admitted to the official list and traded on the
Regulated Market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and on the
Professional Segment of the Regulated Market of the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange in accordance with the Prospectus
Regulation; and

(i) the Luxembourg Stock Exchange to approve this Offering
Circular in connection with the issue by the Issuers of certain
Tranches of Exempt Notes (as defined above) to be admitted to
trading on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange's Euro MTF market
(the Euro MTF Market) and on the Professional Segment of the
Euro MTF Market.

The Notes may be listed or admitted to trading, as the case may be, on
such other or additional stock exchanges or markets as may be agreed
between the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor (in the case of Guaranteed
Senior Notes) and the relevant Dealer.

The applicable Final Terms will state whether or not the relevant Notes
are to be listed and, if so, on which stock exchange(s).

The Notes may be settled on a delivery against payment basis or a
delivery free of payment basis, as specified in the applicable Final Terms.

There are certain factors that may affect the relevant Issuer's ability to
fulfil its obligations under Notes issued under the Programme or the
Guarantor's ability to fulfil its obligations under the Guarantee. These
factors are set out under "Risk Factors" and include, inter alia, the risk of
subsequent changes in the actual or perceived creditworthiness of the
relevant Issuer or the Guarantor (as applicable), which may adversely
affect the market value of the Notes. In addition, there are certain factors
which are material for the purpose of assessing the market risks
associated with Notes issued under the Programme, which include, inter
alia, risks related to the structure of particular types of Notes,
modifications and waivers of the terms and conditions of the Notes in
certain circumstances without the consent of all of the Noteholders,
changes in laws, taxation laws or regulations which affect the Notes, risks
related to secondary market trading of the Notes, exchange rate risks and

17



Governing Law:

Selling Restrictions:

United States Selling
Restrictions:
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interest rate risks. For further particulars, please see "Risk Factors".

The Notes and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in
connection with them will be governed by, and construed in accordance
with, English law save that in the case of Notes issued by NAB,
Conditions 3.2, 10A and the conversion mechanisms set out in the
Schedule to the Conditions will be governed by and construed in
accordance with the laws of the State of Victoria and the Commonwealth
of Australia.

There are restrictions on the offer, sale and transfer of the Notes in the
United States, the European Economic Area (including Austria, France,
Republic of Italy and Belgium and, for these purposes, the United
Kingdom), New Zealand, Hong Kong, Japan, Singapore, Switzerland,
Canada, China, the Republic of Korea and Australia and such other
restrictions as may be required in connection with the offering and sale of
a particular Tranche of Notes; see "Subscription and Sale and Transfer
and Selling Restrictions".

Regulation S Compliance Category 1/2/3, Rule 144A, TEFRA C or

TEFRA D or TEFRA not applicable, as specified in the applicable Final
Terms.
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RISK FACTORS

Each of the Issuers and the Guarantor believes that the following factors may affect its ability to fulfil its
obligations under Notes issued under the Programme. All of these factors are contingencies which may or
may not occur and none of the Issuers nor the Guarantor is in a position to express a view on the likelihood
of any such contingency occurring.

In addition, factors which are material for the purpose of assessing the market risks associated with Notes
issued under the Programme are also described below. Prospective investors should also read the detailed
information set out elsewhere in this Offering Circular and in the documents incorporated by reference and
reach their own views prior to making any investment decision.

Each of the Issuers and the Guarantor believes that the factors described below represent the principal risks
inherent in investing in Notes issued under the Programme, but the inability of any of the Issuers or the
Guarantor to pay interest, principal or other amounts on or in connection with any Notes may occur for
other reasons which may not be considered significant risks by the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor based
on information currently available to them or which they may not currently be able to anticipate.

Investors should be aware that the materialisation of any of the below risks may adversely affect the value
of any securities.

References in the following risk factors to “BNZ” are to BNZ in its capacity as an Issuer and as the
Guarantor.

FACTORS THAT MAY AFFECT THE RELEVANT ISSUER'S ABILITY TO FULFIL ITS
OBLIGATIONS UNDER NOTES ISSUED UNDER THE PROGRAMME AND THE
GUARANTOR'S ABILITY TO FULFIL ITS OBLIGATIONS UNDER THE GUARANTEE

NAB - Risks specific to the NAB Group

Set out below are the principal risks and uncertainties associated with the NAB Group. It is not possible to
determine the likelihood of these risks occurring with any certainty. However, the risk in each sub-category
that NAB considers most material is listed first, based on the information available at the date of this
Offering Circular and NAB’s best assessment of the likelihood of each risk occurring and the potential
magnitude of the negative impact to the NAB Group should such risk materialise. In the event that one or
more of these risks materialise, the NAB Group’s reputation, strategy, business, operations, financial
condition and future performance could be materially and adversely impacted.

The NAB Group’s risk management framework and internal controls may not be adequate or effective in
accurately identifying, evaluating or addressing risks faced by the NAB Group. There may be other risks that
are currently unknown or are deemed immaterial, but which may subsequently become known or material.
These may individually, or in aggregate, adversely impact the NAB Group. Accordingly, no assurances or
guarantees of future performance, profitability, distributions or returns of capital are given by the NAB
Group.

Strategic Risk

Strategic risk is the risk associated with the pursuit of the NAB Group’s strategic objectives, including the
risk that the NAB Group fails to execute its chosen strategy effectively or in a timely manner.
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Strategic initiatives may fail to be executed, may not deliver all anticipated benefits and may change the
NAB Group’s risk profile

The NAB Group’s corporate strategy sets its purpose, ambition and objectives. The NAB Group prioritises,
and invests significant resources in, the execution of initiatives that are aligned to its chosen strategy,
including transformation and change programmes. These programmes focus on technology, digital and data
assets, infrastructure, business improvement and cultural transformation. There is a risk that these
programmes may not realise some or all of their anticipated benefits. These programmes may also increase
operational, compliance and other risks, and new or existing risks may not be appropriately controlled. Any
failure by the NAB Group to deliver in accordance with its strategy or to deliver these strategic programmes
effectively, may result in material losses to the NAB Group, or a failure to achieve anticipated benefits, and
ultimately, may materially and adversely impact the NAB Group’s operations and financial performance and
position.

The NAB Group faces intense competition

There is substantial competition across the markets in which the NAB Group operates. The NAB Group
faces competition from established financial services providers as well as new market entrants, including
foreign banks and non-bank competitors with lower costs and new operating and business models. In
addition, evolving industry trends, rapid technology changes and environmental factors (such as COVID-19)
may impact customer needs and preferences and the NAB Group may not predict these changes accurately or
quickly enough, or have the resources and flexibility to adapt in sufficient time to meet customer
expectations and keep pace with competitors. This risk is heightened in the current context where the NAB
Group must prioritise responses to new regulation, identified weaknesses and initiatives to support customers
through the COVID-19 pandemic.

The Australian Federal Government (the Australian Government) passed legislation in August 2019 to
establish a ‘Consumer Data Right’ which seeks to improve consumers’ ability to compare and switch
between products and services. The Consumer Data Right is being introduced in the banking sector in
phases. It began to apply to credit and debit cards, deposit accounts and transaction accounts on 1 July 2020.
It will expand to a wider range of products, including mortgages and personal loan data, from 1 November
2020. These reforms (referred to as Open Banking) are expected to reduce the barriers to new entrants into,
and increase competition in, the banking industry in Australia. Progress is also being made towards Open
Banking in NZ, which, similarly, is expected to increase competition in the NZ banking industry.

Ongoing competition for customers can lead to compression in profit margins and loss of market share,
which may ultimately impact the NAB Group’s financial performance and position, profitability and returns
to investors.

The NAB Group’s sale of its advice, platforms, superannuation & investments and asset management
businesses is conditional and there are risks in executing the sale

As announced on 31 August 2020, the NAB Group has agreed to sell its advice, platforms, superannuation &
investments and asset management businesses to IOOF Holdings Ltd (IOOF) (the MLC Wealth
Transaction). Completion of the MLC Wealth Transaction is subject to a number of conditions, including
regulatory approvals and availability of IOOF funding. If these conditions are not met, the transaction may
not complete and the business will remain with the NAB Group. Timing of completion will depend on a
number of factors, including receipt of regulatory approvals and execution of business separation activities.

The NAB Group will incur costs associated with completing the MLC Wealth Transaction. If the MLC
Wealth Transaction does not complete for any reason, including a failure to satisfy conditions, the NAB
Group will still incur costs that it is unable to recover and such failure may adversely affect the NAB
Group’s reputation, operations and financial results.
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NAB has provided IOOF with indemnities relating to certain pre-completion matters, including a
remediation programme relating to workplace superannuation, breaches of anti-money laundering laws and
regulations, regulatory fines and penalties and certain litigation and regulatory investigations. NAB also
provided covenants and warranties in favour of IOOF. A breach or triggering of these contractual protections
may result in NAB being liable to IOOF.

NAB will retain the companies that operate the advice business, such that the NAB Group will retain all
liabilities associated with the conduct of that business pre-completion. The advice business is proposed to be
transferred by way of an asset sale, with aligned advisers being offered to transfer to IOOF from completion.
There is a risk that not all advisers will transfer to IOOF, and NAB will be liable for the costs of exiting any
non-transferring advisers.

From completion, NAB has agreed to provide IOOF with certain transitional services and continuing access
to records, as well as support for data migration activities. There is a risk that costs associated with
separation activities and the costs incurred by NAB in satisfying its obligations under these agreements may
be higher than anticipated. NAB may also be liable to IOOF if it fails to perform its obligations under these
agreements. If these costs are higher than expected, or if NAB fails to perform its obligations in accordance
with the relevant agreements, there may be an adverse impact on the NAB Group’s financial performance
and position.

On completion, the MLC Wealth Transaction will result in the NAB Group exiting a financial services
market and accordingly will decrease the size of the NAB Group’s operations. This will have a
consequential impact on the NAB Group’s revenues and potentially its profitability and returns to investors.

The agreed purchase price that IOOF has agreed to pay comprises A$1,240 million in cash proceeds and
A3$200 million in the form of a five-year structured subordinated note. Under the terms of the note, the NAB
Group’s ability to collect the A$200 million due thereunder will be subject to credit risks associated with
IOOF, the issuer of the note, and the related subordination terms of the note and there is no guarantee that the
NAB Group receives the consideration due thereunder.

In addition, the MLC Wealth Transaction, and the execution of its separation, may create risks and
uncertainty for the NAB Group and its customers, aligned advisers, employees, suppliers and other
counterparties.

Risks may arise from pursuing acquisitions and divestments

The NAB Group regularly considers a range of corporate opportunities, including acquisitions, divestments,
joint ventures and investments.

Pursuit of corporate opportunities inherently involves transaction risks, including the risk that the NAB
Group over-values an acquisition or investment or under-values a divestment, as well as exposure to
reputational damage. The NAB Group may encounter difficulties in integrating or separating businesses,
including failure to realise expected synergies, disruption to operations, diversion of management resources
or higher than expected costs. These risks and difficulties may ultimately have an adverse impact on the
NAB Group’s financial performance and position.

The NAB Group may incur unexpected financial losses following an acquisition, joint venture or investment
if the business it invests in does not perform as planned or causes unanticipated changes to the NAB Group’s
risk profile. Additionally, there can be no assurance that customers, employees, suppliers, counterparties and
other relevant stakeholders will remain with an acquired business following the transaction and any failure to
retain such stakeholders may have an adverse impact on the NAB Group’s overall financial performance and
position.

The NAB Group may also have ongoing exposures to divested businesses, including through a residual
shareholding, the provision of continued services and infrastructure or an agreement to retain certain
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liabilities of the divested businesses through warranties and indemnities, which may have an adverse impact
on the NAB Group’s business and financial performance and position.

In particular, specific risks exist in connection with the sale of 80 per cent. of MLC Limited (NAB’s life
insurance business (separate to the MLC Wealth Transaction described above)) to Nippon Life Insurance
Company (Nippon Life) in 2016. NAB gave certain covenants, warranties and indemnities in favour of
Nippon Life and MLC Limited, a breach or triggering of which may result in NAB being liable to Nippon
Life or MLC Limited.

The parties also entered into long-term agreements for the offer and promotion of life insurance products and
the continued use of the MLC brand by MLC Limited. The duration and nature of these agreements give rise
to certain risks, including that changes in the regulatory or commercial environment impact the commercial
attractiveness of these agreements. These agreements also limit future opportunities for NAB through non-
compete arrangements.

NAB agreed to take certain actions to establish MLC Limited as a standalone entity, including the provision
of transitional services, as well as support for data migration activities and the development of technology
systems. As this work is yet to be completed, there is a risk that implementation costs may ultimately prove
higher than anticipated. NAB may also be liable to MLC Limited or Nippon Life if it fails to perform its
obligations in accordance with the agreements relating to these matters. If implementation costs are higher
than expected, or if NAB fails to perform its obligations in accordance with the relevant agreements, there
may be an adverse impact on the NAB Group’s financial performance and position.

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that a customer will fail to meet its obligations to the NAB Group in accordance with
agreed terms. Credit risk arises from both the NAB Group’s lending activities and markets and trading
activities.

The economic impact of COVID-19 is extremely uncertain, but it has increased credit risk across the NAB
Group’s portfolio

COVID-19 has created economic and financial disruptions that have adversely affected, and will continue to
adversely affect, the NAB Group’s business, financial condition, liquidity and results of operations. The
extent of these continuing negative effects will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain
and cannot be predicted. Increased credit risk can result in both an increase in losses when customers default
on their loan obligations and higher capital requirements through an increase in the probability of default.

The global economy is predicted to contract in 2020, due in large part to measures implemented to address
COVID-19. Various regions in several countries have been forced to reintroduce measures to control fresh
outbreaks, highlighting the high degree of uncertainty to the outlook. The functioning of financial markets in
many countries has also been impaired by increased volatility and negative investor sentiment, adding to the
risk of a larger and longer economic downturn. This may create credit risk for the NAB Group, both in the
short and long-term.

In Australia and globally, measures to control the spread of COVID-19, including restrictions on public
gatherings, business closures and travel and trade restrictions have had, and may continue to have, a
substantial negative impact on economic and business activity due to a range of factors including reduced
trade flows and lower commodity prices. Certain sectors, including discretionary retail, hospitality,
commercial property and air travel, have experienced, or are expected to experience, significant financial
stress. This includes a heightened risk of corporate and business bankruptcies, a rise in unemployment and an
increase in household financial stress. This combination of factors has introduced additional credit risk for
the NAB Group.
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There is a continuing risk that the economic consequences of COVID-19, including supply disruptions
caused by global and domestic containment efforts, may become more severe and far-reaching across the
economy, leading to a more widespread downturn in business and economic activity. This would likely
result in a significant loss of revenue for many businesses across a wide range of industry sectors, in turn
potentially leading to further increased unemployment and customer defaults. The NAB Group’s commercial
property, air travel, discretionary retail, tourism and hospitality portfolios would be significantly impacted in
such a scenario, as would the NAB Group’s exposure to households, given the potential for higher
unemployment to coincide with lower house prices.

Some of the NAB Group’s assets and liabilities comprise financial instruments that are carried at fair value,
with changes in fair value recognised in the NAB Group’s income statement. Recent market declines and
increased volatility could negatively impact the value of such financial instruments and cause the NAB
Group to incur losses.

Globally, governments (including Australia and NZ) have introduced fiscal stimulus packages to counter the
negative impacts of the current economic downturn. The unwinding of these stimulatory policies presents
downside risk to economies in the near-term, with the potential to exacerbate existing negative effects on
businesses and households. In the longer term, governments may take measures to address the additional
debt burden generated by these policies. The extent to which these packages mitigate and/or defer the
economic impact, including any credit losses the NAB Group may incur, is uncertain.

In response to COVID-19, the NAB Group has established a range of accommodations and measures
designed to support its personal and business customers. The decision by the NAB Group to provide
customers impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic the option of suspending or deferring certain loan
repayments may lead to an increase in the level of credit risk related losses. These accommodations and
measures, while supporting the NAB Group’s customers, may result in the NAB Group assuming a greater
level of risk than it would have under ordinary circumstances. This in turn may have a negative impact on
the NAB Group’s business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects and may negatively
impact the NAB Group’s net interest margin. As these accommodations and measures are scaled back or
potentially removed, there may be a further increase in the credit risks facing the NAB Group, as well as a
negative impact on customer sentiment towards the NAB Group and the banking sector generally. In the
longer term, asset values may start to deteriorate if a large proportion of retail and business customers
liquidate their investments, either during, or immediately after, the crisis or due to a decrease in demand for
these assets. In both scenarios loan-to-value ratios are expected to be impacted.

The duration and magnitude of the COVID-19 pandemic and its potential impacts on the economy remain
unclear. Even after the pandemic subsides, the Australian economy, as well as most other major economies,
may continue to experience a recession and unemployment may rise further. A prolonged recession in
Australia and other major regions has the potential to negatively impact debt servicing levels, increase
customer defaults and materially adversely impact the NAB Group’s financial performance and position, and
its profitability.

A decline in property market valuations may give rise to higher losses on defaulting loans

Lending activities account for most of the NAB Group’s credit risk. The NAB Group’s lending portfolio is
largely based in Australia and NZ. Residential housing loans and commercial real estate loans constitute a
material component of the NAB Group’s total gross loans and acceptances. The social and economic impacts
of the spread of COVID-19 and the measures in place to control it, have the potential to drive a material
decline in residential property prices due to, among other things, increased unemployment in Australia and
NZ. The full negative impact of the COVID-19 pandemic may be delayed, in part, by governmental support
measures and other actions that the NAB Group and other financial institutions have taken, for example,
permitting loan payment deferrals in certain cases.

In addition, there are a number of other potential factors in the medium term that may drive reductions in
residential property prices. These factors include regulatory changes which may impact the availability of
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credit, reduced immigration and overseas investment, changes to taxation policy and rising unemployment. If
these factors materialise, the declining value of the residential property used as collateral (including in
business lending) may give rise to greater losses to the NAB Group resulting from customer defaults, which,
in turn, may impact the NAB Group’s financial performance and position, profitability and returns to
investors. The most significant impact is likely to be experienced by residential mortgage customers in high
loan-to-value-ratio brackets. This risk could be further compounded by a more severe downturn.

Adverse business conditions in Australia and NZ, particularly in the agriculture sector, may give rise to
increasing customer defaults

The NAB Group has a large market share among lenders to the Australian and NZ agricultural sectors,
particularly the dairy sector in NZ. Volatility in commodity prices, milk prices, foreign exchange rate
movements, disease and introduction of pathogens and pests, export and quarantine restrictions and supply
chain constraints, extreme weather events, increasing weather volatility and longer-term changes in climatic
conditions arising from climate change, may negatively impact these sectors. This may result in increased
losses to the NAB Group from customer defaults, and ultimately may have an adverse impact on the NAB
Group’s financial performance and position.

Climate change and extreme climate patterns may lead to increasing customer defaults and may decrease
the value of collateral

Credit risk may arise as a result of climate change, including from:

o Extreme weather, increasing weather volatility and longer-term changes in climatic conditions
affecting property and asset values or causing customer losses due to damage, existing land use
ceasing to be viable, and/or interruptions to business operations and supply chains.

° The effect of new laws, regulations and government policies designed to mitigate climate change.

° The impact on certain customer segments as the economy transitions to renewable and low-
emissions technology.

This may lead to increased levels of customer default in affected business sectors. The impact of this on the
NAB Group may be exacerbated by a decline in the value and liquidity of assets held by the NAB Group as
collateral in these sectors, which may impact the NAB Group’s ability to recover its funds when loans
default.

For example, parts of Australia are prone to, and have recently experienced, physical climate events such as
severe drought conditions and bushfires, notably over summer 2019/2020. The impact of these can be
widespread, extending beyond primary producers to customers who are suppliers to the agricultural sector,
and to those who reside in, and operate businesses within, impacted communities. Extreme weather events
and long-term changes in climate across Australia may have similar impacts on other business sectors.
Decreasing investor appetite and customer demand for carbon intensive products and services may give rise
to transition risks and negatively impact revenue and access to capital for some businesses. These physical
and transition risk impacts may increase current levels of customer defaults, thereby increasing the credit risk
facing the NAB Group and adversely impacting the NAB Group’s financial performance and position,
profitability and returns to investors.

The NAB Group’s losses may differ materially from its provisions which may impact its financial
performance and position

The NAB Group provides for expected losses from loans, advances and other assets. Estimating losses in the
loan portfolio is, by its very nature, uncertain. The accuracy of these estimates depends on many factors,
including general economic conditions, forecasts and assumptions, and involves complex modelling and
judgements. If the assumptions upon which these assessments are made prove to be inaccurate, the
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provisions for credit impairment may need to be revised. This may adversely impact the NAB Group’s
financial performance and position.

The NAB Group may be adversely impacted by macro-economic and geopolitical risks and financial market
conditions which pose a credit risk

The majority of the NAB Group's businesses operate in Australia and NZ, with branches currently located in
Asia, the UK and the United States. Levels of borrowing are heavily dependent on customer confidence,
employment trends, market interest rates, and other economic and financial market conditions and forecasts
most relevant for the NAB Group in Australia and NZ, but also in the global locations in which the NAB
Group operates.

Domestic and international economic conditions and forecasts are influenced by a number of macro-
economic factors, such as: economic growth rates; cost and availability of capital; central bank intervention;
inflation and deflation rates; level of interest rates; yield curves; market volatility; and uncertainty.

Deterioration in any of these factors may lead to the following negative impacts on the NAB Group:

° Increased cost of funding or lack of available funding.

° Deterioration in the value and liquidity of assets (including collateral).

o Inability to price certain assets.

° An increase in customer or counterparty default and credit losses.

° Higher provisions for credit impairment.

. Mark-to-market losses in equity and trading positions, including NAB’s high-quality liquid asset
portfolios.

. Lack of available or suitable derivative instruments for hedging purposes.

° Lower growth in business revenues and earnings.

. Increased cost of insurance, lack of available or suitable insurance, or failure of the insurance

underwriter.

Economic conditions may also be negatively impacted by climate change and major shock events, such as
natural disasters, epidemics and pandemics (such as the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic), war and terrorism,
political and social unrest, and sovereign debt restructuring and defaults.

The following macro-economic and financial market conditions are currently of most relevance to the credit
risk facing the NAB Group, and may give rise to slower revenue growth and/or increasing customer defaults:

. Central banks, including the Reserve Bank of Australia (RBA) and the RBNZ, eased monetary
policy and provided liquidity to markets in response to COVID-19 related economic downturn, with
advanced economies essentially exhausting their conventional policy measures (with the RBA
cutting the cash rate to 0.1 per cent. in November 2020). Any further policy easing may involve
additional asset purchases (quantitative easing) or other unconventional policy tools that may
adversely affect the NAB Group’s cost of funds, the value of the NAB Group’s lending and
investments, and margins. Policy easing would be expected to reduce short-term downside risks to
growth, but has the potential to build on existing imbalances in various asset classes and regions.
Policy easing may also reduce the impetus for highly geared borrowers to deleverage thereby
increasing the credit risk posed to the NAB Group by these highly geared customers.
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. As a key trading partner, China’s economic growth is important to Australia and NZ, with export
income and business investment exposed to any sharp slowdown in the rapid pace of Chinese
economic growth. Following the negative economic impact of COVID-19 countermeasures in the
first quarter of 2020, China’s economy is expected to record its weakest growth in 2020 since 1976.
China’s high and growing debt burden presents a risk to its medium-term growth prospects. Political
tensions between the Australian and Chinese governments have increased in recent years. Due to its
export mix, Australia’s economy is exposed to any sudden downturn in China’s domestic investment
in business, infrastructure or housing, as well as changes to trade policy (as exhibited by recent trade
restrictions on a range of commodities including coal, barley, beef and wine). This may have a
negative impact on the NAB Group’s customers Who are exposed to these sectors and may give rise
to increasing levels of customer defaults.

° Phase One of the ‘Economic and Trade Agreement between the United States of America and the
People’s Republic of China’ (Phase One Agreement) was signed in January 2020. Despite this, the
bulk of the tariffs imposed by both countries remain in place and continuing trade and other tensions
remain which present additional uncertainty and pose risks to global economic growth. Although
China is the primary target of the United States trade measures, value chain linkages mean that other
emerging markets, primarily in Asia, may also be impacted. A number of East Asian economies are
major trading partners of Australia and NZ, and accordingly a negative impact on their economies
may increase the credit risk facing the NAB Group.

. Geopolitical risks continue to present uncertainty to the global economic outlook, with negative
impacts on consumption and business investment. An increasing fragmentation of, and a rise in
populism in, many major democratic economies have led to difficulties in policy implementation and
an increase in anti-globalisation sentiment. Protests in Hong Kong during 2019 and 2020 highlight
increased global political tensions with the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region and China.
As the UK and the EU have yet to agree on the terms of their relationship post the current transition
period, the prospect of an economically damaging ‘hard’ Brexit remains a risk. In addition, there are
a range of other geopolitical risks, particularly given the ongoing uncertainty around the Middle
East, the Korean Peninsula and the South China Sea.

o As commodity exporting economies, Australia and NZ are exposed to shifts in global commodity
prices that can be sudden, sizeable and difficult to predict. Fluctuations in commodity markets can
affect key economic variables like national income tax receipts and exchange rates. Previous sharp
declines in commodity prices in Australia and NZ were driven by sub-trend global growth
constraining demand, combined with increases in commodity supply. Commodity price volatility
remains substantial and given the NAB Group’s sizeable exposures to commodity producing and
trading businesses, this volatility poses a significant source of credit risk to the NAB Group.

Market Risk

The NAB Group may suffer losses as a result of a change in the value of the NAB Group’s positions in
financial instruments or their hedges due to adverse movements in market prices. Adverse price movements
impacting the NAB Group may occur in credit spreads, interest rates, foreign exchange rates, and commaodity
and equity prices, in particular during periods of heightened market volatility or reduced liquidity. Since
March 2020, global financial markets have become more volatile due to the impact of COVID-19. The full
economic impact of COVID-19 remains uncertain.

The NAB Group is exposed to market risk

Credit spread risk is the risk of the NAB Group’s trading book being exposed to movements in the value of
securities and derivatives as a result of changes in the perceived credit quality of the underlying company or
issuer. Credit spread risk accumulates in the NAB Group’s trading book when it provides risk transfer
services to customers seeking to buy or sell fixed income securities (such as corporate bonds). The NAB
Group may also be exposed to credit spread risk when holding an inventory of fixed income securities in
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anticipation of customer demand or undertaking market-making activity (i.e. quoting buy and sell prices to
customers) in fixed income securities. The NAB Group’s trading book is also exposed to credit spread risk
through credit valuation adjustments. A widening of credit spreads could negatively impact the value of the
credit valuation adjustment.

Interest rate risk is the risk to the NAB Group’s financial performance and capital position caused by
changes in interest rates. The NAB Group’s trading book is exposed to changes in the value of securities and
derivatives as a result of changes in interest rates. The NAB Group’s trading book accumulates interest rate
risk when the NAB Group provides interest rate hedging solutions for customers, holds interest rate risk in
anticipation of customer requirements or undertakes market-making activity in fixed income securities or
interest rate derivatives.

The occurrence of any event giving rise to a material trading loss may have a negative impact on the NAB
Group’s financial performance and financial position.

Balance sheet and off-balance sheet items can create an interest rate risk exposure within the NAB Group.
As interest rates and yield curves change over time, including negative interest rates in certain countries in
which the NAB Group operates, the NAB Group may be exposed to a loss in earnings and economic value
due to the interest rate profile of its balance sheet. Such exposure may arise from a mismatch between the
maturity profile of the NAB Group’s lending portfolio compared to its deposit portfolio (and other funding
sources), as well as the extent to which lending and deposit products can be repriced as interest rates
approach zero or become negative, thereby impacting the NAB Group’s net interest margin.

Foreign exchange and translation risk arise from the impact of currency movements on the value of the NAB
Group’s cash flows, profits and losses, and assets and liabilities due to participation in global financial
markets and international operations. The NAB Group’s ownership structure includes investment in overseas
subsidiaries and associates which gives rise to foreign currency exposures, including through the repatriation
of capital and dividends. The NAB Group’s businesses may therefore be affected by a change in currency
exchange rates, and movements in the mark-to-market valuation of derivatives and hedging contracts.

The NAB Group’s financial statements are prepared and presented in Australian dollars, and any adverse
fluctuations in the Australian dollar against other currencies in which the NAB Group invests or transacts
and generates profits (or incurs losses) may adversely impact its financial performance and position.

Funding, Liquidity and Capital Risk
The NAB Group is exposed to funding and liquidity risk

Funding risk is the risk that the NAB Group is unable to raise short and long-term funding to support its
ongoing operations, strategic plans and objectives. The NAB Group accesses domestic and global capital
markets to help fund its business, in addition to using customer deposits. Dislocation in capital markets,
reduced investor interest in the NAB Group’s securities and/or reduced customer deposits, may adversely
affect the NAB Group’s funding and liquidity position, increase the cost of obtaining funds or impose
unfavourable terms on the NAB Group’s access to funds, constrain the volume of new lending, or adversely
affect the NAB Group’s capital position.

Liquidity risk is the risk that the NAB Group is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.
These obligations include the repayment of deposits on demand or at their contractual maturity, the
repayment of wholesale borrowings and loan capital as they mature, the payment of interest on borrowings
and the payment of operational expenses and taxes. The NAB Group must also comply with prudential and
regulatory liquidity obligations across the jurisdictions in which it operates. Any significant deterioration in
the NAB Group’s liquidity position may lead to an increase in the NAB Group’s funding costs, constrain the
volume of new lending, result in the NAB Group drawing upon its committed liquidity facility with the RBA
or cause the NAB Group to breach its prudential or regulatory liquidity obligations. This may adversely
impact the NAB Group’s reputation and financial performance and position.
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The NAB Group’s capital position may be constrained by prudential requirements

Capital risk is the risk that the NAB Group does not hold sufficient capital and reserves to cover exposures
and to protect against unexpected losses. Capital is the cornerstone of the NAB Group’s financial strength. It
supports an authorised deposit-taking institution's (ADI's) operations by providing a buffer to absorb
unanticipated losses from its activities.

The NAB Group must comply with prudential requirements in relation to capital across the jurisdictions in
which it operates. Compliance with these requirements and any further changes to these requirements may:

. Limit the NAB Group’s ability to manage capital across the entities within the NAB Group.

o Limit payment of dividends or distributions on shares and hybrid instruments.

. Require the NAB Group to raise more capital (in an absolute sense) or raise more capital of higher
quality.

° Restrict balance sheet growth.

In response to the impacts of COVID-19, the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority (APRA) has
outlined its expectations for ADIs in relation to the payment of dividends during this period of disruption. In
its July 2020 guidance, APRA advised banks to maintain caution in planning capital distributions.
Specifically, APRA expects that ADIs will retain at least half their earnings in 2020 and actively use other
capital management initiatives. In addition, the RBNZ has prohibited the payment of dividends on ordinary
shares by NZ-incorporated registered banks and has stated that those banks should not redeem non-Common
Equity Tier 1 (CETL) capital instruments (other than on a stated final maturity date), until the economic
outlook has sufficiently recovered, which prevents NAB’s NZ subsidiary, BNZ, from paying dividends,
which has a negative impact on the NAB Group’s Level 1 CET1 capital ratio. These restrictions are expected
to remain in place until at least 31 March 2021. Additionally, if the information or the assumptions upon
which the NAB Group’s capital requirements are assessed prove to be inaccurate, this may adversely impact
the NAB Group’s operations, financial performance and financial position.

A significant downgrade in the NAB Group’s credit ratings may adversely impact its cost of funds and
capital market access

Credit ratings are an assessment of a borrower’s creditworthiness and may be used by market participants in
evaluating the NAB Group and its products, services and securities. Credit rating agencies conduct ongoing
review activities, which can result in changes to credit rating settings and outlooks for the NAB Group, or
sovereign jurisdictions where the NAB Group conducts business. Credit ratings may be affected by
operational and market factors, or changes in the credit rating agency’s rating methodologies.

On 7 April 2020, Fitch Ratings (Fitch) downgraded the major Australian banks, including NAB, from “AA-
” to “A+”, with a negative outlook. Fitch also made a corresponding downgrade to the long-term and short-
term issuer default ratings of the major NZ banks, including BNZ. On 21 May 2020, Fitch revised the
outlook of Australia’s long-term issuer default rating to negative from stable. On 8 April 2020, S&P Global
Ratings (S&P) revised its outlook for the major Australian banks, including NAB, reflecting a revision in the
outlook for Australia from stable to negative. It reaffirmed the long-term and short-term issuer credit ratings
of NAB at “AA-" and “A-1+" respectively. S&P also made a corresponding revision to the outlook of the
major NZ banks, including BNZ. The NAB Group faces the risk of further revisions or downgrades should
economic and credit conditions continue to deteriorate.

A downgrade in the credit ratings or outlook of the NAB Group, the NAB Group’s securities, or the
sovereign rating of one or more of the countries in which the NAB Group operates, may increase the NAB
Group’s cost of funds or limit access to capital markets. This may also cause a deterioration of the NAB
Group’s liquidity position and trigger additional collateral requirements in derivative contracts and other
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secured funding arrangements. A downgrade to the NAB Group’s credit ratings relative to peers may also
adversely impact the NAB Group’s competitive position and financial performance and position.

The NAB Group may fail to, or be unable to, sell down its underwriting risk

As financial intermediaries, members of the NAB Group underwrite or guarantee different types of
transactions, risks and outcomes, including the placement of listed and unlisted debt, equity-linked and
equity securities. The underwriting obligation or guarantee may be over the pricing and placement of these
securities, and the NAB Group may therefore be exposed to potential losses, which may be significant, if it
fails to sell down some or all of this risk to other market participants.

Operational Risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems
or external events. This includes legal risk, but excludes strategic and reputation risk.

There are reputational implications inherent in the NAB Group operations due to the range of customers,
products and services the NAB Group provides and the multiple markets and channels these products and
services are delivered through.

The NAB Group’s workforce has been and may continue to be impacted by COVID-19. The NAB Group
takes all reasonable steps to protect its colleagues and customers. However, there is no certainty that all the
precautions the NAB Group has taken to protect its colleagues and customers will be adequate or
appropriate. It is difficult to predict the extent to which each colleague’s ability to provide customer support
and service and maintain their own health will be affected over an extended period.

Disruption to technology may adversely impact the NAB Group’s reputation and operations

Most of the NAB Group’s operations depend on technology, and therefore the reliability, resilience and
security of the NAB Group’s (and its third-party vendors’) information technology systems and
infrastructure are essential to the effective operation of its business and consequently to its financial
performance and position. The reliability and resilience of the NAB Group’s technology may be impacted by
the complex technology environment, failure to keep technology systems up-to-date, an inability to restore or
recover systems and data in acceptable timeframes, or a physical or cyber-attack.

The rapid evolution of technology in the financial services industry and the increased expectation of
customers for internet and mobile services on demand expose the NAB Group to changing operational
scenarios.

Any disruption to the NAB Group’s technology (including disruption to the technology systems of the NAB
Group’s external providers) may be wholly or partially beyond the NAB Group’s control and may result in
operational disruption; regulatory enforcement actions; customer redress; litigation; financial losses; theft or
loss of customer data; loss of market share; loss of property or information; or may adversely impact the
NAB Group’s speed and agility in the delivery of change and innovation.

In addition, any such disruption may adversely affect the NAB Group’s reputation, including the view of
regulators or ratings agencies, which may result in loss of customers, a reduction in share price, ratings
downgrades and regulatory censure or penalties. Social media commentary may further exacerbate such
adverse outcomes for the NAB Group and negatively impact the NAB Group’s reputation.

0083121-0000440 UKO2: 2001152480.25 29



Privacy, information security and data breaches may adversely impact the NAB Group’s reputation and
operations

The NAB Group processes, stores and transmits large amounts of personal and confidential information
through its technology systems and networks. Threats to information security are constantly evolving and
techniques used to perpetrate cyber-attacks are increasingly sophisticated.

Although the NAB Group invests in protecting the confidentiality and integrity of this information, the NAB
Group may not always be able to anticipate a security threat, or be able to implement effective information
security policies, procedures and controls to prevent or minimise the resulting damage. The NAB Group uses
select external providers (in Australia and overseas) to process and store confidential data and to develop and
provide its technology services, including the increasing use of cloud infrastructure.

A breach of security at any of these external providers or within the NAB Group may result in operational
disruption, theft or loss of customer data, a breach of privacy laws, regulatory enforcement actions, customer
redress, litigation, financial losses, or loss of market share, property or information. This may be wholly or
partially beyond the control of the NAB Group and may adversely impact its financial performance and
position. In addition, any such event may give rise to increased regulatory scrutiny or adversely affect the
view of ratings agencies. Social media and responses to the relevant event may exacerbate the impact on the
NAB Group’s reputation.

Deficient policies, processes, controls, infrastructure and models give rise to a significant risk to the NAB
Group’s operations

The NAB Group’s business involves the execution of many processes and transactions with varying degrees
of complexity. The NAB Group is reliant on its policies, processes, controls and supporting infrastructure
functioning as designed, along with third parties appropriately managing their own operational risk and
delivering services to the NAB Group as required. A failure in the design or operation of these policies,
processes, controls and infrastructure, failure of the NAB Group to manage external service providers, or the
disablement of a supporting system all pose a significant risk to the NAB Group’s operations and
consequently its financial performance and reputation.

Models are used extensively in the conduct of the NAB Group’s business, for example, in calculating capital
requirements or customer compensation payments and measuring and stressing exposures. If the models used
prove to be inadequate or are based on incorrect or invalid assumptions, judgements or inputs, this may
adversely affect the NAB Group’s customers and the NAB Group’s financial performance and position.

The NAB Group is exposed to the risk of human error

The NAB Group’s business, including the internal processes and systems that support in business decisions,
relies on inputs from its employees, agents and third-party vendors. The NAB Group is exposed to
operational risk due to process or human errors including incorrect or incomplete data capture and records
maintenance, incorrect or incomplete documentation to support activities, or inadequate design of processes
or controls. The NAB Group uses select external providers (in Australia and overseas) to provide services to
the NAB Group and is exposed to similar risks arising from such failures in the operating environment of its
external providers. The materialisation of any of these risks could lead to direct financial loss, loss of
customer, employee or commercially sensitive data, regulatory penalties and reputational damage.

The NAB Group may not be able to attract and retain suitable personnel
The NAB Group is dependent on its ability to attract and retain key executives, colleagues and Board
members with a deep understanding of banking and technology, who are qualified to execute the NAB

Group’s strategy, as well as the technology transformation the NAB Group is undertaking to meet the
changing needs of its customers. Weaknesses in employment practices, including diversity, discrimination
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and workplace health and safety, are sources of operational risk that can impact the NAB Group’s ability to
attract and retain qualified personnel with the requisite knowledge, skills and capability.

The NAB Group’s capacity to attract and retain key personnel is dependent on its ability to design and
implement effective remuneration structures. This process may be constrained by regulatory requirements
(particularly in the highly regulated financial services sector), as well as investor expectations, which may be
somewhat disparate.

The unexpected loss of key resources or the inability to attract personnel with suitable experience may
adversely impact the NAB Group’s ability to operate effectively and efficiently, or to meet the NAB Group’s
strategic objectives.

External events may adversely impact the NAB Group’s operations

Operational risk can arise from external events such as biological hazards, climate change, natural disasters
or acts of terrorism.

External events include epidemics or pandemics, such as the outbreak of COVID-19, which has interrupted
the usual operations of the NAB Group, its customers and suppliers. This disruption has resulted in the
activation of the NAB Group’s Crisis Management Team and implementation of the NAB Group’s
continuity plan to protect the health, safety and well-being of its customers and colleagues. The steps taken
include alternate work locations and arrangements being implemented for NAB Group colleagues, a
decreased reliance on property infrastructure, and an increased reliance on mobile technology and business
process changes to support customers, colleagues and suppliers and ensure continuity of the NAB Group’s
business operations. These operational changes could lead to direct financial loss or impact the NAB
Group’s ability to operate effectively and efficiently. No assurance can be given that the steps being taken
will be adequate nor can the NAB Group predict the level of further disruption which may occur.

The NAB Group is monitoring the situation closely as the domestic and global business environment
changes and it is unclear how this will evolve or for how long the NAB Group will continue to operate under
its continuity plan. Other epidemics or pandemics may arise in future which may again activate a crisis
response causing disruption to the NAB Group’s operations.

The NAB Group has branches in regional areas in Australia that are prone to seasonal natural disasters,
including fires and floods. In addition, the NAB Group has branches and office buildings in NZ, which have
experienced significant earthquakes and aftershocks in recent years, and which may be exposed to the risk of
future earthquakes.

Given the NAB Group’s physical presence in major cities in Australia, NZ and other countries where it has,
or is intending to establish, offshore operations, it may also be exposed to the risk of a terrorist attack.

External events such as extreme weather, natural disasters, biological hazards and acts of terrorism may
cause property damage and business disruption, which may adversely impact the NAB Group’s financial
performance. In addition, if the NAB Group is unable to manage the impacts of such external events, it may
lead to reputational damage and compromise the NAB Group’s ability to provide a safe workplace for its
personnel.

The environment the NAB Group is operating in has become more complex and more uncertain and could
create operational risks that are yet to be identified.

Compliance Risk

Compliance risk is the risk of failing to understand and comply with relevant laws, regulations, licence
conditions, supervisory requirements, self-regulatory industry codes of conduct and voluntary initiatives.
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The NAB Group may be involved in a breach or alleged breach of laws governing bribery, corruption and
financial crime

Supervision, regulation and enforcement of anti-bribery and corruption, anti-money laundering, counter-
terrorism financing, and international sanctions laws (collectively referred to as AML/CTF laws) has
increased. In June 2018, Australia’s financial intelligence agency, the Australian Transaction Reports and
Analysis Centre (AUSTRAC), reached an agreement with another major Australian bank for a A$700
million penalty relating to serious breaches of AML/CTF laws. In September 2020, AUSTRAC and a
different major Australian bank agreed to the Australian bank paying a civil penalty of A$1.3 billion in
relation to proceedings alleging significant breaches of AML/CTF laws.

The NAB Group has reported a number of AML/CTF compliance breaches to relevant regulators and has
responded to a number of requests from regulators requiring the production of documents and information.
The NAB Group is currently investigating and remediating a number of AML/CTF compliance issues and
weaknesses and should further breaches be identified, the NAB Group would expect to report those to
regulators in accordance with its normal processes. The potential outcome and total costs associated with the
investigations and remediation processes for specific issues identified to date, and for any issues identified in
future, remain uncertain. A negative outcome to any investigation or remediation process may adversely
impact the NAB Group’s reputation, business operations, financial position and results. Further, given the
large volume of transactions that the NAB Group processes, the undetected failure of internal AML/CTF
controls, or the ineffective implementation or remediation of compliance issues, could result in a significant
number of breaches of AML/CTF obligations and significant monetary penalties for the NAB Group.

Refer to ‘Notes to the Financial Statements — Note 30 — Contingent liabilities and credit commitments” on
page 170 in the 2020 NAB Annual Financial Report under the heading ‘Regulatory activity, compliance
investigations and associated proceedings - Anti-Money Laundering (AML) and Counter-Terrorist
Financing (CTF) program uplift and compliance issues’, which is incorporated by reference in this Offering
Circular, for more information.

Ensuring compliance with laws and regulations that apply to the NAB Group is complex and costly

The NAB Group is highly regulated and subject to various regulatory regimes which differ across the
jurisdictions in which it operates, trades and raises funds.

Ensuring compliance with all applicable laws is complex. There is a risk the NAB Group will be unable to
implement the processes and controls required by relevant laws and regulations in a timely manner, or that
the NAB Group’s internal controls will prove to be inadequate or ineffective in ensuring compliance. There
is also a potential risk of misinterpreting new or existing regulations. Any failure to comply with relevant
laws and regulations may have a negative impact on the NAB Group’s reputation and financial performance
and position, and may give rise to class actions, regulatory enforcement or litigation.

In addition, there is significant cost associated with the systems, processes, controls and personnel required
to ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulations. Such costs may negatively impact the NAB
Group’s financial performance and position.

Failure to comply with laws or regulatory requirements may expose the NAB Group to class actions

There have been a number of domestic and international firms facing high profile regulatory enforcement
actions for alleged instances of non-compliance with laws or regulatory requirements. In some cases, class
actions have been brought in respect of the matters that these enforcement actions relate to.

In particular, class actions have been commenced against the NAB Group in respect of two matters that were
referred to APRA by the Australian Royal Commission into ‘Misconduct in the Banking, Superannuation
and Financial Services Industry’ (the Royal Commission), regarding the conduct of the NAB Group’s
superannuation trustee, NULIS Nominees (Australia) Ltd (NULIS). In October 2019, litigation funder Omni
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Bridgeway (formerly IMF Bentham) and William Roberts Lawyers commenced a class action against
NULIS alleging breaches of NULIS’s trustee duties relating to the maintenance of grandfathered
commissions following a successor fund transfer in 2016. In January 2020, Maurice Blackburn commenced a
class action against NULIS and MLC Nominees (MLCN) alleging breaches of trustee obligations in
connection with the speed of the transfer of members’ accrued default amounts to the MySuper product. The
potential outcome and total costs associated with these matters remain uncertain.

NAB is also involved in class action proceedings in the UK with respect to the sale of tailored business loans
through its former UK subsidiary, and it has been involved in class action litigation in the United States in
respect of alleged conduct relating to the Australian Bank Bill Swap Reference Rate (BBSW), alongside
other major Australian and international banks. In February 2020, all claims against NAB in relation to the
BBSW matter were dismissed but this decision could potentially be appealed or reconsidered. Refer to
‘Notes to the Financial Statements — Note 30 — Contingent liabilities and credit commitments’ on page 169
in the 2020 NAB Annual Financial Report under the heading ‘Legal Proceedings’, which is incorporated by
reference in this Offering Circular, for more information.

It is possible that class actions may arise against members of the NAB Group in relation to allegations of
which the NAB Group is currently aware or other matters of which it is not yet aware. Any class action may
impact the NAB Group’s reputation, divert management time from operations and affect the NAB Group’s
financial performance and position, profitability and returns to investors.

The NAB Group may be exposed to losses if critical accounting judgements and estimates are subsequently
found to be incorrect

Preparation of the NAB Group’s financial statements requires management to make estimates and
assumptions and to exercise judgement in applying relevant accounting policies, each of which may directly
impact the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. A higher degree of judgement is
required for the estimates used in the calculation of provisions (including for customer-related remediation
and other regulatory matters), the determination of income tax, the valuation of financial assets and liabilities
(including fair value and credit impairment of loans and advances), the valuation of goodwill and intangible
assets, and the presentation of discontinued operations. Changes in the methodology or assumptions on
which the assessment of goodwill and intangible balances is based, together with expected changes in future
cash flows (including changes flowing from current and potential regulatory reforms), could result in the
potential write-off of a part or all of that goodwill or intangible balances.

If the judgements, estimates and assumptions used by the NAB Group in preparing financial statements are
subsequently found to be incorrect, there could be a significant loss to the NAB Group beyond that
anticipated or provided for, which may adversely impact the NAB Group’s reputation, and financial
performance and position.

The NAB Group may be exposed to litigation and contingent liabilities

Entities within the NAB Group may be involved from time to time in legal proceedings arising from the
conduct of their business. The aggregate potential liability and costs in respect thereof cannot be estimated
with any certainty.

Following an investigation into payments of both current and former Australian colleagues, a review has
identified a range of potential payroll under and over payments issues. A remediation programme has been
established and provisions have been taken but the final outcome and total costs associated with this matter
remain uncertain.

There are also a number of ongoing regulatory investigations and court proceedings involving the NAB
Group. These include matters relating to: the provision of financial advice; the inappropriate charging of fees
for services; selling practices and advice in relation to consumer credit insurance products. Where
appropriate, provisions are held for litigation matters, regulatory and internal investigations based on a
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number of assumptions derived from a combination of past experience, forecasts, industry comparison and
the exercise of subjective judgement based on (where appropriate) external professional advice. As with
other accounting judgements, risks and uncertainties remain in relation to these assumptions and the ultimate
costs of redress to the NAB Group. There is inherent uncertainty regarding the possible outcome of any court
proceedings involving the NAB Group. It is also possible that further class actions, regulatory investigations,
civil or criminal proceedings or the imposition of new licence conditions could arise in relation to these
matters or other matters of which the NAB Group is not yet aware.

Certain of these regulatory investigations and proceedings relate to matters examined or commented on by
the Royal Commission. In particular, the Australian Securities and Investments Commission (ASIC)
commenced civil proceedings against members of the NAB Group in relation to two issues that were
examined by the Royal Commission. The first concerned NAB’s ‘Introducer Program’, in respect of which
ASIC alleged that NAB engaged in credit activities with unlicensed persons in contravention of the National
Consumer Credit Protection Act 2009 (Cth). On 19 October 2020, the Federal Court delivered its judgment
in relation to this matter, imposing a civil penalty of A$15 million on NAB. The second relates to alleged
breaches in respect of ongoing service arrangements and fee disclosure statements, with clients of NAB
Financial Planning between 2013 and 2019. A Statement of Agreed Facts and Admissions was filed in
October 2020, with NAB agreeing certain contraventions of the fee disclosure regime, some liability for
misleading or deceptive conduct and false or misleading representations, as well as breaches of financial
services laws. The potential outcome and total costs associated with this matter remains uncertain.

A negative outcome to regulatory investigations or litigation involving the NAB Group may divert
management time from operations and adversely impact the NAB Group’s reputation, and financial
performance and position.

Refer to ‘Notes to the Financial Statements — Note 30 — Contingent liabilities and credit commitments’ on
pages 167-173 in the 2020 NAB Annual Financial Report, which is incorporated by reference in this
Offering Circular, for details in relation to certain legal proceedings and contingent liabilities which may
impact the NAB Group.

Conduct Risk

Conduct risk is the risk that any action of the NAB Group, or those acting on behalf of the NAB Group, will
result in unfair outcomes for any of the NAB Group’s customers.

The NAB Group is heavily reliant on its employees, contractors and external suppliers acting in an
appropriate and ethical way

Organisational culture can greatly influence individual and group behaviours which can expose an
organisation and lead to unfair customer outcomes. The behaviours that could expose the NAB Group to
conduct risk include:

. Selling, providing or unduly influencing customers to purchase or receive products or services that
may not meet their existing needs or that place the customer at risk of future hardship.

. Being a party to fraud.

o Non-adherence to applicable requirements or providing financial advice which is not appropriate or
in the customers’ interests.

° Delays in appropriately escalating regulatory and compliance issues.
° Failure to resolve issues and remediate customers in a timely manner.
° Failure to deliver on product and service commitments.
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. Failure to remediate business processes and stop reoccurrence in a timely manner.

In addition, events such as COVID-19, can result in rapid changes to the internal and external business
environment and subsequent changes to business processes to support customers. This may impact both the
likelihood and the consequence of unfair outcomes to customers, including through decisions and actions
where the trade-offs or tail risks may not be immediately apparent or quantifiable. The NAB Group is
making significant efforts to support its customers in an appropriate way during the COVID-19 pandemic
including through regular customer communication and redeployment of colleagues into customer-facing
roles. However, no assurance can be given that the steps being taken will not have unintended consequences
in the future or that they will meet the future expectations of the NAB Group’s regulators. The NAB Group
cannot predict the level of further disruption which may occur.

If the NAB Group’s conduct related controls were to fail significantly, be set inappropriately, or not meet
legal, regulatory or community expectations, then the NAB Group may be exposed to:

. Increased costs of compliance, fines, additional capital requirements, public censure, loss of
customer confidence, class actions and other litigation, settlements and restitution to customers or
communities.

. Increased supervision, oversight or enforcement by regulators or other stakeholders.

. Unenforceability of contracts such as loans, guarantees and other security documents.

o Enforced suspension of operations, amendments to licence conditions or loss of licence to operate all

or part of the NAB Group’s businesses.
° Other enforcement or administrative action or agreements, including legal proceedings.

A failure of the NAB Group’s conduct controls to accurately reflect relevant legal, regulatory or community
expectations may adversely impact the NAB Group’s reputation, financial performance and position,
profitability, operations and returns to investors.

Regulatory Risk

Regulatory risk is the risk of failing to identify or appropriately respond to changes to the regulatory
environment or of damaging the NAB Group’s standing with its regulators as a result of the NAB Group not
meeting regulatory expectations.

Extensive regulatory change poses a significant risk to the NAB Group

Globally, the financial services and banking industries are subject to a significant and increasing level of
regulatory reviews and political scrutiny, including in Australia, NZ and other countries where the NAB
Group has, or is intending to establish, offshore operations. Changes to laws and regulations or their
interpretation and application can be unpredictable, are beyond the NAB Group’s control, and may not be
harmonised across the jurisdictions in which the NAB Group operates.

Regulatory change may result in significant capital and compliance costs, changes to the NAB Group’s
corporate structure and increasing demands on management, colleagues and information technology systems.
This may also impact the viability of the NAB Group’s participation in certain markets or require the
divestment of a part of the NAB Group’s business.

The Royal Commission made a considerable number of recommendations. The Australian Government has
committed to take action on all of the recommendations and has announced further commitments to address
issues raised in the final report of the Royal Commission (the Final Report). Some commitments have been
actioned by the Australian Government and regulators, and others are in progress or subject to consultation.
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The Australian Government has also committed to an accelerated timeframe for introducing the legislative
changes required to give effect to the recommendations, although it has deferred the implementation of these
commitments for six months as a result of the regulatory challenges created by COVID-19. These legislative
and regulatory changes are likely to impact the operations of the NAB Group as considerable resources will
be required to be redirected towards the timely implementation of such changes. The challenges may be
exacerbated given the redirection of resources required to address customer needs through the COVID-19
pandemic and the possible detrimental impact on the NAB Group’s ability to embed regulatory change. The
timeframe for implementation combined with the complexities created by the COVID-19 pandemic may
increase the risk associated with the timely implementation of these changes.

Further inquiries and regulatory reviews impacting the financial services industry may be commissioned by
the Australian and NZ Governments, which, depending on their scope, findings and recommendations, may
adversely impact the NAB Group.

Other reviews and regulatory reforms currently relevant to the NAB Group which present a potential
regulatory risk include:

° APRA’s various reforms in relation to loss-absorbing capacity. These include the requirement, due
to be implemented by 1 January 2024, that Domestic Systemically Important Banks (D-SIBs) such
as NAB, increase total capital by 3 per cent. of risk weighted assets (RWA). This is expected to be
satisfied primarily through the issue of additional Tier 2 Capital. In addition, APRA intends to
consult on a target of additional capital amounting to a further 1-2 per cent. of RWA. The NAB
Group’s funding costs are expected to increase due to the higher cost of Tier 2 Capital issuance
relative to senior debt.

° APRA’s final revisions to the credit risk management framework for ADIs (released in December
2019) include broadening requirements for credit risk management practices; revising credit
standards; and aligning asset classification and provisioning with the Basel Committee on Banking
Supervision’s recent accounting standard changes and guidance, although noting that APRA has
deferred the commencement date to 1 January 2022 in response to COVID-19.

o The RBNZ released its capital requirements for NZ banks in December 2019. The final capital
requirements include: an increase to RWA for internal ratings based banks such as NAB’s
subsidiary, BNZ, to approximately 90 per cent. of what would be calculated under the standardised
approach; an increase in the CET1 capital requirement equal to 13.5 per cent. of RWA (including a
prudential capital buffer of 9 per cent. of RWA) for banks deemed systemically important (which
includes BNZ); an increase in the Tier 1 capital requirement equal to 16 per cent. of RWA for banks
deemed systemically important; and an increase in the Total Capital requirement equal to 18 per
cent. of RWA for banks deemed systemically important. Due to significant uncertainties arising
from the impacts of COVID-19, the RBNZ has delayed the start of the new capital requirements to 1
July 2022, after which it is expected that the changes will be phased in over a seven-year period.
Some aspects of the framework (including the detailed regulatory requirements to be included in the
capital standards) are still to be confirmed in consultations expected to take place in 2021. It also
remains unclear the extent to which APRA will incorporate aspects of the RBNZ’s capital
requirements as part of its review of the Australian capital framework. The ultimate impact on the
NAB Group will depend on various factors, including BNZ’s balance sheet size over the
implementation period, and the potential mitigating actions undertaken.

. The major Australian banks (including NAB) have been subject to APRA’s ‘unquestionably strong’
target benchmark capital ratios since January 2020, although noting the temporary suspension of
these requirements in response to COVID-19. APRA has recently confirmed its intention to restart
public consultations on select policy reforms, including in relation to ADI capital reform, although
the implementation of revised prudential standards in relation to the risk-weighting framework and
other capital requirements has been suspended until at least 1 January 2023. Implementation of these
requirements may require the NAB Group to hold additional capital. In addition, regulators in a

0083121-0000440 UKO2: 2001152480.25 36



number of countries in which NAB operates are recommending limits on, or restrictions to, capital
distributions as a result of COVID-19.

° In 2018 and 2019, the NZ Financial Markets Authority (FMA) and RBNZ undertook a review of
conduct and culture in the financial services industry. Alongside industry-wide recommendations
released as a result of the review, further specific findings were provided to individual NZ banks
(including BNZ) in November 2018. The review led to the NZ Government introducing the
Financial Markets (Conduct of Institutions) Amendment Bill (Amendment Bill) to the NZ
Parliament in December 2019 to create an oversight and licensing regime for regulating conduct in
the banking, non-bank deposit taking and insurance sectors. The Amendment Bill was initially
expected to be passed by the end of 2020, but this timeframe may be delayed as a result of COVID-
19.

° The Australian Banking Executive Accountability Regime (BEAR) applies to the NAB Group. On
22 January 2020, the Australian Government Treasury released its proposal paper on a new
Financial Accountability Regime (FAR). This regime has been developed in response to a number
of Royal Commission recommendations and is intended to extend and replace BEAR. The FAR
legislation was initially expected to be introduced by the end of 2020 (although implementation may
be phased), and is likely to include new prescribed responsibilities, additional accountability
obligations, and increased maximum civil penalties for the NAB Group and its accountable persons.
The timeframe for implementation of FAR may be delayed as a result of COVID-109.

. The Australian Government directed the Australian Competition and Consumer Commission
(ACCC) to undertake an inquiry into home loan pricing. The ACCC is investigating a wide range of
issues, including the rates paid by new and existing customers, impediments to customer switching,
how the cost of financing for banks has affected interest rate decisions and the interaction between
home loan pricing and rate-setting by the RBA. An interim report on this topic was provided to the
Australian Government on 27 April 2020 and a final report on this topic is due to the Australian
Government on 30 November 2020.

. Other material regulatory changes include new requirements for the design and distribution of
financial products, responsible lending reforms, and the implementation of the Consumer Data Right
(known as “Open Banking”). Open Banking’s regulatory timelines require significant changes to the
NAB Group’s operations and technology. There is a risk that the NAB Group does not achieve
compliance with the set milestones for the complete implementation of Open Banking. Open
Banking may also lead to cyber and fraud risks in the Consumer Data Right ecosystem. Governance
mechanisms including accountabilities, controls and frameworks are still evolving and, under the
Open Banking regime, customer data will be shared with a broader range of stakeholders. The
significant resources and management time required to implement Open Banking may also have a
flow-on-effect, impacting the NAB Group’s timely implementation of other regulatory reforms.

. There are a number of other ongoing or proposed regulatory changes and inquiries relevant to the
NAB Group, such as changes to the NAB Group entities eligible for inclusion in the Level 1 group
for prudential supervisory purposes; operational resilience; market abuse or conduct related
regulations; changes to financial benchmarks; derivatives reform; replacement of the Reserve Bank
of New Zealand Act 1989 (NZ) (RBNZ Act); payments; data protection and privacy laws; data
quality; competition inquiries; financial crime legislation; increasing modern slavery, climate and
other sustainability risk related regulatory and reporting requirements, accounting and financial
reporting requirements; and tax reform.

. Additionally, continued regulator focus on COVID-19 related impacts (such as loan deferrals) has

resulted in temporary changes to a number of regulatory and associated regulatory reporting
requirements.
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The full scope, timeline and impact of current and potential inquiries and regulatory reforms such as those
mentioned above, or how they will be implemented (if at all in some cases), is not known. The challenges
raised by COVID-19 have caused a number of regulators to postpone or suspend planned policy and
supervision initiatives, public consultations and the implementation dates of a number of regulatory reforms.

The impact of COVID-19 on the NAB Group’s operations may result in delays in its ability to implement
regulatory change. The extent of any delays will be dependent on how regulators choose to adjust the
prioritisation, timing and deployment of their supervisory mandate or legislative change.

Depending on the specific nature of the regulatory change requirements and how and when they are
implemented or enforced, they may have an adverse impact on the NAB Group’s business, operations,
structure, compliance costs or capital requirements, and ultimately its reputation, and financial performance
and position.

There is a risk of the NAB Group failing to deliver on commitments made to its regulators and to the public
or otherwise damaging its relationship with regulators

In response to the Royal Commission, the NAB Group has made certain commitments to regulators and the
public to change the way it operates. In November 2019, the NAB Group published an update to the market
on progress against actions related to self-assessment on governance, accountability and culture and
recommendations arising from the Royal Commission. The NAB Group provides periodic updates to
regulators and the public on its progress in implementing these actions, recommendations from the Royal
Commission or representations given to its regulators. The impact of COVID-19 may result in delays to the
NAB Group’s delivery on any of these commitments.

If the NAB Group does not deliver on the matters identified in its self-assessment, fails to deliver on its
public commitments following the Royal Commission, or otherwise fails to comply with the representations
or voluntary commitments it makes to the public or to its regulators, this may negatively impact the NAB
Group’s reputation. Such reputational damage may adversely impact the NAB Group’s ability to attract and
retain customers or colleagues in the short and long-term. It may also result in a higher risk premium being
applied to the NAB Group, and impact the cost of funding the NAB Group’s operations, or its financial
performance and position.

The enforcement approach of the NAB Group’s principal regulators has changed, resulting in a greater risk
of enforcement actions

A number of measures were recommended by the Royal Commission to improve the effectiveness and
oversight of ASIC and APRA in deterring, and imposing appropriate penalties for, misconduct. These
included a recommendation for ASIC to change its approach to enforcement, with a focus on instigating
court actions in relation to conduct matters where a breach of law is more likely than not, and the matter is in
the public interest. Accordingly, the NAB Group may be exposed to greater risk of enforcement action by its
primary regulators, ASIC and APRA, which may result in the imposition of civil or criminal penalties on the
NAB Group. The issuing of any such enforcement action, and any subsequent imposition of penalties, may
negatively impact on the NAB Group’s reputation and financial performance and position.

BNZ and BNZ-IF - Risks specific to BNZ and BNZ-IF

Set out below are the principal risks and uncertainties associated with BNZ and its controlled entities
(including BNZ-IF). It is not possible to determine the likelihood of these risks occurring with any certainty.
However, the risk in each sub-category that BNZ considers most material is listed first, based on the
information available at the date of this Offering Circular and BNZ’s best assessment of the likelihood of
each risk occurring and the potential magnitude of the negative impact to BNZ should such risk materialise.
In the event that one or more of these risks materialise, BNZ’s reputation, strategy, business, operations,
financial condition and future performance could be materially and adversely impacted.
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BNZ’s risk management framework and internal controls may not be adequate or effective in accurately
identifying, evaluating or addressing risks faced by BNZ. There may be other risks that are currently
unknown or are deemed immaterial, but which may subsequently become known or material. These may
individually, or in aggregate, adversely impact BNZ. Accordingly, no assurances or guarantees of future
performance, profitability, distributions or returns of capital are given by BNZ or BNZ-IF.

Risk specific to BNZ-IF as an offshore funding entity of BNZ
BNZ-IF is an offshore funding entity

BNZ-IF is a funding entity, the primary business of which is carrying out offshore wholesale funding for
BNZ through the issuance of debt securities (see "Description of BNZ-IF" on pages 224 to 226 of this
Offering Circular for further details). BNZ-IF's debt securities are unconditionally and irrevocably
guaranteed by BNZ to enable BNZ-IF to carry out such fundraising activities. As all funds raised by BNZ-IF
will be on-lent to BNZ, the ability of BNZ-IF to fund its debt obligations in respect of Guaranteed Senior
Notes will be entirely dependent on the ability of BNZ to fund its debt obligations to BNZ-IF.

Strategic Risk

Strategic risk is the risk associated with the pursuit of BNZ’s strategic objectives, including the risk that
BNZ fails to execute its chosen strategy effectively or in a timely manner.

Strategic initiatives may fail to be executed, may not deliver all anticipated benefits and may change BNZ’s
risk profile

BNZ’s corporate strategy sets its purpose, ambition and objectives.

BNZ prioritises, and invests significant resources in, the execution of initiatives that are aligned to its chosen
strategy, including transformation and change programmes. These programmes focus on technology, digital
and data assets, infrastructure, business improvement and cultural transformation. There is a risk that these
programmes may not realise some or all of their anticipated benefits. These programmes may also increase
operational, compliance and other risks, and new or existing risks may not be appropriately controlled. Any
failure by BNZ to deliver in accordance with its strategy or to deliver these strategic programmes effectively,
may result in material losses to BNZ, or a failure to achieve anticipated benefits, and ultimately, may
materially and adversely impact BNZ’s operations and financial performance and position.

BNZ faces intense competition

There is substantial competition across the markets in which BNZ conducts business. BNZ faces competition
from established financial services providers as well as foreign banks and new market entrants, particularly
non-bank competitors with lower costs and new operating and business models. In addition, evolving
industry trends, rapid technology changes and environmental factors (such as COVID-19) may impact
customer needs and preferences and BNZ may not predict these changes accurately or quickly enough, or
have the resources and flexibility to adapt in sufficient time to meet customer expectations and keep pace
with competitors. This risk is heightened in the current context where BNZ must prioritise responses to new
regulation and initiatives to support customers through the COVID-19 pandemic.

Progress is also being made towards open data sharing in NZ, with Payments NZ (a governance organisation
in respect of core payment systems) negotiating the development of payment initiation and account
information standards in May 2019. In August 2020, the NZ Ministry of Business, Innovation and
Employment released a discussion document regarding a possible consumer data right to provide a
legislative framework for the development of open banking and data sharing. The submission period in
relation to this discussion document closed on 5 October 2020, and recommendations are expected to be
made to the responsible Minister in late 2020. Should a consumer data right be introduced, this may increase
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compliance costs for BNZ, limit BNZ’s ability to charge for access to payments or data, increase competition
for services, and impede BNZ's ability to innovate.

Ongoing competition for customers can lead to compression in profit margins and loss of market share,
which may ultimately impact BNZ’s financial performance and position.

Risks may arise from pursuing acquisitions and divestments

BNZ regularly considers a range of corporate opportunities, including acquisitions, divestments, joint
ventures and investments.

Pursuit of corporate opportunities inherently involves transaction risks, including the risk that BNZ over-
values an acquisition or investment or under-values a divestment, as well as exposure to reputational
damage. BNZ may encounter difficulties in integrating or separating businesses, including failure to realise
expected synergies, disruption to operations, diversion of management resources or higher than expected
costs. These risks and difficulties may ultimately have an adverse impact on BNZ’s financial performance
and position.

BNZ may incur unexpected financial losses following an acquisition, joint venture or investment if the
business it invests in does not perform as planned or causes unanticipated changes to BNZ’s risk profile.
Additionally, there can be no assurance that customers, employees, suppliers, counterparties and other
relevant stakeholders will remain with an acquired business following the transaction and any failure to
retain such stakeholders may have an adverse impact on BNZ’s overall financial performance and position.

BNZ may also have ongoing exposures to divested businesses, including through any residual shareholding,
the provision of continued services and infrastructure or an agreement to retain certain liabilities of the
divested businesses through warranties and indemnities, which may have an adverse impact on BNZ’s
business and financial performance and position.

BNZ is part of a larger business group, and decisions by that larger business group, or any financial or
reputational damage to that larger business group, may adversely impact BNZ's business, financial
condition, liquidity, results of operations and prospects

As BNZ is part of the NAB Group, it may be impacted by the decisions made by, or events that affect, the
NAB Group, as well as any financial or reputational damage by virtue of its association with the NAB
Group. If financial resources are withdrawn by the NAB Group or the NAB Group makes a business or
corporate decision that is not in BNZ’s interests, this may adversely affect BNZ’s business, financial
condition, liquidity, results of operations and prospects. In addition, the reputational consequences of the
occurrence of a risk event within the NAB Group, for example, a major operational failure, may have a
material impact on BNZ’s business, financial condition, reputation, liquidity, results of operations and
prospects.

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that a customer will fail to meet its obligations to BNZ in accordance with agreed
terms. Credit risk arises from both BNZ’s lending activities and markets and trading activities.

The economic impact of the global COVID-19 pandemic is extremely uncertain, but it has increased credit
risk across BNZ'’s portfolio

COVID-19 has created economic and financial disruptions that have adversely affected, and may continue to
adversely affect, BNZ’s business, financial condition, liquidity and results of operations. The extent of these
continuing negative effects will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be
predicted. Increased credit risk can result in both an increase in losses when customers default on their loan
obligations and higher capital requirements through an increase in the probability of default.
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The global economy is predicted to contract in 2020, due in large part to measures implemented to address
COVID-19. Various regions in several countries have been forced to reintroduce measures to control fresh
outbreaks, highlighting the high degree of uncertainty to the outlook. The functioning of financial markets in
many countries has also been impaired by increased volatility and negative investor sentiment, adding to the
risk of a larger and longer economic downturn. This may create credit risk for BNZ, both in the short and
long-term.

In NZ and globally, measures to control the spread of COVID-19, including restrictions on public gatherings,
business closures and travel and trade restrictions have had, and may continue to have, a substantial negative
impact on economic and business activity due to a range of factors including reduced trade flows and lower
commodity prices. Certain sectors have experienced, or are expected to experience significant financial
stress. This includes a heightened risk of corporate and business bankruptcies, a rise in unemployment and an
increase in household financial stress. This combination of factors has introduced additional credit risk for
BNZ.

There is a continuing risk that the economic consequences of COVID-19, including supply disruptions
caused by global and domestic containment efforts, may become more severe and far-reaching across the
economy, leading to a more widespread downturn in business and economic activity. This would likely
result in a significant loss of revenue for many businesses across a wide range of industry sectors, in turn
potentially leading to further increased unemployment and customer defaults. BNZ’s portfolios would be
significantly impacted in such a scenario, as would BNZ’s exposure to households, given the potential for
higher unemployment to coincide with lower house prices.

Some of BNZ’s assets and liabilities comprise financial instruments that are carried at fair value, with
changes in fair value recognised in BNZ’s income statement. Recent market declines and increased volatility
could negatively impact the value of such financial instruments and cause BNZ to incur losses.

Globally, governments (including the NZ Government) have introduced fiscal stimulus packages to counter
the negative impacts of the current economic downturn. The unwinding of these stimulatory policies presents
downside risk to economies in the near-term, with the potential to exacerbate existing negative effects on
businesses and households. In the longer term, governments may take measures to address the additional
debt burden generated by these policies (see "Description of BNZ — Recent Developments — Regulatory
Response to the COVID-19 Pandemic" for more information about the NZ Government response). The
extent to which these packages mitigate and/or defer the economic impact, including any credit losses BNZ
may incur, is uncertain.

In response to COVID-19, BNZ has established a range of accommodations and measures designed to
support its personal and business customers. The decision by BNZ to provide customers impacted by the
COVID-19 pandemic the option of suspending or deferring certain loan repayments may lead to an increase
in the level of credit risk related losses. These accommodations and measures, while supporting BNZ’s
customers, may result in BNZ assuming a greater level of risk than it would have under ordinary
circumstances. This in turn may have a negative impact on BNZ’s business, results of operations, financial
condition and prospects and may negatively impact BNZ’s net interest margin.

As these accommodations and measures are scaled back or potentially removed, there may be a further
increase in the credit risks facing BNZ, as well as a negative impact on customer sentiment towards BNZ
and the banking sector generally. In the longer term, asset values may start to deteriorate if a large proportion
of retail and business customers liquidate their investments, either during, or immediately after, the crisis or
due to a decrease in demand for these assets. In both scenarios loan-to-value ratios are expected to be
impacted.

The duration and magnitude of the COVID-19 pandemic and its potential impacts on the economy remain

unclear. Even after the pandemic subsides, the NZ economy, as well as most other major economies, may
continue to experience a recession and unemployment may rise further. A prolonged recession in NZ and
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other major regions has the potential to negatively impact debt servicing levels, increase customer defaults
and materially adversely impact BNZ’s financial performance and position, and its profitability.

A decline in property market valuations may give rise to higher losses on defaulting loans

Lending activities account for most of BNZ’s credit risk. BNZ’s lending portfolio is largely based in NZ.
Residential housing loans and commercial real estate loans constitute a material component of BNZ’s total
gross loans and acceptances. Although there has not been a decline in NZ residential property prices to date,
the social and economic impacts of the spread of COVID-19 and the measures in place to control it, have the
potential to drive a material decline in residential property prices due to, among other things, increased
unemployment in NZ. The full negative impact of the COVID-19 pandemic may be delayed, in part, by
governmental support measures and other actions that BNZ and other financial institutions have taken, for
example, permitting loan payment deferrals in certain cases.

In addition, there are a number of other potential factors in the medium term that may drive reductions in
residential property prices. These factors include regulatory changes which may impact the availability of
credit, reduced immigration and overseas investment, changes to taxation policy and rising unemployment. If
these factors materialise, the declining value of the residential property used as collateral (including in
business lending) may give rise to greater losses to BNZ resulting from customer defaults, which, in turn,
may impact BNZ’s financial performance and position. The most significant impact is likely to be
experienced by residential mortgage customers in high loan-to-value-ratio brackets. This risk could be
further compounded by a more severe downturn.

Adverse business conditions in NZ, particularly in the agriculture sector, may give rise to increasing
customer defaults

BNZ has a large market share among lenders to the NZ agricultural sectors. Volatility in commodity prices,
foreign exchange rate movements, disease and introduction of pathogens and pests, export and quarantine
restrictions and supply chain constraints, extreme weather events, increasing weather volatility and longer-
term changes in climatic conditions arising from climate change, may negatively impact these sectors.
Border closures are having a negative impact, particularly with respect to tourism and businesses dependent
on foreign labour. The COVID-19 pandemic has also reduced global consumer demand especially for
discretionary goods and services as well as tourism. As a bank with exposure to business in these sectors,
this reduced demand may result in increased losses to BNZ from customer defaults, and ultimately may have
an adverse impact on BNZ’s financial performance and position.

A significant decrease in commodity prices could also materially and adversely impact the NZ agricultural
sector’s ability to service debt, which may have an adverse impact on BNZ’s financial performance and
position.

Customers of BNZ involved in the commercial real estate industry may be affected by changes in working
patterns across NZ as COVID-19 has accelerated the trend of technology enabled employees working
remotely. The inability of these customers to respond to changes in working patterns may lead to reduced
occupancy rates and rental returns that could result in increased losses to BNZ from customer defaults, and
ultimately, may adversely impact on BNZ’s financial performance and position.

Climate change and extreme climate patterns may lead to increasing customer defaults and may decrease
the value of collateral

Credit risk may arise as a result of climate change, including from:
o Extreme weather, increasing weather volatility and longer-term changes in climatic conditions

affecting property and asset values or causing customer losses due to damage, existing land use
ceasing to be viable, and/or interruptions to business operations and supply chains.
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o The effect of new laws, regulations and government policies designed to mitigate climate change.

e The impact on certain customer segments as the economy transitions to renewable and low-
emissions technology.

This may lead to increased levels of customer default in affected business sectors. The impact of this on
BNZ may be exacerbated by a decline in the value and liquidity of assets held by BNZ as collateral in these
sectors, which may impact BNZ’s ability to recover its funds when loans default.

Physical and transitional risks associated with climate change have led to regulatory change in NZ, such as
the Climate Change Response (Zero Carbon) Amendment Act 2019 (NZ), which commits NZ to a net zero
carbon economy by 2050 or sooner. These changes may disrupt the operations of BNZ’s customers involved
in a wide range of sectors and industries. As NZ transitions to a net zero carbon economy, there are
transitional risks which may lead to an increase in adoption of emission-reducing technology, changes to
farming and manufacturing practices, changes to insurance practices, tax changes and revised land use
regulation, any of which may impact security values. Changing physical conditions may also reduce the
ability of businesses to service loans. Participants in the agricultural sector are particularly vulnerable
including businesses in their supply chains. NZ could also see damage to its natural assets that may reduce
tourism income. This may lead to changes to BNZ’s operations, strategy, risk profile and risk appetite, which
may adversely impact BNZ’s financial performance and position.

BNZ’s losses may differ materially from its provisions which may impact its financial performance and
position

BNZ provides for expected losses from loans, advances and other assets. Estimating losses in the loan
portfolio is, by its very nature, uncertain. The accuracy of these estimates depends on many factors,
including general economic conditions, forecasts and assumptions, and involves complex modelling and
judgements. If the assumptions upon which these assessments are made prove to be inaccurate, the
provisions for credit impairment may need to be revised. This may adversely impact BNZ’s financial
performance and position.

BNZ may be adversely impacted by macro-economic and geopolitical risks and financial market conditions
which pose a credit risk

As BNZ primarily conducts business in NZ, BNZ’s performance is dependent principally on the
performance of the economy in NZ. Levels of borrowing are heavily dependent on customer confidence,
employment trends, market interest rates and other economic and financial market conditions and forecasts.

Domestic and international economic conditions and forecasts are influenced by a number of macro-
economic factors, such as: economic growth rates; cost and availability of capital; central bank intervention;
inflation and deflation rates; level of interest rates; yield curves; market volatility; and uncertainty.
Deterioration in any of these factors may lead to the following negative impacts on BNZ:

. Increased cost of funding or lack of available funding.

. Deterioration in the value and liquidity of assets (including collateral).

. Inability to price certain assets.

. An increase in customer or counterparty default and credit losses.

. Higher provisions for credit impairment.

. Mark-to-market losses in equity and trading positions, including BNZ’s high quality liquid asset
portfolios.
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Lack of available or suitable derivative instruments for hedging purposes.
Lower growth in business revenues and earnings.

Increased cost of insurance, lack of available or suitable insurance, or failure of the insurance
underwriter.

Economic conditions may also be negatively impacted by climate change and major shock events, such as
natural disasters, epidemics and pandemics (such as the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic), war and terrorism,
political and social unrest, and sovereign debt restructuring and defaults.

The following macro-economic and financial market conditions are currently of most relevance to the credit
risk facing BNZ, and may give rise to slower revenue growth and/or increasing customer defaults:

Central banks, including the RBNZ, eased monetary policy and provided liquidity to markets in
response to COVID-19 related economic downturn, with advanced economies essentially exhausting
their conventional policy measures. Any further policy easing may involve additional asset
purchases (quantitative easing) or other unconventional policy tools that may adversely affect BNZ’s
cost of funds, the value of BNZ’s lending and investments, and BNZ’s margins. Policy easing would
be expected to reduce short-term downside risks to growth, but has the potential to build on existing
imbalances in various asset classes and regions. Policy easing may also reduce the impetus for highly
geared borrowers to deleverage thereby increasing the credit risk posed to BNZ by these highly
geared customers.

As a key trading partner, China’s economic growth is important to NZ, with export income and
business investment exposed to any sharp slowdown in the rapid pace of Chinese economic growth.
Due to its export mix, NZ’s economy is exposed to any slowdown in China. Any such slowdown
could therefore have a negative impact on BNZ’s customers who have material exposure to China
and its economy, and may give rise to increasing levels of customer defaults.

Phase One of the ‘Economic and Trade Agreement between the United States of America and the
People’s Republic of China’ (Phase One Agreement) was signed in January 2020. Despite this, the
bulk of the tariffs imposed by both countries remain in place and continuing trade and other tensions
remain which present additional uncertainty and pose risks to global economic growth. Although
China is the primary target of the United States trade measures, value chain linkages mean that other
emerging markets, primarily in Asia, may also be impacted. A number of East Asian economies are
major trading partners of NZ and accordingly a negative impact on their economies may increase the
credit risk facing BNZ.

Geopolitical risks continue to present uncertainty to the global economic outlook, with negative
impacts on consumption and business investment. An increasing fragmentation of, and a rise in
populism in, many major democratic economies have led to difficulties in policy implementation and
an increase in anti-globalisation sentiment. As the UK and the EU have yet to agree on the terms of
their relationship post the current transition period, the prospect of an economically damaging ‘hard’
Brexit remains a risk.

In fiscal year 2020, Australia, NZ’s second largest export market, entered into a recession, largely
due to weakness in household demand, which has been exacerbated by COVID-19 and the
containment measures implemented in response thereto. NZ has also entered a recession, largely due
to reduced tourism earnings and lower business outputs. A continued slowdown in economic growth
in Australia and NZ and any resulting increase in unemployment may negatively impact debt
servicing levels, increase customer defaults and negatively impact BNZ’s financial performance and
position and its profitability.
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o As a commodity exporting economy, NZ is exposed to shifts in global commodity prices that can be
sudden, sizeable and difficult to predict. Fluctuations in commodity markets can affect key economic
variables like national income tax receipts and exchange rates. Previous sharp declines in commodity
prices in NZ were driven by sub-trend global growth constraining demand, combined with increases
in commodity supply. Commodity price volatility remains substantial and given BNZ’s sizeable
exposures to commaodity producing and trading businesses, this volatility poses a significant source
of credit risk to BNZ.

Market Risk

Market risk is the risk of loss from BNZ’s trading activities. BNZ may suffer losses as a result of a change in
the value of BNZ’s positions in financial instruments or their hedges due to adverse movements in market
prices. Adverse price movements impacting BNZ may occur in credit spreads, interest rates, foreign
exchange rates, and commodity and equity prices, in particular during periods of heightened market volatility
or reduced liquidity. Since March 2020, global financial markets have become more volatile due to the
impact of COVID-19. The full economic impact of COVID-19 remains uncertain.

Credit spread risk is the risk of BNZ’s market operations and trading activities being exposed to movements
in the value of securities and derivatives as a result of changes in the perceived credit quality of the
underlying company or issuer. Credit spread risk accumulates in BNZ’s market operations and trading
activities when it provides risk transfer services to customers seeking to buy or sell fixed income securities
(such as corporate bonds). BNZ may also be exposed to credit spread risk when holding an inventory of
fixed income securities in anticipation of customer demand or undertaking market-making activity (i.e.
guoting buy and sell prices to customers) in fixed income securities. BNZ’s trading book is also exposed to
credit spread risk through credit valuation adjustments. A widening of credit spreads could negatively impact
the value of the Credit Valuation Adjustment book.

Interest rate risk is the risk of BNZ’s market operations and trading activities being exposed to changes in the
value of securities and derivatives as a result of changes in interest rates. BNZ’s market operations and
trading activities accumulate interest rate risk when BNZ provides interest rate hedging solutions for
customers, holds interest rate risk in anticipation of customer requirements or undertakes market-making
activity in fixed income securities or interest rate derivatives.

The occurrence of any event giving rise to a material trading loss may have a negative impact on BNZ’s
financial performance and financial position.

Balance Sheet and Liquidity Risk

Balance sheet and liquidity risk comprises key banking book structural risks of BNZ such as liquidity risk,
funding risk, interest rate risk, capital risk and foreign exchange risk.

BNZ is exposed to funding and liquidity risk

Funding risk is the risk that BNZ is unable to raise short and long-term funding to support its ongoing
operations, strategic plans and objectives. BNZ accesses domestic and global capital markets to help fund its
business, in addition to using customer deposits. Dislocation in any of these capital markets, reduced investor
interest in BNZ’s securities and/or reduced customer deposits, may adversely affect BNZ’s funding and
liquidity position, increase the cost of obtaining funds or impose unfavourable terms on BNZ’s access to
funds, constrain the volume of new lending, or adversely affect BNZ’s capital position.

Liquidity risk is the risk that BNZ is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. These
obligations include the repayment of deposits on demand or at their contractual maturity, the repayment of
wholesale borrowings and loan capital as they mature, the payment of interest on borrowings and the
payment of operational expenses and taxes. BNZ must also comply with APRA prudential and regulatory
liquidity obligations as part of the NAB Group. Any significant deterioration in BNZ’s liquidity position
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may lead to an increase in BNZ’s funding costs, constrain the volume of new lending or cause BNZ to
breach its prudential or regulatory liquidity obligations. This may adversely impact BNZ’s reputation and
financial performance and position.

BNZ’s capital position may be constrained by prudential requirements

Capital risk is the risk that BNZ does not hold sufficient capital and reserves to cover exposures and to
protect against unexpected losses. Capital is the cornerstone of BNZ’s financial strength. It supports BNZ’s
operations by providing a buffer to absorb unanticipated losses from its activities.

BNZ is required by its prudential obligations to hold minimum levels of capital relative to the size of its
balance sheet and its operational risk profile.

BNZ must comply with prudential requirements in relation to capital in NZ. Compliance with these
requirements and any further changes to these requirements may:

o Require BNZ to raise more capital (in an absolute sense) or raise more capital of higher quality.
o Restrict balance sheet growth.

In response to the impacts of COVID-19, the RBNZ has prohibited the payment of dividends on ordinary
shares by NZ-incorporated registered banks and has stated that those banks should not redeem non-CET1
capital instruments (other than on a stated final maturity date) until 31 March 2021, or later if required, to
support the stability of the NZ financial system.

Additionally, if the information or the assumptions upon which BNZ’s capital requirements are assessed
prove to be inaccurate, this may adversely impact BNZ’s operations, financial performance and financial
position.

A significant downgrade in BNZ’s credit ratings may adversely impact its cost of funds and capital market
access

Credit ratings are an assessment of a borrower’s creditworthiness and may be used by market participants in
evaluating BNZ and its products, services and securities. Credit rating agencies conduct ongoing review
activities, which can result in changes to credit rating settings and outlooks for BNZ, or sovereign
jurisdictions where BNZ conducts business. Credit ratings may be affected by operational and market
factors, or changes in the credit rating agency’s rating methodologies.

On 7 April 2020, Fitch downgraded the long-term credit ratings of the four major NZ banks, including BNZ,
from “AA-" to “A+” with a negative outlook, and their short-term credit ratings from “F1+” to “F1”. On 8
April 2020, S&P revised its outlook for the major NZ banks, including BNZ, to negative from stable. S&P
reaffirmed the long-term and short-term credit ratings at “AA-" and “A-1+" respectively. The changes by
Fitch and S&P follow similar changes in relation to the major Australian banks (including BNZ’s ultimate
parent, NAB).

A downgrade in the credit ratings or outlook of BNZ, BNZ’s securities, or the sovereign rating of one or
more of the countries in which BNZ conducts business, may increase BNZ’s cost of funds or limit access to
capital markets. This may also cause a deterioration of the liquidity position and trigger additional collateral
requirements in derivative contracts and other secured funding arrangements. A significant downgrade to
BNZ’s credit ratings relative to peers may also adversely impact BNZ’s competitive position and financial
performance and position.

BNZ’s financial performance and capital position may be adversely impacted by interest rate fluctuations
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Interest rate risk is the risk to BNZ’s financial performance and capital position caused by changes in interest
rates. Factors which may affect the level of interest rate risk include all on-balance sheet and off-balance
sheet items that create an interest rate risk exposure within BNZ.

As interest rates and yield curves change over time, including negative interest rates in certain countries and,
potentially, in NZ, BNZ may be exposed to a loss in earnings and economic value due to the interest rate
profile of its balance sheet. Such exposure may arise from a mismatch between the maturity profile of BNZ’s
lending portfolio compared to its deposit portfolio (and other funding sources), as well as the extent to which
lending and deposit products can be repriced as interest rates approach zero or become negative, thereby
impacting net interest margin. This may adversely impact BNZ’s competitive position and financial
performance and financial position.

BNZ may fail to or be unable to sell down its underwriting risk

As a financial intermediary, BNZ underwrites or guarantees different types of transactions, risks and
outcomes, including the placement of listed and unlisted debt. The underwriting obligation or guarantee may
be over the pricing and placement of these securities, and BNZ may therefore be exposed to potential losses,
which may be significant, if it fails to sell down some or all of this risk to other market participants.

The value of BNZ’s banking book may be adversely impacted by foreign exchange rates

Foreign exchange and translation risk arise from the impact of currency movements on the value of BNZ’s
cash flows, profits and losses and assets and liabilities due to participation in global financial markets and
international operations.

BNZ’s financial statements are prepared and presented in New Zealand dollars, and any adverse fluctuations
in the New Zealand dollar against other currencies in which BNZ invests or transacts and generates profits
(or incurs losses) may adversely impact its financial performance and position.

Operational Risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems
or external events. This includes legal risk, but excludes strategic risk.

There are reputational implications inherent in BNZ’s operations due to the range of customers, products and
services BNZ provides and the multiple markets and channels these products and services are delivered
through.

BNZ’s workforce has been and may continue to be impacted by COVID-19. BNZ takes all reasonable steps
to protect its colleagues and customers. However, there is no certainty that all the precautions BNZ has taken
to protect its colleagues and customers will be adequate or appropriate. It is difficult to predict the extent to
which each colleague’s ability to provide customer support and service and maintain their own health will be
affected over an extended period.

Disruption to technology may adversely impact BNZ’s reputation and operations

Most of BNZ’s operations depend on technology, and therefore the reliability, resilience and security of
BNZ’s (and its third-party vendors’) information technology systems and infrastructure are essential to the
effective operation of its business and consequently to its financial performance and position. The reliability
and resilience of BNZ’s technology may be impacted by the complex technology environment, failure to
keep technology systems up-to-date, an inability to restore or recover systems and data in acceptable
timeframes, or a physical or cyber-attack.

The rapid evolution of technology in the financial services industry and the increased expectation of
customers for internet and mobile services on demand expose BNZ to changing operational scenarios.
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Any disruption to BNZ’s technology (including disruption to the technology systems of BNZ’s external
providers) may be wholly or partially beyond BNZ’s control and may result in operational disruption;
regulatory enforcement actions; customer redress; litigation; financial losses; theft or loss of customer data;
loss of market share; loss of property or information; or may adversely impact BNZ’s speed and agility in the
delivery of change and innovation.

In addition, any such disruption may adversely affect BNZ’s reputation including the view of regulators or
ratings agencies, which may result in loss of customers, ratings downgrades and regulatory censure or
penalties. Social media commentary may further exacerbate such adverse outcomes for BNZ and negatively
impact BNZ’s reputation.

Privacy, information security and data breaches may adversely impact BNZ'’s reputation and operations

BNZ processes, stores and transmits large amounts of personal and confidential information through its
technology systems and networks. Threats to information security are constantly evolving and techniques
used to perpetrate cyber-attacks are increasingly sophisticated.

Although BNZ invests in protecting the confidentiality and integrity of this information, BNZ may not
always be able to anticipate a security threat, or be able to implement effective information security policies,
procedures and controls to prevent or minimise the resulting damage. BNZ uses select external providers (in
NZ and overseas) to process and store confidential data and to develop and provide its technology services,
including the increasing use of cloud infrastructure.

A breach of security at any of these external providers or within BNZ may result in: operational disruption;
theft or loss of customer data; a breach of privacy laws; regulatory enforcement actions; customer redress;
litigation; financial losses; or loss of market share; property or information. This may be wholly or partially
beyond the control of BNZ and may adversely impact its financial performance and position.

In addition, any such event may give rise to increased regulatory scrutiny or adversely affect the view of
ratings agencies. Social media and responses to the relevant event may exacerbate the impact on BNZ’s
reputation.

Deficient policies, processes, controls, infrastructure and models give rise to a significant risk to BNZ’s
operations

BNZ is reliant on its policies, processes, controls and supporting infrastructure functioning as designed,
along with third parties appropriately managing their own operational risk and delivering services to BNZ as
required. A failure in the design or operation of these policies, processes, controls and infrastructure, failure
of BNZ to manage external service providers, or the disablement of a supporting system all pose a significant
risk to BNZ’s operations and consequently its financial performance and reputation.

Reputational damage may adversely impact BNZ’s ability to pursue new business opportunities.
Reputational damage may also result in a higher risk premium being applied to BNZ, and impact the cost of
funding BNZ’s operations or its financial condition.

Models are used extensively in the conduct of BNZ’s business, for example, in calculating capital
requirements or customer compensation payments and measuring and stressing exposures. If the models used
prove to be inadequate or are based on incorrect or invalid assumptions, judgements or inputs, this may
adversely affect BNZ’s customers and BNZ’s financial performance and position.

BNZ is exposed to the risk of human error
BNZ’s business, including the internal processes and systems that support in business decisions, relies on

inputs from its employees, agents and third-party vendors. BNZ is exposed to operational risk due to process
or human errors including incorrect or incomplete data capture and records maintenance, incorrect or
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incomplete documentation to support activities, or inadequate design of processes or controls. BNZ uses
select external providers (in NZ and overseas) to provide services to BNZ and is exposed to similar risks
arising from such failures in the operating environment of its external providers. The materialisation of any
of these risks could lead to direct financial loss, loss of customer, employee or commercially sensitive data,
regulatory penalties and reputational damage.

BNZ may not be able to attract and retain suitable personnel

BNZ is dependent on its ability to attract and retain key executives, colleagues and Board members with a
deep understanding of banking and technology, who are qualified to execute BNZ’s strategy, as well as the
technology transformation BNZ is undertaking to meet the changing needs of its customers. Weaknesses in
employment practices, including diversity, discrimination and workplace health and safety, are sources of
operational risk that can impact BNZ’s ability to attract and retain qualified personnel with the requisite
knowledge, skills and capability.

BNZ’s capacity to attract and retain key personnel is dependent on its ability to design and implement
effective remuneration structures. This process may be constrained by regulatory requirements (particularly
in the highly regulated financial services sector).

The unexpected loss of key resources or the inability to attract personnel with suitable experience may
adversely impact BNZ’s ability to operate effectively and efficiently, or to meet BNZ’s strategic objectives.

External events may adversely impact BNZ’s operations

Operational risk can arise from external events such as biological hazards, climate change, natural disasters
or acts of terrorism.

External events include epidemics or pandemics such as the outbreak of COVID-19, which has interrupted
the usual operations of BNZ, its customers and suppliers.

This disruption has resulted in the implementation of BNZ’s business continuity plan to protect the health,
safety and well-being of its customers and colleagues. The steps taken include alternate work locations and
arrangements being implemented for BNZ colleagues, a decreased reliance on property infrastructure, and an
increased reliance on mobile technology and business process changes to support customers, colleagues and
suppliers and ensure continuity of BNZ’s business operations. These operational changes could lead to direct
financial loss or impact BNZ’s ability to operate effectively and efficiently. No assurance can be given that
the steps being taken will be adequate nor can BNZ predict the level of further disruption which may occur.

BNZ is monitoring the situation closely as the domestic and global business environment changes and it is
unclear how this will evolve or for how long BNZ will continue to operate under its business continuity plan.
Other epidemics or pandemics may arise in future which may again activate a crisis response causing
disruption to BNZ’s operations.

In addition, BNZ has branches and office buildings in Christchurch and Wellington in NZ, which have
experienced significant earthquakes and aftershocks in recent years, and which may be exposed to the risk of
future earthquakes.

Given BNZ’s physical presence in the central business districts of major cities in NZ, it may also be exposed
to the risk of a terrorist attack.

External events such as extreme weather, natural disasters, biological hazards and acts of terrorism may
cause property damage and business disruption, which may adversely impact BNZ’s financial performance.
In addition, if BNZ is unable to manage the impacts of such external events, it may lead to reputational
damage and compromise BNZ’s ability to provide a safe workplace for its personnel.

0083121-0000440 UKO2: 2001152480.25 49



The environment BNZ is operating in has become more complex and more uncertain and could create
operational risks that are yet to be identified.

Compliance Risk

Compliance risk is the risk of failing to understand and comply with relevant laws, regulations, licence
conditions, supervisory requirements, self-regulatory industry codes of conduct and voluntary initiatives.

BNZ may be involved in a breach or alleged breach of laws governing bribery, corruption and financial
crime

Supervision, regulation and enforcement of anti-bribery and corruption, anti-money laundering, countering
financing of terrorism laws and international sanctions laws (collectively referred to as AML/CFT) has
increased.

BNZ has reported a number of potential AML/CFT compliance issues to the RBNZ and has responded to a
number of requests from the RBNZ requiring the production of documents and information. BNZ is
currently investigating and remediating a number of potential AML/CFT compliance issues. The potential
outcome and total costs associated with the investigation and remediation process remain uncertain. A
negative outcome to any investigation or remediation process may adversely impact BNZ’s reputation,
business, financial position and results. Further, given the large volume of transactions that BNZ processes,
the undetected failure of internal AML/CFT controls, or the ineffective implementation or remediation of
compliance issues, could result in a significant number of breaches of AML/CFT obligations and significant
monetary penalties for BNZ.

Refer to ‘Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements — Note 16 — Contingent Liabilities and
Other Commitments’ on page 25 of BNZ’s Disclosure Statement for the six months ended 31 March 2020
(the March 2020 HY Disclosure Statement), which is incorporated by reference in this Offering Circular,
for more information.

Ensuring compliance with laws and regulations that apply to BNZ is complex and costly

BNZ is highly regulated and subject to various regulatory regimes which differ across the jurisdictions in
which it conducts its own business or has some connection through being a member of the NAB Group.

Ensuring compliance with all applicable laws is complex. There is a risk BNZ will be unable to implement
the processes and controls required by relevant laws and regulations in a timely manner or that BNZ’s
internal controls will prove to be inadequate or ineffective in ensuring compliance. There is also a potential
risk of misinterpreting new or existing regulations. Any failure to comply with relevant laws and regulations
may have a negative impact on BNZ’s reputation and financial performance and position and may give rise
to representative actions, regulatory enforcement or litigation.

In addition, there is significant cost associated with the systems, processes, controls and personnel required
to ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulations. Such costs may negatively impact BNZ’s
financial performance and position.

BNZ may be exposed to losses if critical accounting judgements and estimates are subsequently found to be
incorrect

Preparation of BNZ’s financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions and to
exercise judgement in applying relevant accounting policies, each of which may directly impact the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. A higher degree of judgement is required for the
estimates used in the calculation of provisions (including for customer-related remediation and other
regulatory matters), the determination of income tax, the valuation of financial assets and liabilities
(including fair value and credit impairment of loans and advances) and the valuation of goodwill and
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intangible assets. Changes in the methodology or assumptions on which the assessment of goodwill and
intangible balances is based, together with expected changes in future cash flows (including changes flowing
from current and potential regulatory reforms), could result in the potential write-off of a part or all of that
goodwill or intangible balances.

If the judgements, estimates and assumptions used by BNZ in preparing financial statements are
subsequently found to be incorrect, there could be a significant loss to BNZ beyond that anticipated or
provided for, which may adversely impact BNZ’s reputation, and financial performance and position.

BNZ may be exposed to litigation and contingent liabilities

BNZ may be involved from time to time in legal proceedings arising from the conduct of its business. The
aggregate potential liability and costs in respect thereof cannot be estimated with any certainty.

Where appropriate, provisions are held for conduct and litigation matters, regulatory and internal
investigations based on a number of assumptions derived from a combination of past experience, forecasts,
industry comparison and the exercise of subjective judgement based on (where appropriate) external
professional advice. As with other accounting judgements, risks and uncertainties remain in relation to these
assumptions and the ultimate costs of redress to BNZ. There is inherent uncertainty regarding the possible
outcome of any court proceedings involving BNZ. It is also possible that representative actions, regulatory
investigations, civil or criminal proceedings or the imposition of new licence conditions could arise in
relation to these matters or other matters of which BNZ is not yet aware.

A negative outcome to investigations or litigation involving BNZ may divert management time from
operations and adversely impact BNZ’s reputation, and financial performance and position. Refer to ‘Notes
to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements — Note 16 — Contingent liabilities and Other Commitments’
on page 25 of the March 2020 HY Disclosure Statement, which is incorporated by reference in this Offering
Circular, for details in relation to BNZ’s contingent liabilities which may impact BNZ.

Conduct Risk

Conduct risk is the risk of negative outcomes arising as a result of behaviour or actions of BNZ, or those
acting on behalf of BNZ, that lead to unfair customer, employee, community or other stakeholder outcomes.

BNZ is heavily reliant on its employees, contractors and external suppliers acting in an appropriate and
ethical way

Organisational culture can greatly influence individual and group behaviours, which can expose an
organisation and lead to unfair outcomes. The behaviours that could expose BNZ to conduct risk include:

. Selling, providing or unduly influencing customers to purchase or receive, products or services that
may not meet their existing needs or that place the customer at risk of future hardship.

. Being a party to fraud.

o Non-adherence to applicable requirements or providing financial advice which is not appropriate or
in the customers’ interests.

. Delays in appropriately escalating regulatory and compliance issues.

. Failure to resolve issues and remediate customers in a timely manner.

. Failure to deliver on product and service commitments.

. Failure to remediate business processes and stop reoccurrence in a timely manner.
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In addition, events such as COVID-19 can result in rapid changes to the internal and external business
environment and subsequent changes to business processes to support customers. This may impact both the
likelihood and the consequence of unfair outcomes to customers, including through decisions and actions
where the trade-offs or tail risks may not be immediately apparent or quantifiable. BNZ is making significant
efforts to support its customers in an appropriate way during the COVID-19 pandemic including through
regular customer communication and redeployment of colleagues into customer-facing roles. However, no
assurance can be given that the steps being taken will not have unintended consequences in the future or that
they will meet the future expectations of BNZ’s regulators. BNZ cannot predict the level of further
disruption which may occur.

If BNZ’s conduct related controls were to fail significantly, be set inappropriately, or not meet legal,
regulatory or community expectations, then BNZ may be exposed to:

. Increased costs of compliance, fines, additional capital requirements, public censure, loss of
customer confidence, representative actions and other litigation, settlements and restitution to
customers or communities.

o Increased supervision, oversight or enforcement by regulators or other stakeholders.
. Unenforceability of contracts such as loans, guarantees and other security documents.
o Enforced suspension of operations, amendments to licence conditions or loss of licence to operate all

or part of BNZ’s businesses.
° Other enforcement or administrative action or agreements, including legal proceedings.

A failure of BNZ’s conduct controls to accurately reflect relevant legal, regulatory or community
expectations may adversely impact BNZ’s reputation, financial performance and financial position.

Regulatory Risk

Regulatory risk is the risk of failing to identify or appropriately respond to changes to the regulatory
environment or of damaging BNZ’s standing with its regulators as a result of BNZ not meeting regulatory
expectations.

Extensive regulatory change poses a significant risk to BNZ

Globally, the financial services and banking industries are subject to a significant and increasing level of
regulatory reviews and political scrutiny, including in NZ. Changes to laws and regulations or their
interpretation and application can be unpredictable, are beyond BNZ’s control, and may not be harmonised
across the jurisdictions in which BNZ conducts business or has some connection through being a member of
the NAB Group.

Regulatory change may result in significant capital and compliance costs, changes to BNZ’s corporate
structure and increasing demands on management, colleagues and information technology systems. This may
also impact the viability of BNZ’s participation in certain markets or require the divestment of a part of
BNZ’s business.

The NZ Government and its agencies, including the RBNZ and the FMA have supervisory oversight of
BNZ, as does APRA, indirectly through its supervisory oversight of the NAB Group. BNZ expects a
continued increase in regulatory focus on capital and liquidity requirements, macro-prudential tools,
customer outcomes and other aspects of its business that may impose increased regulatory burdens. BNZ’s
failure to comply with applicable laws, regulations or codes of practice could result in the imposition of
sanctions by agencies or compensatory action by affected persons, and could damage BNZ’s reputation and
financial position.
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BNZ is a registered bank under the RBNZ Act and supervised by the RBNZ. BNZ is subject to conditions of
registration imposed by the RBNZ (Conditions of Registration). The Conditions of Registration may be
changed at any time and any changes may be beyond BNZ’s control. If the RBNZ concluded that BNZ did
not satisfy the Conditions of Registration, sanctions could be imposed on BNZ. These sanctions could
include disclosure of the breach, increases in required levels of capital, fines, additional limitations on the
conduct of BNZ’s business and, in the case of a material breach or breaches, cancellation of BNZ’s
registration as a bank or a recommendation that BNZ be placed under statutory management. In addition, the
RBNZ could require BNZ to take additional steps and incur additional expense to comply with the
Conditions of Registration.

Reviews and regulatory reforms currently relevant to BNZ which present a potential regulatory risk include:

In 2018 and 2019, the FMA and the RBNZ undertook a review of conduct and culture in the
financial services industry. Alongside industry-wide recommendations released as a result of the
review, further specific findings were provided to individual NZ banks (including BNZ) in
November 2018. The review led to the NZ Government introducing the Amendment Bill to
Parliament in December 2019 to create an oversight and licensing regime for regulating conduct in
the banking, non-bank deposit taking and insurance sectors. The Amendment Bill was initially
expected to be passed by the end of 2020, but this timeframe may be delayed as a result of COVID-
19.

In 2018, the FMA and the RBNZ also undertook a review of life insurance providers in NZ,
releasing their thematic report in January 2019 and insurer specific reports in February 2019. BNZ
distributes insurance products, including those manufactured by BNZ Life Insurance Limited which
provided its response to the FMA and RBNZ review in June 2019. The proposed new conduct
legislation described above will also cover insurers and is likely to result in increased regulatory
scrutiny of the financial services and banking industry in NZ, which could adversely impact BNZ’s
reputation, operations, financial performance and position.

The RBNZ released its revised capital requirements for NZ banks in December 2019. The final
capital requirements include: an increase to RWA for internal ratings based (IRB) banks such as
BNZ; an increase in the CET1 capital requirement equal to 13.5 per cent. of RWA (including a
prudential capital buffer (PCB) of 9 per cent. of RWA) for banks deemed systemically important
(which includes BNZ); an increase in the Tier 1 capital requirement equal to 16 per cent. of RWA
for banks deemed systemically important; and an increase in the Total Capital requirement equal to
18 per cent. of RWA for banks deemed systemically important. Due to significant uncertainties
arising from the impacts of COVID-19, the RBNZ has delayed the start of increases in the PCB until
1 July 2022. The increase in the IRB scalar applied to RWA calculations by IRB banks will also be
delayed to 1 October 2022. The RBNZ has stated that it will reconfirm the timing of the start of
increases in the PCB and the increase in IRB scalar before the end of 2021, and will consider making
further amendments to the timing if the economic conditions warrant it. From 1 January 2022, IRB
banks will be required to report IRB and RBNZ standardised capital calculations and implement an
output floor on IRB exposure at 85 per cent. of what would be calculated under the RBNZ
standardised approach. Other aspects of the RBNZ’s review of bank capital will proceed from the
middle of 2021 onwards. Some aspects of the framework (including the detailed regulatory
requirements to be included in the capital standards) are still to be confirmed in consultation papers
expected to be released later in 2021. The ultimate impact on BNZ is uncertain and will depend on
various factors, including BNZ’s balance sheet size over the implementation period, and the
potential mitigating actions undertaken.

The NZ Government is undertaking a comprehensive review of the RBNZ's legislative framework,
the RBNZ Act. In December 2019, the NZ Government released policy decisions following the
second round of consultation on Phase 2 of the review, including the decision to replace the RBNZ
Act. These policy decisions are split into two parts: (1) policy decisions that relate to the governance
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of, and accountability arrangements for, the RBNZ; and (2) policy decisions that relate to the
regulation of deposit takers, the introduction of a deposit insurance scheme, and changes to the NZ
bank crisis resolution framework which will be set out under a 'Deposit Takers Act'. The Reserve
Bank of New Zealand Bill (RBNZ Bill), which implements the first set of policy decisions, was
introduced into the NZ Parliament in July 2020. The NZ Government plans to make final policy
decisions on the proposed Deposit Takers Act and deposit insurance scheme in late 2020, following
a third round of public consultation, and to progress legislation after that. The full scope, timeline
and potential impact of these policy decisions is currently uncertain.

In addition, there are a number of other ongoing or proposed regulatory changes and inquiries within NZ and
globally that are relevant to BNZ such as changes to financial benchmarks; derivatives reform; payments;
data protection and privacy laws; data quality; competition inquiries; financial crime legislation; increasing
modern slavery, climate and other sustainability risk related regulatory and reporting requirements;
accounting and financial reporting requirements; tax reform; the provision of financial advice; and the
development of a consumer data right.

Additionally, continued regulator focus on COVID-19 related impacts (such as loan deferrals) has resulted in
temporary changes to a number of regulatory requirements

The full scope, timeline and impact of current and potential inquiries and regulatory reforms such as those
mentioned above, or how they will be implemented (if at all in some cases), is not known. The challenges
raised by COVID-19 have caused a number of regulators to postpone or suspend planned policy and
supervision initiatives, public consultations and the implementation dates of a number of regulatory reforms.

The impact of COVID-19 on BNZ’s operations may result in delays in its ability to implement regulatory
change. The extent of any delays will be dependent on how regulators choose to adjust the prioritisation,
timing and deployment of their supervisory mandate or legislative change.

Depending on the specific nature of the regulatory change requirements and how and when they are
implemented or enforced, they may have an adverse impact on BNZ’s business, operations, structure,
compliance costs or capital requirements, and ultimately its reputation, and financial performance and
position.

Regulatory investigations may expose BNZ to the risk of enforcement action

Since 2015, BNZ has been reviewing its compliance with the Credit Contracts and Consumer Finance Act
2003 (CCCFA), with a particular focus on disclosure requirements. As part of this process, in late 2018,
BNZ provided information to the NZ Commerce Commission (Commerce Commission) in relation to
issues identified regarding the level and timing of disclosure made to certain credit and loan product
customers, and the remediation of these customers. In May 2019, the Commerce Commission informed
BNZ that it had commenced an investigation into BNZ’s compliance with particular disclosure requirements
under the CCCFA. Following that investigation, BNZ is now completing a remediation programme agreed
with the Commerce Commission.

The impact of COVID-19 on BNZ’s operations may result in delays to BNZ’s delivery on prior
commitments. Any delays will be dependent on how regulators choose to adjust the prioritisation, timing and
deployment of their supervisory mandate or legislative change.

FACTORS WHICH ARE MATERIAL FOR THE PURPOSE OF ASSESSING THE MARKET
RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH NOTES ISSUED UNDER THE PROGRAMME

Risks related to the structure of a particular issue of Notes

A range of Notes may be issued under the Programme. A number of these Notes may have features which
contain particular risks for potential investors. Set out below is a description of the most common such
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features, distinguishing between factors which may occur in relation to any Notes and those which might
occur in relation to certain types of Exempt Notes:

Risks applicable to certain Notes

If the relevant Issuer has the right to redeem any Notes at its option, this may limit the market value of the
Notes concerned and an investor may not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds in a manner which
achieves a similar effective return

An optional redemption feature is likely to limit the market value of Notes. During any period when the
relevant Issuer may elect to redeem Notes, the market value of those Notes generally will not rise
substantially above the price at which they can be redeemed. This also may be true prior to any redemption
period.

The relevant Issuer may be expected to redeem Senior Notes and Guaranteed Senior Notes when its cost of
borrowing is lower than the interest rate on those Senior Notes and Guaranteed Senior Notes. At those times,
an investor generally would not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds at an effective interest rate as
high as the interest rate on the Senior Notes and Guaranteed Senior Notes being redeemed and may only be
able to do so at a significantly lower rate. Potential investors should consider reinvestment risk in light of
other investments available at that time.

Under certain circumstances, NAB will have the right to redeem or repurchase Subordinated Notes before
their stated maturity. However, it may only do so with APRA’s approval. Noteholders should not expect
that APRA's approval will be given for any early redemption of Subordinated Notes.

If the Notes include a feature to convert the interest basis from a fixed rate to a floating rate, or vice versa,
this may affect the secondary market and the market value of the Notes concerned

Fixed/Floating Rate Notes are Notes which bear interest at a rate that converts from a fixed rate to a floating
rate, or from a floating rate to a fixed rate. Such a feature to convert the interest basis, and any conversion of
the interest basis, may affect the secondary market in, and the market value of, the Notes as the change of
interest basis may result in a lower return for Noteholders. Where the Notes convert from a fixed rate to a
floating rate, the spread on the Fixed/Floating Rate Notes may be less favourable than then prevailing
spreads on comparable Floating Rate Notes tied to the same reference rate. In addition, the new floating rate
at any time may be lower than the rates on other Notes. Where the Notes convert from a floating rate to a
fixed rate, the fixed rate may be lower than then prevailing rates on those Notes and could affect the market
value of an investment in the relevant Notes.

Holders of Notes issued in the form of global Notes and deposited with a common depositary or common
safekeeper for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, a sub-custodian for the CMU or with a hominee for
DTC will have to rely on their procedures, including for transfer, payment and communications

Notes issued under the Programme will be represented on issue by one or more global Notes that may be
deposited with a common depositary or common safekeeper for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, a
sub-custodian for the CMU or with a nominee for DTC (each as defined under "Form of the Notes™). Except
in the circumstances described in each global Note, investors will not be entitled to receive Notes in
definitive form. Each of DTC, CMU, Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and their respective direct and
indirect participants will maintain records of the beneficial interests in each global Note held through it.
While the Notes are represented by a global Note, investors will be able to trade their beneficial interests
only through the relevant clearing systems and their respective participants, and investors will have to rely
on the procedures of the relevant clearing system and of their respective participants, including for transfer,
payment and communications.

A holder of a beneficial interest in a global Note must rely on the procedures of the relevant clearing system
and its participants to receive payments under the Notes. The relevant Issuer has no responsibility or liability
for the records relating to, or payments made in respect of, beneficial interests in any global Note.
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Notes which are issued at a substantial discount or premium may experience price volatility in response to
changes in market interest rates

The market values of securities issued at a substantial discount (such as Zero Coupon Notes) or premium
from their principal amount tend to fluctuate more in relation to general changes in interest rates than do
prices for more conventional interest-bearing securities. Generally, the longer the remaining term of such
securities, the greater the price volatility as compared to more conventional interest-bearing securities with
comparable maturities.

The obligations of the relevant Issuer and (in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes) the Guarantor under the
Notes are structurally subordinated to the indebtedness and other obligations, including trade payables, of
the subsidiaries of the relevant Issuer and (in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes) the Guarantor

The obligations of the relevant Issuer and (in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes) the Guarantor under the
Notes are structurally subordinated to all indebtedness and other obligations, including trade payables, of the
subsidiaries of the relevant Issuer and (in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes) the Guarantor. The effect of
this structural subordination is that, in the event of a bankruptcy, liquidation, dissolution, reorganisation or
similar proceeding involving a subsidiary of the relevant Issuer or (in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes)
the Guarantor, the assets of the affected entity could not be used to pay holders of the relevant Notes until all
other claims against that subsidiary, including trade payables, have been fully paid.

The regulation and reform of benchmarks may adversely affect the value of Notes linked to or referencing
such benchmarks

Interest rates and indices which are deemed to be “benchmarks” (including, amongst others, LIBOR,
EURIBOR, BBSW and BKBM, each as defined below or in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes) are the
subject of ongoing national and international regulatory guidance and proposals for reform. Some of these
reforms are already effective whilst others are still to be implemented. These reforms may cause such
benchmarks to perform differently than in the past, to disappear entirely, or have other consequences which
cannot be predicted. Any such consequence could have a material adverse effect on any Notes referencing
such a benchmark.

In Australia, examples of reforms that are already effective include changes to the methodology for
calculation of BBSW, and amendments to the Corporations Act made by the Treasury Laws Amendment
(2017 Measures No. 5) Act 2018 of Australia which, among other things, enable ASIC to make rules relating
to the generation and administration of financial benchmarks. On 6 June 2018, ASIC designated BBSW as a
“significant financial benchmark” and made the ASIC Financial Benchmark (Administration) Rules 2018
and the ASIC Financial Benchmarks (Compelled) Rules 2018. On 27 June 2019, ASIC granted ASX
Benchmarks Pty Limited a licence to administer BBSW.

In NZ, the Financial Markets (Derivatives Margin and Benchmarking) Reform Amendment Act 2019
(FMRA Act) was enacted in August 2019. When the provisions of the FMRA Act relating to financial
benchmarks come into effect, they will amend the Financial Markets Conduct Act 2013 of New Zealand
(FMC Act) to establish a new licensing regime for administrators of financial benchmarks. These
amendments aim to ensure that NZ's regulatory regime for financial benchmarks (including the NZ Bank Bill
Benchmark Rate (BKBM)) meets the equivalence requirements for the purposes of the Benchmarks
Regulation.

In Europe, the Benchmarks Regulation applies, subject to certain transitional provisions, to the provision of
benchmarks, the contribution of input data to a benchmark and the use of a benchmark within the EU (which,
for these purposes, includes the United Kingdom). It, among other things, (i) requires benchmark
administrators to be authorised or registered (or, if non-EU-based, to be subject to an equivalent regime or
otherwise recognised or endorsed) and (ii) prevents certain uses by EU supervised entities of benchmarks of
administrators that are not authorised or registered (or, if non-EU based, not deemed equivalent or
recognised or endorsed).
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These reforms (including the Benchmarks Regulation) could have a material impact on any Notes linked to
or referencing a benchmark, in particular, if the methodology or other terms of the relevant benchmark are
changed in order to comply with the requirements imposed thereunder. Such changes could, among other
things, have the effect of reducing, increasing or otherwise affecting the volatility of the published rate or
level of the relevant benchmark.

More broadly, any of the international or national reforms, or the general increased regulatory scrutiny of
benchmarks, could increase the costs and risks of administering or otherwise participating in the setting of a
benchmark and complying with any such regulations or requirements.

Specifically, the FCA has indicated through a series of announcements that the continuation of LIBOR on
the current basis cannot and will not be guaranteed after 2021.

Separately, the euro risk-free rate working group for the euro area has published a set of guiding principles
and high level recommendations for fallback provisions in, amongst other things, new euro denominated
cash products (including bonds) referencing EURIBOR. The guiding principles indicate, among other things,
that continuing to reference EURIBOR in relevant contracts (without robust fallback provisions) may
increase the risk to the euro area financial system.

It is not possible to predict with certainty whether, and to what extent, LIBOR, EURIBOR, BBSW, BKBM,
SONIA, SOFR or any other benchmark will continue to be supported going forwards. This may cause
LIBOR, EURIBOR, BBSW, BKBM, SONIA, SOFR or any other such benchmark to perform differently
than they have done in the past, and may have other consequences which cannot be predicted. The transition
from LIBOR to SONIA or SOFR, as applicable, or from EURIBOR to €STR, or the elimination of LIBOR,
EURIBOR, BBSW, BKBM, SONIA, SOFR or any other benchmark, or changes in the manner of
administration of any benchmark, could require an adjustment to the Terms and Conditions of the Notes, or
result in other consequences, in respect of any Notes referencing such benchmark. Such factors may have
(without limitation) the following effects on certain benchmarks: (i) discouraging market participants from
continuing to administer or contribute to a benchmark; (ii) triggering changes in the rules or methodologies
used in the benchmark and/or (iii) leading to the disappearance of the benchmark.

For instance, SOFR is a relatively new rate, and the New York Federal Reserve (or a successor), as
administrator of SOFR, may make methodological or other changes that could change the value of SOFR,
including changes related to the method by which SOFR is calculated, eligibility criteria applicable to the
transactions used to calculate SOFR, or timing related to the publication of SOFR (which may include
withdrawing, suspending or discontinuing the calculation or dissemination of SOFR). The New York Federal
Reserve may make any or all of these changes in its sole discretion and without notice, and it has no
obligation to consider the interests of holders of the Notes in calculating, withdrawing, modifying, amending,
suspending or discontinuing SOFR. In respect of any SOFR-referenced Notes for which the Rate of Interest
is determined by reference to the SOFR Index, the SOFR Index may be modified or discontinued and such
SOFR-referenced Notes may bear interest by reference to a rate other than compounded SOFR, which could
adversely affect the value of any such SOFR-referenced Notes. The SOFR Index is published by the New
York Federal Reserve based on data received by it from sources other than the Issuers, and the Issuers have
no control over the methods of calculation, publication schedule, rate revision practices or availability of the
SOFR Index at any time. In addition, the New York Federal Reserve may withdraw, modify or amend the
published SOFR Index or SOFR data in its sole discretion and without notice. The interest rate for any
interest period will not be adjusted for any modifications or amendments to the SOFR Index or SOFR data
that the New York Federal Reserve may publish after the interest rate for that interest period has been
determined.

Similarly, SONIA is a relatively new rate, and the Bank of England (or a successor), as administrator of
SONIA, may make methodological or other changes that could change the value of SONIA, including
changes related to the method by which SONIA is calculated, eligibility criteria applicable to the transactions
used to calculate SONIA, or timing related to the publication of SONIA. If the manner in which SONIA is
calculated is changed, that change may result in a reduction of the amount of interest payable on the relevant
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Notes, which may adversely affect the trading prices of such Notes. The administrator of SONIA may
withdraw, modify, amend, suspend or discontinue the calculation or dissemination of SONIA, respectively,
in its sole discretion and without notice and has no obligation to consider the interests of holders of the
Floating Rate Notes in calculating, withdrawing, modifying, amending, suspending or discontinuing SONIA.

In its "Summary and response to market feedback - Supporting Risk-Free Rate transition through the
provision of compounded SONIA" as updated in July 2020, the Bank of England confirmed that it would
produce and, from August 2020, publish, its SONIA Compounded Index using the methodology described in
that paper (and that it would not publish a set of period averages). The provisions of the Terms and
Conditions for determining the Rate of Interest by reference to the SONIA Compounded Index are based
upon the guidance given by the Bank of England in its July 2020 paper for calculating compounded SONIA
rates by reference to the SONIA Compounded Index. There can be no assurance that the Bank of England’s
methodology for determining the SONIA Compounded Index, or its guidance for calculating compounded
SONIA rates by reference to such index, will not change over time.

Any of the above changes or any other consequential changes as a result of international or national
reforms or other initiatives or investigations, could have a material adverse effect on the value of and
return on any Notes linked to, referencing, or otherwise dependent (in whole or in part) upon, a
benchmark. Investors should consult their own independent advisers and make their own assessment
about the potential risks imposed by the Benchmarks Regulation or any of the international or
national reforms and the possible application of the benchmark discontinuation or benchmark
replacement provisions of the Notes in making any investment decision with respect to any Notes
referencing a benchmark.

The Terms and Conditions of certain Floating Rate Notes provide for fallback arrangements that may not
operate as intended or may result in a Rate of Interest on such Notes that would be less than the original
Reference Rate

Investors should be aware that in the case of certain Floating Rate Notes, the Terms and Conditions of the
Notes provide for certain fallback arrangements in the event that a published benchmark, including an inter-
bank offered rate (such as LIBOR or EURIBOR) or another relevant reference rate (such as BBSW or
BKBM) ceases to exist or be published or another Benchmark Event or (where the original benchmark is
SOFR) Benchmark Transition Event (each as defined in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes) occurs.
Where the original benchmark is other than SOFR, these fallback arrangements include the possibility that
the Rate of Interest could be determined by reference to a Successor Rate or an Alternative Rate and that an
Adjustment Spread may be applied to such Successor Rate or Alternative Rate as a result of the replacement
of the relevant benchmark or screen rate (as applicable) originally specified with the Successor Rate or the
Alternative Rate (as the case may be), together with the making of certain Benchmark Amendments to the
Terms and Conditions of such Notes (without the consent of the Noteholders, Receiptholders or
Couponholders, as further described under Condition 5.5(iii) “Benchmark Discontinuation—Benchmark
Amendments” of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes), which in the case of any Alternative Rate, any
Adjustment Spread unless formally recommended or provided for and any Benchmark Amendments shall be
determined by the relevant Issuer (acting in good faith and by reference to such sources as it deems
appropriate, which may include consultation with an Independent Adviser). An Adjustment Spread that is
applied could be positive, negative or zero and may not be effective in reducing or eliminating any economic
prejudice to investors arising out of the replacement of the Original Reference Rate with the Successor Rate
or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be). Where the original benchmark is SOFR, these fallback
arrangements include the possibility that the Rate of Interest could be determined by reference to a
Benchmark Replacement, together with the making of certain Benchmark Replacement Conforming
Changes to the Terms and Conditions of such Notes (without the consent of the Noteholders, Receiptholders
or Couponholders, as further described under Condition 5.2(b)(iii)(E) of the Terms and Conditions of the
Notes). The Rate of Interest on the Notes may therefore cease to be determined by reference to the original
Reference Rate, and instead be determined by reference to the Successor Rate, Alternative Rate or
Benchmark Replacement, as applicable, even if the original Reference Rate continues to be published. Such
Rate of Interest may be lower than that which would result from the original Reference Rate for so long as
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the original Reference Rate continues to be published, and the value of and return on the Notes may be
adversely affected. The use of a Successor Rate or Alternative Rate (including with the application of an
Adjustment Spread) or a Benchmark Replacement (including with the application of Benchmark
Replacement Conforming Changes) will still result in any Notes referencing an original benchmark
performing differently (which may include payment of a lower Rate of Interest) than they would if the
original benchmark were to continue to apply in its current form. In the case of Subordinated Notes, any
Successor Rate, Alternative Rate, Adjustment Spread, Benchmark Amendment, Benchmark Replacement,
Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes and/or Benchmark Replacement Adjustment (as applicable)
determined in accordance with Condition 5.5 or Condition 5.2(b)(iii)(E) (as applicable) will be subject to
APRA’s prior written approval. Investors should note that APRA’s approval may not be given for any
Successor Rate, Alternative Rate, Adjustment Spread, Benchmark Amendment, Benchmark Replacement,
Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes or Benchmark Replacement Adjustment it considers to have
the effect of increasing the Rate of Interest contrary to applicable prudential standards. By way of example,
the prudential standards applicable to the Subordinated Notes prohibit the inclusion of any ‘step-ups’ in
interest rates or other incentives to redeem.

Where the original benchmark is SOFR, the Benchmark Replacement provisions in the Terms and
Conditions of the Notes specify a "waterfall" of alternative rates that may become the Benchmark
Replacement. These alternative rates are uncertain and no market convention currently exists, or may ever
exist, for their determination. For example, the ISDA Fallback Rate, which is the rate referenced in the ISDA
Definitions that is to be effective upon the occurrence of an index cessation date with respect to the
Benchmark for the applicable tenor, has not been established as of the date hereof. Even after the ISDA
Fallback Rate is initially determined, ISDA Definitions and the ISDA Fallback Rate may change over time.
Uncertainty surrounding the establishment of market conventions related to the calculation of the ISDA
Fallback Rate and other alternative rates, and whether any of the alternative rates is a suitable replacement or
successor for the original Reference Rate, may adversely affect the value of and return on Notes referencing
SOFR as the original Reference Rate.

In certain circumstances the ultimate fallback for the purposes of calculation of interest for a particular
Interest Period may result in the Rate of Interest for the last preceding Interest Period being used. This may
result in the effective application of a fixed rate for Floating Rate Notes based on the rate which was last
observed on the Relevant Screen Page or the initial Rate of Interest applicable to such Notes on the Interest
Commencement Date. In addition, due to the uncertainty concerning the availability of any Successor Rate
or Alternative Rate, any determinations that may need to be made by the relevant Issuer and the involvement
of any Independent Adviser, the relevant fallback provisions may not operate as expected or as intended at
the relevant time.

Any such consequences could have a material adverse effect on the value or liquidity of and return on any
such Notes. Moreover, any of the above matters or any other significant change to the setting or existence of
any relevant rate could affect the ability of the relevant Issuer to meet its obligations under the Floating Rate
Notes or could have a material adverse effect on the value or liquidity of, and the amount payable under,
such Floating Rate Notes.

The market continues to develop in relation to risk-free rates (including overnight rates) as reference rates,
and such risk-free rates differ from LIBOR in a number of material respects

Interest on Notes may be determined by reference to a risk-free rate, such as SONIA or SOFR. SONIA and
SOFR, whether determined on a compounded daily basis or as a weighted average rate for a specified period,
differ from LIBOR in a number of material respects, including (without limitation) that SONIA and SOFR
are backwards-looking, risk-free overnight rates, whereas LIBOR is expressed on the basis of a forward-
looking term and includes a risk-element based on inter-bank lending. As such, investors should be aware
that LIBOR and risk-free rates such as SONIA and SOFR may behave materially differently as interest
reference rates for Notes issued under the Programme. The use of SONIA and SOFR, whether on a
compounded daily or a weighted average basis, as a reference rate for bonds is nascent, and is subject to
change and development, both in terms of the substance of the calculation and in the development and
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adoption of market infrastructure for the issuance and trading of debt securities referencing SONIA or
SOFR.

Accordingly, prospective investors in any Notes referencing SONIA or SOFR should be aware that the
market continues to develop in relation to SONIA and SOFR as reference rates in the capital markets and
their adoption as an alternative to Sterling and U.S. dollar LIBOR, respectively. For example, in the context
of backwards-looking SONIA rates, market participants and relevant working groups are, as at the date of
this Offering Circular, currently exploring alternative reference rates based on SONIA, including forward-
looking ‘term’ SONIA reference rates (which seek to measure the market’s forward expectation of an
average SONIA rate over a designated term). The adoption of SONIA may also see component inputs into
swap rates or other composite rates transferring from LIBOR or another reference rate to SONIA.

The market or a significant part thereof may adopt an application of SONIA or SOFR that differs
significantly from that set out in the Terms and Conditions as applicable to Notes referencing SONIA or
SOFR, as the case may be, that are issued under this Offering Circular. Furthermore, each of the Issuers may
in future issue Notes referencing SONIA and/or SOFR that differ materially in terms of interest
determination when compared with any previous SONIA- or SOFR-referenced Notes issued by it under the
Programme. The nascent development of SONIA and SOFR as interest reference rates for the bond markets,
as well as continued development of SONIA- and SOFR-based rates for such market and the market
infrastructure for adopting such rates, could result in reduced liquidity or increased volatility or could
otherwise affect the market price of any SONIA- or SOFR-referenced Notes issued under the Programme
from time to time.

The manner of adoption or application of SONIA- and SOFR-based rates in one market may differ
materially compared with the application and adoption of SONIA- and SOFR-based rates in other markets,
such as the derivatives and loan markets, including the manner of adoption or application by the Issuers.
Investors should carefully consider how any mismatch between the adoption of SONIA and SOFR reference
rates across these markets may impact any hedging or other financial arrangements which they may put in
place in connection with any acquisition, holding or disposal of Notes referencing SONIA or SOFR. If the
market adopts a different calculation method, that may adversely affect the market value of such SONIA- or
SOFR-referenced Notes.

SOFR is a relatively new reference rate and the adoption of SOFR by the Issuers and the market is uncertain

On 22 June 2017, the Alternative Reference Rates Committee (ARRC), convened by the Board of
Governors of the Federal Reserve System and the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (the New York
Federal Reserve), identified SOFR as the rate that, in the consensus view of the ARRC, represented best
practice for use in certain new U.S. dollar derivatives and other financial contracts. SOFR is a broad measure
of the cost of borrowing cash overnight collateralised by U.S. treasury securities, and has been published by
the New York Federal Reserve since April 2018. The New York Federal Reserve has also begun publishing
historical indicative Secured Overnight Financing Rates from 2014. In August 2019 and May 2020, the
ARRC released model interest rate conventions for SOFR-linked securities (including for the calculation of
daily compounded SOFR); however, there currently is no uniform market convention with respect to the
calculation of compounded SOFR or SOFR generally.

The New York Federal Reserve notes on its publication page for SOFR that the New York Federal Reserve
may alter the methods of calculation, publication schedule, rate revision practices or availability of SOFR at
any time without notice. Because SOFR is published by the New York Federal Reserve based on data
received from other sources, the Issuers have no control over its determination, calculation or publication.
There can be no guarantee that SOFR will not be discontinued or fundamentally altered in a manner that is
materially adverse to the interests of investors in relevant Notes linked to SOFR. Also, since SOFR is a
relatively new market index, Notes linked to SOFR may have no established trading market when issued,
and an established trading market may never develop or may not be very liquid. Market terms for debt
securities indexed to SOFR, such as the spread over the index reflected in interest rate provisions, may
evolve over time, and trading prices of any Notes linked to SOFR may be lower than those of later-issued
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indexed debt securities as a result. The SOFR-referenced Notes may not be able to be sold or may not be
able to be sold at prices that will provide a yield comparable to similar investments that have a developed
secondary market, and may consequently suffer from increased pricing volatility and market risk.

Investors should carefully consider these matters when making their investment decision with respect to any
such Notes.

Historical levels of SOFR are not an indication of its future levels and SOFR may be more volatile than
other benchmarks or market rates

The New York Federal Reserve began to publish SOFR in April 2018 and has published modeled, pre-
publication estimates of SOFR going back to 2014. Such pre-publication estimates inherently involve
assumptions, estimates and approximations. Hypothetical or historical performance data and trends are not
indicative of, and have no bearing on, the potential performance of SOFR and therefore investors should not
rely on any such data or trends as an indicator of future performance.

Since the initial publication of SOFR, daily changes in SOFR have, on occasion, been more volatile than
daily changes in other benchmark or market rates, such as U.S. dollar LIBOR. Although changes in
compounded SOFR generally are not expected to be as volatile as changes in daily levels of SOFR, the
return on and value of SOFR-referenced Notes may fluctuate more than floating rate securities that are
linked to less volatile rates. In addition, the volatility of SOFR has reflected the underlying volatility of the
overnight U.S. Treasury repo market. The New York Federal Reserve has at times conducted operations in
the overnight U.S. Treasury repo market in order to help maintain the federal funds rate within a target
range. There can be no assurance that the New York Federal Reserve will continue to conduct such
operations in the future, and the duration and extent of any such operations is inherently uncertain. The effect
of any such operations, or of the cessation of such operations to the extent they are commenced, is uncertain
and could be materially adverse to investors in SOFR-referenced Notes. The future performance of SOFR is
impossible to predict, and therefore no future performance of SOFR should be inferred from any
hypothetical or historical data or trends.

The Rate of Interest on Notes which reference SONIA or SOFR will be capable of being determined only
near the end of the relevant Interest Period

The Rate of Interest on Notes which reference SONIA or SOFR is only capable of being determined
immediately prior to the relevant Interest Payment Date. It may be difficult for investors in Notes which
reference SONIA or SOFR to estimate reliably the amount of interest which will be payable on such Notes,
and some investors may be unable or unwilling to trade such Notes without changes to their IT systems, both
of which factors could adversely impact the liquidity of such Notes. Because of the delay between the final
day on which SONIA or SOFR, as applicable, is observed in connection with any interest determination and
the related Interest Payment Date, increases in the level of SONIA or SOFR, as the case may be, which occur
during such period will not be reflected in the interest payable on such Interest Payment Date, and any such
increase will (if "Lag", "Lookback" or "Observation Shift" is specified as being the "Observation Method" in
the applicable Final Terms) instead be reflected in the following Interest Period. Further, in contrast to
LIBOR-based Notes, if Notes referencing SONIA or SOFR become due and payable as a result of an Event
of Default under Condition 10, or are otherwise redeemed early on a date which is not an Interest Payment
Date, the final Rate of Interest payable in respect of such Notes shall only be determined immediately prior
to the date on which the Notes become due and payable, and shall not be reset thereafter.
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Risks applicable to Exempt Notes
@) Risks applicable to certain types of Exempt Notes

There are particular risks associated with an investment in certain types of Exempt Notes, such as Index
Linked Notes and Dual Currency Notes. In particular, an investor might receive less interest than expected
or no interest in respect of such Notes and may lose some or all of the principal amount invested by it

The relevant Issuer may issue Notes with principal or interest determined by reference to an index or
formula, to changes in the prices of securities or commodities, to movements in currency exchange rates or
to other factors (each, a Relevant Factor). In addition, the relevant Issuer may issue Notes with principal or
interest payable in one or more currencies which may be different from the currency in which the Notes are
denominated. Potential investors should be aware that:

Q) the market price of such Notes may be volatile and may be linked to factors other than the credit of
the relevant Issuer;

(i) they may receive no interest;

(iii)  payment of principal or interest may occur at a different time or in a different currency than
expected;

(iv) they may lose all or a substantial portion of their principal;

(V) a Relevant Factor may be subject to significant fluctuations that may not correlate with changes in
interest rates, currencies or other indices;

(vi) if a Relevant Factor is applied to Notes in conjunction with a multiplier greater than one or contains
some other leverage factor, the effect of changes in the Relevant Factor on principal or interest
payable likely will be magnified; and

(vii)  the timing of changes in a Relevant Factor may affect the actual yield to investors, even if the
average level is consistent with their expectations. In general, the earlier the change in the Relevant
Factor, the greater the effect on yield.

The historical experience of an index or other Relevant Factor should not be viewed as an indication of the
future performance of such Relevant Factor during the term of any Notes. Accordingly, potential investors
should consult their respective financial and legal advisers about the risk entailed by an investment in any
Notes linked to a Relevant Factor and the suitability of such Notes in light of their particular circumstances.

In the case of Notes linked to or referencing a benchmark, potential investors should also refer to the risk
factor entitled “The regulation and reform of benchmarks may adversely affect the value of Notes linked to
or referencing such benchmarks” above.

Where Notes are issued on a partly paid basis, an investor who fails to pay any subsequent instalment of the
issue price could lose all of its investment

The relevant Issuer may issue Notes where the issue price is payable in more than one instalment. Any

failure by an investor to pay any subsequent instalment of the issue price in respect of its Notes could result
in such investor losing all of its investment.
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Notes which are issued with variable interest rates or which are structured to include a multiplier or other
leverage factor are likely to have more volatile market values than more standard securities

Notes with variable interest rates can be volatile investments. If they are structured to include multipliers or
other leverage factors, or caps or floors, or any combination of those features or other similar related
features, their market values may be even more volatile than those for securities that do not include those
features.

Inverse Floating Rate Notes will have more volatile market values than conventional Floating Rate Notes

Inverse Floating Rate Notes have an interest rate equal to a fixed rate minus a rate based upon a reference
rate such as LIBOR. The market values of those Notes typically are more volatile than market values of
other conventional floating rate debt securities based on the same reference rate (and with otherwise
comparable terms). Inverse Floating Rate Notes are more volatile because an increase in the reference rate
not only decreases the interest rate of the Notes, but may also reflect an increase in prevailing interest rates,
which further adversely affects the market value of these Notes.

(b) Risks related to the structure of Subordinated Notes

NAB's obligations under Subordinated Notes are subordinated to its senior indebtedness, the incurrence of
which is not restricted by the terms of the Subordinated Notes

NAB's obligations under Subordinated Notes will be unsecured and subordinated and will rank junior in
priority of payment to the claims of Senior Creditors as defined in Condition 3.2, pari passu among
themselves, pari passu with Equal Ranking Instruments as defined in Condition 3.2 and ahead of Junior
Ranking Instruments as defined in Condition 3.2. As a result, although Subordinated Notes may pay a higher
rate of interest than comparable Notes which are not subordinated, there is a risk that an investor in
Subordinated Notes will lose all or some of its investment should NAB become insolvent. Potential investors
in Subordinated Notes should understand that the Subordinated Notes will rank equally with the U.S.$250
million undated subordinated Floating Rate Notes issued by NAB on 9 October 1986 and behind instruments
issued as Lower Tier 2 Capital prior to 1 January 2013. See "General Information — Additional Disclosure in
relation to the Ranking of Subordinated Notes".

The liabilities which are preferred by Australian law to the claims of a holder in respect of a Subordinated
Note will be substantial and the terms and conditions of Subordinated Notes do not limit the amount of such
liabilities which may be incurred or assumed by NAB or its subsidiaries from time to time. Further, under
the terms of the Subordinated Notes, there is no restriction on the amount of debt that NAB may issue that
ranks senior to or pari passu with the Subordinated Notes. The issue of debt by NAB or its subsidiaries may
reduce the amount recoverable by a holder upon any Winding Up (as defined in Condition 3.2) of NAB.
NAB’s ability to make payments on a timely basis or at all on its outstanding debt may depend on the
amount and terms of NAB’s other obligations.

There are restrictions on the payment of interest, principal and other amounts on Subordinated Notes

Payment of interest, principal and other amounts in respect of Subordinated Notes is conditional upon NAB
being solvent when and immediately after such payment is made.

There are limited remedies available to holders for non-payment of amounts owing under Subordinated
Notes

If NAB fails to pay any amount of interest or principal on Subordinated Notes when due to be paid, the
Trustee may, either at its own discretion or at the direction of the requisite number of holders but subject in
each case to it being indemnified and/or secured and/or pre-funded to its satisfaction, take action to recover
the amount unpaid provided that NAB may only be compelled to pay the unpaid amount to the extent that it
is, and immediately after the payment is made would remain, solvent.
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There may be a limited right to accelerate amounts owing under Subordinated Notes

The only circumstance where amounts owing under Subordinated Notes may be accelerated by the Trustee
or a requisite number of holders is, in summary, upon the making of a court order or the passing of an
effective resolution for the winding up of NAB (which is not successfully appealed or permanently stayed
within 60 days of making the order).

Investors in Subordinated Notes shall not have any right to set-off

To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, a holder of a Subordinated Note shall not have any right to
set-off any amounts owing to it by NAB in connection with that Subordinated Note against any amount
owing by it to NAB in connection with the Subordinated Notes or otherwise and NAB shall not have any
right to set-off any amounts owing by it to the holder in connection with that Subordinated Note against any
amount owing by the holder to it in connection with the Subordinated Notes or otherwise.

Subordinated Notes are subject to mandatory Conversion or Write-Off in the event of the non-viability of
NAB

Under the Terms and Conditions of the Notes, Subordinated Notes are subject to mandatory Conversion into
ordinary shares in the capital of NAB (Ordinary Shares) or Write-Off if a Non-Viability Trigger Event
occurs. The applicable Final Terms will specify whether the Subordinated Notes are to be Converted upon a
Non-Viability Trigger Event (or, in certain limited circumstances, Written-Off) (Conversion Option) or are
to be Written-Off upon a Non-Viability Trigger Event (Write-Off Option). Capitalised terms defined in the
Terms and Conditions of the Notes shall have the same meanings in this risk factor unless otherwise stated.

A Non-Viability Trigger Event occurs when APRA has provided a written determination to NAB that (i)
the conversion or write-off of certain regulatory capital instruments of NAB is necessary because without the
conversion or write-off, APRA considers that NAB would become non-viable or (ii) without a public sector
injection of capital into, or equivalent support with respect to, NAB, APRA considers that NAB would
become non-viable.

On the date on which a Non-Viability Trigger Event occurs (the Conversion Date), where the requirements
of the determination are not satisfied by the conversion or write-off of Tier 1 Capital Instruments of NAB
which, in accordance with their terms or by operation of law, are capable of being written-off or converted in
the event of non-viability, NAB will be required:

Q) if the Conversion Option applies:

@ to Convert immediately and irrevocably all or some of the nominal amount of the
Subordinated Notes into Ordinary Shares; or

(b) alternatively, if, for any reason (including if NAB is prevented by applicable law, order or
other reason from Converting the Subordinated Notes into Ordinary Shares) Conversion has
not been effected within five Business Days (as defined in the Schedule to the Terms and
Conditions of the Notes), NAB will be required to Write-Off and immediately and
irrevocably terminate all or some of the nominal amount of the Subordinated Notes with
effect on and from the Conversion Date; or

(ii) if the Write-Off Option applies, to Write-Off and immediately and irrevocably terminate all or some
of the nominal amount of the Subordinated Notes.

For the purposes of paragraph (i) and (ii) above, the Subordinated Notes will be Converted or Written-Off
(as applicable) on an approximately proportionate basis with other Tier 2 Capital Instruments of NAB, which
in accordance with their terms or by operation of law, are capable of being written-off or converted in the
event of non-viability.
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Noteholders should note that APRA will not approve partial conversion or partial write-off in those
exceptional circumstances where a public sector injection of funds is deemed necessary. In circumstances
where APRA considers that NAB would be non-viable without a public sector injection of capital, NAB
must immediately convert or write-off all Relevant Capital Instruments. If APRA does not consider that a
public sector injection of capital is required, and NAB satisfies APRA that conversion or write-off of a
proportion of Relevant Capital Instruments will be sufficient to ensure that NAB does not become non-
viable, NAB must immediately convert or write-off that proportion.

The holders of Subordinated Notes issued under this Offering Circular are likely to be in a worse position in
the event of NAB becoming non-viable than holders of NAB's term subordinated debt issued prior to
1 January 2013

It is a requirement under APRA’s prudential standards, which came into effect on 1 January 2013, that any
instruments, in order to be eligible for inclusion as regulatory capital known as Additional Tier 1 Capital and
Tier 2 Capital (including term subordinated debt), contain provisions for conversion or write-off in the event
of non-viability.

Potential investors in Subordinated Notes should understand that NAB has on issue Tier 1 Capital
Instruments and Tier 2 Capital Instruments which were issued prior to the implementation of the above
prudential requirements and which, in the event of non-viability, are not capable of being written-off or
converted in accordance with their terms or by operation of law. Accordingly, the Subordinated Notes may
be Converted or Written-Off before any such instruments (notwithstanding that claims of holders of Tier 1
Capital Instruments may, in the Winding Up (as defined in Condition 3.2) of NAB, rank junior to the claims
of the holders of Subordinated Notes). Without limiting the foregoing, the requirement for conversion or
write-off on account of non-viability does not apply to certain of NAB’s existing term subordinated debt and
accordingly the holders of Subordinated Notes issued under this Offering Circular are likely to be in a worse
position in the event of NAB becoming non-viable than holders of such existing term subordinated debt of
NAB.

The circumstances under which APRA would consider NAB non-viable are uncertain

APRA'’s prudential standards do not define non-viability and APRA has not provided specific guidance on
how it would determine non-viability. Non-viability could be expected to include a serious impairment of
NAB?’s financial position. However, it is possible that APRA’s view of non-viability may not be confined to
solvency or capital measures and APRA’s position on these matters may change over time. APRA has
indicated that non-viability is likely to arise prior to the insolvency of an ADI. Non-viability may be
significantly impacted by a number of factors, including factors which impact the business, operation and
financial condition of NAB, such as systemic and non-systemic macro-economic, environmental and
operational factors.

A Non-Viability Trigger Event could occur at any time

A Non-Viability Trigger Event could occur on dates not previously contemplated by investors or which may
be unfavourable in light of the prevailing market conditions or investors’ individual circumstances or timing
preferences.

Investors may suffer adverse consequences if Subordinated Notes are Converted into Ordinary Shares as a
result of a Non-Viability Trigger Event

Potential investors in Subordinated Notes should understand that, if a Non-Viability Trigger Event occurs
and Subordinated Notes are Converted into Ordinary Shares, investors are obliged to accept the Ordinary
Shares or a cash amount pursuant to Condition 10A.9(e)(ii) even if they do not consider Ordinary Shares (or
cash) to be an appropriate investment for them at the time and despite any change in the financial position of
NAB since the issue of the Subordinated Notes or any disruption to the market for those shares or to capital
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markets generally. Further, investors have no right to elect to have Subordinated Notes Written-Off instead
of Converted.

Potential investors in Subordinated Notes should also consider the additional issues outlined below, which
may adversely impact them in the event of Conversion.

e The number of Ordinary Shares that a holder will receive on Conversion is calculated in accordance
with a formula which provides for a calculation based on a discounted volume weighted average
price (VWAP) over five Business Days (as defined in the Schedule to the Terms and Conditions of
the Notes) (or other period specified in the applicable Final Terms) but cannot be greater than a
maximum conversion number based on 20 per cent. of the VWAP during the period of 20 Business
Days (as defined in the Schedule to the Terms and Conditions of the Notes) (or other period
specified in the applicable Final Terms) preceding the issue date of the Relevant Subordinated Notes
(as defined in the Schedule to the Terms and Conditions of the Notes) (the Issue Date VWAP). For
more information on the conversion mechanics see Condition 10A and the Schedule to the Terms
and Conditions of the Notes.

e The Issue Date VWAP is adjusted for only limited corporate actions of NAB, including bonus issues
and divisions. Accordingly, a holder of Subordinated Notes may receive Ordinary Shares on
Conversion worth significantly less than the nominal amount of the holder’s Subordinated Notes.

e The Ordinary Shares may not be able to be sold at prices representing the VWAP used to determine
the number of Ordinary Shares to be issued, or at all. In particular, the VWAP will be based wholly
or partly on trading days which occurred before the Non-Viability Trigger Event.

e The calculation for the number of Ordinary Shares that a holder may receive upon a Conversion of
Subordinated Notes relies upon a conversion of Australian dollar amounts (being the currency in
which the Ordinary Shares are denominated and are quoted on the Australian Securities Exchange
(the ASX)). If the Subordinated Notes are denominated in a Specified Currency other than
Australian dollars, there are risks that the exchange rate between Australian dollars and the Specified
Currency in which the Subordinated Notes are denominated may be subject to material changes, and
the imposition or modification of exchange controls by the applicable governments, which may also
affect exchange rates. In recent years, exchange rates between certain currencies, including (but not
limited to) the exchange rate between the Australian dollar and U.S. dollar, have been highly
volatile. Volatility between these currencies or with other currencies may occur in the future, though
fluctuations in exchange rates in the past are not necessarily indicative of fluctuations that may occur
in the future. Depending upon the exchange rates prevailing around the time that a Non-Viability
Trigger Event occurs, the number of Ordinary Shares that a holder of Subordinated Notes actually
receives upon a Conversion relating to a particular Non-Viability Trigger Event may be significantly
less than the number of Ordinary Shares the holder may have received had the Conversion taken
place on a different date or that the holder otherwise expected to receive. Prospective investors in
Subordinated Notes could lose a substantial portion of their investment in these circumstances. No
interest or other compensation is payable in the event of a loss by an investor due to foreign currency
conversions. See risk factor entitled “Depreciation of the Australian dollar against the Specified
Currency of the Subordinated Notes may make it more likely that the maximum conversion number
will apply” for more detail on the risks associated with changes to exchange rates between
Auwustralian dollars and the Specified Currency.

e Toenable NAB to issue Ordinary Shares to a holder of Subordinated Notes on Conversion, investors
need to have appropriate securities accounts in Australia for the receipt of Ordinary Shares and to
provide to NAB, no later than the Conversion Date, their name and address and certain security
holder account and other details. Holders of Subordinated Notes should understand that a failure to
provide this information to NAB on time, or where the holder is a Foreign Holder (as defined in
Condition 10A.9) or notifies NAB that it does not wish to receive Ordinary Shares in connection
with a Conversion, or the requirement to make a FATCA Withholding (as defined in Condition
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10A.16) in respect of such Ordinary Shares, may result in NAB issuing the Ordinary Shares to a
nominee. The nominee may then sell the Ordinary Shares received on Conversion, paying the net
proceeds (if any) to the holders. The nominee will have no duty or obligation to seek a fair market
price, or to engage in an arm’s length transaction in such sale. NAB and the nominee give no
assurance as to whether a sale will be achieved or the price at which it may be achieved and each has
no liability to holders of Subordinated Notes for any loss suffered as a result of the sale of Ordinary
Shares. In this situation, holders of Subordinated Notes will have no further rights against NAB in
relation to the Conversion.

e There may be no market in Ordinary Shares received on Conversion and holders may not be able to
sell the Ordinary Shares at a price equal to the value of their investment and, as a result, may suffer
loss. The sale of Ordinary Shares in NAB may also be restricted by applicable Australian law,
including restrictions under the Corporations Act on the sale of Ordinary Shares within 12 months of
their issue (except where certain exemptions apply) on account of the Subordinated Notes and the
Ordinary Shares being issued without disclosure by NAB as required by the Corporations Act. The
restrictions may apply to sales by any nominee for holders as well as sales by holders and, by
restricting sales, holders may suffer loss. Holders of Subordinated Notes agree under the Terms and
Conditions of the Notes not to trade Ordinary Shares issued on Conversion (except where relevant
exemptions apply), until NAB has taken all actions required under the Corporations Act, other
applicable laws and the listing rules of the ASX (ASX Listing Rules) for the Ordinary Shares to be
freely tradeable without further disclosure or other action.

o Potential investors in Subordinated Notes should also understand that if NAB is required to Convert
a nominal amount of Subordinated Notes but, for any reason (including if NAB is prevented from
doing so by applicable law, court order, government action) the Conversion is not effected within
five Business Days (as defined in the Schedule to the Terms and Conditions of the Notes) after the
Conversion Date, the Conversion will not occur and the rights of holders in relation to those
Subordinated Notes will be Written-Off and immediately and irrevocably terminated. Such holders
will have no recourse to NAB if NAB fails to issue Ordinary Shares in respect of any Subordinated
Notes, or portions thereof. In this situation also, holders will lose some or all of the value of their
investment and will not receive any compensation.

e The rules and regulations of ASX in certain circumstances limit NAB’s ability, without shareholder
approval, to issue Ordinary Shares and other equity securities (which may include convertible notes)
without the approval of holders of Ordinary Shares. If the issue or Conversion of Subordinated
Notes would contravene that limit, then NAB may be prevented from Converting Subordinated
Notes and such Subordinated Notes may be required to be Written-Off.

e As described further under “Description of NAB — Major Shareholders” on pages 212 to 213 of this
Offering Circular, there are provisions of Australian law that are relevant to the ability of any person
to acquire interests in NAB beyond the limits prescribed by those laws. These provisions could
apply to the Conversion of Subordinated Notes into Ordinary Shares and, in some circumstances,
could apply to the acquisition of Subordinated Notes.

e Potential investors in Subordinated Notes should take care to ensure that by acquiring any
Subordinated Notes which provide for such Subordinated Notes to be Converted to Ordinary Shares
as provided in Condition 10A (taking into account any Ordinary Shares into which they may
Convert), such holders do not breach any applicable restrictions on the ownership of interests in
NAB. Without limiting this, if Conversion of Subordinated Notes into Ordinary Shares (whether in
the hands of the Noteholder or a nominee) would breach those restrictions, NAB may be prevented
from Converting such Subordinated Notes and, where Conversion is required under Condition 10A,
such Subordinated Notes may be required to be Written-Off.
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Holders of Subordinated Notes will lose some or all of the value of their investment and will not receive any
compensation if their Subordinated Notes are Written-Off

If Subordinated Notes are Written-Off, holders of such Subordinated Notes will lose some or all of the value
of their investment and will not receive any compensation. The rights of the holders of such Subordinated
Notes or portions thereof (including rights to payment of interest with respect to such principal amount, both
in the future or as accrued but unpaid) will be immediately and irrevocably terminated for no consideration
in respect of such amount Written-Off and holders of such Subordinated Notes may receive no consideration
for their investment. Noteholders have no right to elect to have Subordinated Notes Converted instead of
being Written-Off.

Depreciation of the Australian dollar against the Specified Currency of the Subordinated Notes may make it
more likely that the maximum conversion number will apply

As the maximum conversion number is calculated based on the market price of Ordinary Shares and the
exchange rate in respect of the Australian dollar and the Specified Currency in the 20 Business Days (as
defined in the Schedule to the Terms and Conditions of the Notes) (or other period specified in the applicable
Final Terms) preceding the issue date of the relevant Subordinated Notes, any depreciation of the Australian
dollar against the Specified Currency by the time that the VWAP is calculated for the purpose of determining
the Conversion Number (as defined in the Schedule to the Terms and Conditions of the Notes) may make it
more likely that the maximum conversion number will apply (especially if accompanied by a deterioration in
the market price of Ordinary Shares at the time of a Non-Viability Trigger Event). See the risk factor entitled
“Investors may suffer adverse consequences if Subordinated Notes are Converted into Ordinary Shares as a
result of a Non-Viability Trigger Event” for more detail about the maximum conversion number.

Further, the realisable value in the Specified Currency of Ordinary Shares issued, or the proceeds from any
sale of such Ordinary Shares, following a Non-Viability Trigger Event could be substantially lower than that
implied by the exchange rate in respect of the Australian dollar and the Specified Currency at the time of a
Non-Viability Trigger Event.

Risks related to Notes generally
Set out below is a brief description of certain risks relating to the Notes generally:

Noteholders’ ability to enforce certain rights in connection With the Notes may be limited or affected by
APRA

APRA has extensive powers to intervene in the operations of NAB, including a power to direct NAB to
conduct or not to conduct certain activities or transactions, or not to make payments in certain circumstances.
In addition, under the Banking Act 1959 of Australia (the Banking Act), APRA may appoint a Banking Act
statutory manager to an ADI (of which NAB is one) in certain circumstances, including where APRA
considers that the ADI may become unable to meet its obligations or may suspend payment. Under section
15C of the Banking Act, a party to a contract with an ADI may not deny any obligations under that contract,
accelerate any debt under that contract, close out any transaction relating to that contract or enforce any
security under that contract, on the grounds that a Banking Act statutory manager is in control of the ADI’s
business. Accordingly, this may prevent Noteholders from accelerating repayment of Notes on the grounds
that a Banking Act statutory manager has been appointed. Noteholders may also be subject to similar
restrictions on enforcement if APRA otherwise intervenes in the conduct of the ADI’s business, including by
requiring a compulsory transfer of the ADI’s business. Further, an obligation relating to the issue of
Ordinary Shares by NAB on Conversion of Subordinated Notes may be cancelled, and any such Ordinary
Shares or rights attaching to them may be varied or cancelled by a Banking Act statutory manager under
section 14AA of the Banking Act, notwithstanding the constitution of NAB, the Corporations Act, the terms
of any contract or arrangement to which NAB is party or the listing rules of any financial market in whose
official list NAB is included.
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On 5 March 2018, the Financial Sector Legislation Amendment (Crisis Resolution Powers and Other
Measures) Act 2018 of Australia (the Crisis Management Act) came into effect. The Crisis Management
Act amended the Banking Act (among other statutes applicable to financial institutions in Australia) and was
intended to enhance certain of APRA’s powers. Specifically, the Crisis Management Act enhanced APRA’s
powers to facilitate the orderly resolution of the entities it regulates (and their subsidiaries) in times of
distress. Additional powers given to APRA under the Crisis Management Act which could impact the NAB
Group and potentially the position of Noteholders, include greater oversight, management and directions
powers in relation to NAB and the NAB Group entities which were previously not regulated by APRA,
increased statutory management powers over regulated entities within the NAB Group and changes which
are designed to give statutory recognition to the conversion or write-off of regulatory capital instruments (the
Statutory Conversion and Write-Off Provisions).

The Statutory Conversion and Write-Off Provisions apply in relation to regulatory capital instruments issued
by certain financial sector entities (including ADIs, of which NAB is one) that contain provisions for
conversion or write-off for the purposes of APRA’s prudential standards. Where the Statutory Conversion
and Write-Off Provisions apply to an instrument, that instrument may be converted in accordance with its
terms. This is so despite any law (other than specified laws, currently those relating to the ability of a person
to acquire interests in an Australian corporation or financial sector entity), the constitution of the issuer, any
contract or arrangement to which the issuer is a party, and any listing rules, operating rules or clearing
settlement rules applicable to the instrument. In addition, the Banking Act includes a moratorium on the
taking of certain actions on grounds relating to the operation of the Statutory Conversion and Write-Off
Provisions.

Notes issued under the Programme are not deposit liabilities of NAB

Division 2AA of Part 1l of the Banking Act sets out arrangements for the protection of protected account
holders of an insolvent ADI under the Financial Claims Scheme. Pursuant to the Financial Claims Scheme a
person who holds a protected account with a net credit balance at an ADI which APRA has applied to be
wound up or whose business is under the control of a Banking Act statutory manager and which has been
declared by the responsible Australian Government Minister to be covered by the Financial Claims Scheme
will be entitled to receive payment from APRA in respect of that balance and certain accrued but uncredited
interest, subject to various adjustments and preconditions (including a maximum payment entitlement of
A$250,000 per customer). The rights of account-holders with protected accounts will be reduced to the
extent protected under the Financial Claims Scheme and, to the extent of that reduction, will become rights
of APRA.

A protected account is, subject to certain conditions, an account kept with an ADI and recorded in
Australian currency:

Q) where the ADI is required to pay the account-holder, on demand or at an agreed time, the net credit
balance of the account; or

(i) otherwise prescribed by regulation.

The Banking Regulation 2016 of Australia prescribes protected accounts for the purposes of the Banking Act
and also formally excludes foreign branches of Australian ADIs from the coverage of the Financial Claims
Scheme.

Notes issued under the Programme are not deposit liabilities of NAB, are not protected accounts for
the purposes of the depositor protection provisions in Division 2 of Part 11 of the Banking Act or of the
Financial Claims Scheme established under Division 2AA of Part Il of the Banking Act and are not
guaranteed or insured by any government, government agency or compensation scheme of the
Commonwealth of Australia, Her Majesty the Queen in right of New Zealand or any other
jurisdiction.
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The conditions of the Notes contain provisions which may permit their modification (including for principal
and interest) with the consent of a defined majority of investors and confer significant discretions on the
Trustee which may be exercised without the consent of the Noteholders and without regard to the individual
interests of particular Noteholders

The conditions of the Notes contain provisions for calling meetings of Noteholders (including by way of
telephone or video conference) to consider and vote upon matters affecting their interests generally, or to
pass resolutions in writing or through the use of electronic consents. These provisions permit defined
majorities to bind all Noteholders including Noteholders who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting
or, as the case may be, did not sign the written resolution or give their consent electronically, and including
those Noteholders who voted in a manner contrary to the majority.

The conditions of the Notes also provide that the Trustee may, without the consent of Noteholders and
without regard to the interests of particular Noteholders, agree to (i) any modification of, or to the waiver or
authorisation of any breach or proposed breach of, any of the provisions of the Notes, or (ii) determine
without the consent of the Noteholders that any Event of Default or Potential Event of Default shall not be
treated as such, or (iii) the substitution of another company as principal debtor under certain Notes in place
of the relevant Issuer, in the circumstances described in Condition 15 of the conditions of the Notes. In
addition, subject to the rights of the Trustee or relevant Agent (as applicable) set forth in Condition 5.5(iii) or
Condition 5.2(b)(iii)(E)(II), as the case may be, the Trustee shall be obliged to concur with the Issuer in
effecting any Benchmark Amendments or Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes, as applicable, in
the circumstances and as otherwise set out in Condition 5.5 or Condition 5.2(b)(iii)(E), as the case may be,
without the consent of the Noteholders, Receiptholders or Couponholders.

APRA’s prior written approval is required for any modifications which may affect the eligibility of the
Subordinated Notes as Tier 2 Capital.

Investors who hold less than the minimum Specified Denomination may be unable to sell their Notes and
may be adversely affected if definitive Notes are subsequently required to be issued

In relation to any issue of Notes which have denominations consisting of a minimum Specified
Denomination plus one or more higher integral multiples of another smaller amount, it is possible that such
Notes may be traded in amounts in excess of the minimum Specified Denomination that are not integral
multiples of such minimum Specified Denomination. In such a case a holder who, as a result of trading such
amounts, holds an amount which is less than the minimum Specified Denomination in its account with the
relevant clearing system would not be able to sell the remainder of such holding without first purchasing a
principal amount of Notes at or in excess of the minimum Specified Denomination such that its holding
amounts to a Specified Denomination. Further, a holder who, as a result of trading such amounts, holds an
amount which is less than the minimum Specified Denomination in its account with the relevant clearing
system at the relevant time may not receive a definitive Note in respect of such holding (should definitive
Notes be printed) and would need to purchase a principal amount of Notes at or in excess of the minimum
Specified Denomination such that its holding amounts to a Specified Denomination.

If such Notes in definitive form are issued, holders should be aware that definitive Notes which have a
denomination that is not an integral multiple of the minimum Specified Denomination may be illiquid and
difficult to trade.

The value of the Notes could be adversely affected by a change in English law or administrative practice or
other applicable laws

The conditions of the Notes (except for the subordination provisions set out in Condition 3.2, Condition 10A
and the conversion mechanisms set out in the Schedule to the Conditions (in relation to NAB)) are based on
English law in effect as at the date of this Offering Circular. The subordination provisions set out in
Condition 3.2, Condition 10A and the conversion mechanisms set out in the Schedule to the Conditions (in
relation to NAB) are based on the jurisdiction of incorporation of NAB. No assurance can be given as to the
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impact of any possible judicial decision or change to English law or administrative practice or the laws of the
jurisdiction of incorporation of the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor after the date of this Offering Circular
and any such decision or change to English law or administrative practice or the laws of the jurisdiction of
incorporation of the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor could materially adversely impact the value of any
Notes affected by it.

Risk factors specific to Notes denominated in Renminbi

Renminbi is not completely freely convertible, and there are significant restrictions on remittance of
Renminbi into and out of the PRC

As at the date of this Offering Circular, Renminbi is not completely freely convertible. The PRC government
(the PRC Government) continues to regulate conversion between Renminbi and foreign currencies despite
significant reduction over the years by the PRC Government of control over trade transactions involving
import and export of goods and services as well as other frequent routine foreign exchange transactions.
These transactions are known as current account items. While regulation in the PRC on the remittance of
Renminbi into the PRC for settlement of capital account items is developing gradually, remittance of
Renminbi by foreign investors into and out of the PRC for the purposes of capital account items, such as
capital contributions, is currently generally only permitted upon obtaining specific approvals from, or
completing specific registrations or filings with, the relevant authorities on a case-by-case basis and is
subject to a strict monitoring system.

Although starting from 1 October 2016, the Renminbi has been added to the Special Drawing Rights basket
of currencies, in addition to the U.S. dollar, euro, Japanese yen and pound Sterling, created by the
International Monetary Fund as an international reserve asset, and policies further improving accessibility to
Renminbi to settle cross-border transactions in foreign currencies were implemented by the People’s Bank of
China (the PBOC) in 2018, there is no assurance that the PRC Government will liberalise its control over
cross-border Renminbi remittances in the future or that new PRC regulations will not be promulgated in the
future which have the effect of restricting or eliminating the remittance of Renminbi into or outside the PRC.

There is only limited availability of Renminbi outside the PRC, which may affect the liquidity of the Notes
and the relevant Issuer's ability to source Renminbi outside the PRC to make payments under the Notes

As a result of the restrictions by the PRC Government on cross-border Renminbi fund flows, the availability
of Renminbi outside of the PRC is limited.

While the PBOC has entered into agreements on the clearing of Renminbi business (the Settlement
Agreements) with financial institutions that have been permitted to engage in the settlement of current
account trade transactions in Renminbi in a number of financial centres and cities (the Renminbi Clearing
Banks), including but not limited to Hong Kong, the current size of Renminbi-denominated financial assets
outside the PRC is limited.

Renminbi business participating banks do not have direct Renminbi liquidity support from the PBOC. The
relevant Renminbi Clearing Banks only have access to onshore liquidity support from the PBOC for the
purpose of squaring open positions of participating banks for limited types of transactions, including open
positions resulting from conversion services for corporations relating to cross-border trade settlement, and
are not obliged to square for participating banks any open positions as a result of other foreign exchange
transactions or conversion services. In such cases, the participating banks will need to source Renminbi from
outside the PRC to square such open positions.

The offshore Renminbi market is subject to many constraints as a result of PRC laws and regulations on
foreign exchange. There is no assurance that new PRC regulations will not be promulgated or the Settlement
Arrangements will not be terminated or amended so as to have the effect of restricting availability of
Renminbi offshore. The limited availability of Renminbi outside the PRC may affect the liquidity of the
Notes. To the extent the relevant Issuer is required to source Renminbi in the offshore market to service the
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Notes, there is no assurance that the relevant Issuer will be able to source such Renminbi on satisfactory
terms, if at all.

Investment in the Notes is subject to exchange rate risks

The value of Renminbi against the U.S. dollar and other foreign currencies fluctuates from time to time and
is affected by changes in the PRC and international political and economic conditions and by many other
factors. In August 2015, the PBOC implemented changes to the way it calculates the midpoint against the
U.S. dollar to take into account market-maker quotes before announcing the daily midpoint. This change,
among others that may be implemented, may increase the volatility in the value of the Renminbi against
other currencies. Except in the limited circumstances stipulated in Condition 6.9 of the Terms and
Conditions of the Notes, all payments of interest and principal will be made with respect to Renminbi-
denominated Notes in Renminbi. As a result, the value of these Renminbi payments in U.S. dollar terms may
vary with the prevailing exchange rates in the marketplace. If the value of Renminbi depreciates against the
U.S. dollar or other applicable foreign currency between the Issue Date of the relevant Series of Notes and
when the relevant Issuer pays back the principal of such Renminbi-denominated Notes in Renminbi at
maturity, the value of a Noteholder’s investment in U.S. dollar or other applicable foreign currency terms
will have declined.

An investment in the Notes is subject to interest rate risks

The PRC Government has gradually liberalised the regulation of interest rates in recent years. Further
liberalisation may increase interest rate volatility. In addition, the interest rate for Renminbi in markets
outside the PRC may significantly deviate from the interest rate for Renminbi in the PRC as a result of
foreign exchange controls imposed by PRC law and regulations and prevailing market conditions.
Consequently, the trading price in the secondary market of Fixed Rate Notes denominated in Renminbi will
vary with fluctuations in interest rates. If a holder of the Notes tries to sell such Notes before their maturity,
they may receive an offer that is less than the amount invested.

If Renminbi is not available in certain circumstances as described in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes,
the relevant Issuer can make payments under the Renminbi-denominated Notes in U.S. dollars

There can be no assurance that access to Renminbi for the purposes of making payments under Renminbi-
denominated Notes by the relevant Issuer or generally will remain or that new PRC regulations will not be
promulgated which have the effect of restricting availability of Renminbi outside of the PRC.

Although the relevant Issuer’s primary obligation is to make all payments with respect to such Notes in
Renminbi, in the event access to Renminbi becomes restricted to the extent that, by reason of
Inconvertibility, Non-transferability or Illiquidity (each as defined in the Terms and Conditions of the
Notes), the relevant Issuer is unable to make any payment in respect of such Notes in Renminbi, the terms of
such Notes permit (i) the relevant Issuer to make payment in U.S. dollars at the prevailing spot rate of
exchange, and/or (ii) such payments to be made after the original date that, but for the occurrence of the
CNY Disruption Event (as defined in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes), would have been the date of
such payments, all as provided in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes. The value of these Renminbi
payments in U.S. dollars may vary with the prevailing exchange rates in the market place.

Payments in respect of Renminbi-denominated Notes will only be made to investors in the manner specified
in such Renminbi-denominated Notes

All payments to investors in respect of Renminbi-denominated Notes will be made solely by (i) when the
Renminbi-denominated Notes are represented by global certificates deposited with a sub-custodian for
CMU, transfer to a Renminbi bank account maintained in Hong Kong in accordance with prevailing CMU
rules and procedures, (ii) when the Renminbi-denominated Notes are represented by global certificates held
with the common depositary, for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or any alternative clearing system,
transfer to a Renminbi bank account maintained in Hong Kong in accordance with prevailing Euroclear
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and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg rules and procedures or those of such alternative clearing system, or (iii)
for so long as the Renminbi-denominated Notes are in definitive form, transfer to a Renminbi bank account
maintained in Hong Kong in accordance with prevailing rules and regulations. Other than as described in the
Terms and Conditions of the Notes, the relevant Issuer cannot be required to make payment by any other
means (including in any other currency or in bank notes, by cheque or draft or by transfer to a bank account
in the PRC).

Risks related to the market generally

Set out below is a description of material market risks, including liquidity risk, exchange rate risk, interest
rate risk and credit risk:

An active secondary market in respect of the Notes may never be established or may be illiquid and this
would adversely affect the value at which an investor could sell its Notes

Notes may have no established trading market when issued, and one may never develop. If a market for the
Notes does develop, it may not be very liquid. Therefore, investors may not be able to sell their Notes easily
or at prices that will provide them with a yield comparable to similar investments that have a developed
secondary market. This is particularly the case for Notes that are especially sensitive to interest rate, currency
or market risks, are designed for specific investment objectives or strategies or have been structured to meet
the investment requirements of limited categories of investors. These types of Notes generally would have a
more limited secondary market and more price volatility than conventional debt securities.

If an investor holds Notes which are not denominated in the investor's home currency, they will be exposed
to movements in exchange rates adversely affecting the value of its holding. In addition, the imposition of
exchange controls in relation to any Notes could result in an investor not receiving payments on those Notes

The relevant Issuer will pay principal and interest on the Notes and the Guarantor will make any payments
under the Guarantee in the Specified Currency. This presents certain risks relating to currency conversions if
an investor's financial activities are denominated principally in a currency or currency unit (the Investor's
Currency) other than the Specified Currency. These include the risk that exchange rates may significantly
change (including changes due to devaluation of the Specified Currency or revaluation of the Investor's
Currency) and the risk that authorities with jurisdiction over the Investor's Currency may impose or modify
exchange controls. An appreciation in the value of the Investor's Currency relative to the Specified Currency
would decrease (i) the Investor's Currency-equivalent yield on the Notes, (ii) the Investor's Currency-
equivalent value of the principal payable on the Notes and (iii) the Investor's Currency-equivalent market
value of the Notes.

Government and monetary authorities may impose (as some have done in the past) exchange controls that
could adversely affect an applicable exchange rate or the ability of the relevant Issuer to make payments in
respect of the Notes. As a result, investors may receive less interest or principal than expected, or no interest
or principal.

The value of Fixed Rate Notes may be adversely affected by movements in market interest rates

Investment in Fixed Rate Notes involves the risk that if market interest rates subsequently increase above the
rate paid on the Fixed Rate Notes, this will adversely affect the value of the Fixed Rate Notes.

Credit ratings assigned to the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor (if applicable) or any Notes may not reflect all
the risks associated with an investment in those Notes

One or more independent credit rating agencies may assign credit ratings to the Notes, the relevant Issuer or
the Guarantor. The ratings may not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to structure, market,
additional factors discussed above, and other factors that may affect the value of the Notes. A credit rating is
not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold any Notes in so far as such ratings do not comment as to market
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price or suitability for a particular investor. There is no assurance that any rating will remain in effect for a
given period of time and any rating may be revised, suspended or withdrawn by the relevant rating agency at
any time, if, in the judgment of such relevant rating agency, circumstances warrant. The relevant Issuer is
under no obligation to update information regarding such ratings should they change over time.

In general, European (including United Kingdom) regulated investors are restricted under Regulation (EC)
No. 1060/2009 (as amended) (the CRA Regulation) from using credit ratings for regulatory purposes, unless
such ratings are issued by a credit rating agency established in the EU or the United Kingdom and registered
under the CRA Regulation (and such registration has not been withdrawn or suspended subject to transitional
provisions that apply in certain circumstances). Such general restriction will also apply in the case of credit
ratings issued by non-EU and non-UK credit rating agencies, unless the relevant credit ratings are endorsed
by an EU registered or UK-registered credit rating agency or the relevant non-EU or non-UK rating agency
is certified in accordance with the CRA Regulation (and such endorsement action or certification, as the case
may be, has not been withdrawn or suspended, subject to transitional provisions that apply in certain
circumstances). If the status of the rating agency rating the Notes changes, European (including United
Kingdom) regulated investors may no longer be able to use the rating for regulatory purposes and the Notes
may have a different regulatory treatment. This may result in European (including United Kingdom)
regulated investors selling the Notes which may impact the value of the Notes and any secondary market.
The list of registered and certified rating agencies published by the European Securities and Markets
Authority (ESMA) on its website in accordance with the CRA Regulation is not conclusive evidence of the
status of the relevant rating agency included in such list, as there may be delays between certain supervisory
measures being taken against a relevant rating agency and the publication of the updated ESMA list. Certain
information with respect to the credit rating agencies and ratings is set out in this Offering Circular, see
"Documents Incorporated by Reference and Credit Ratings".
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(A)

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE AND CREDIT RATINGS

Documents Incorporated by Reference

The following documents, which have previously been published or are published simultaneously with this
Offering Circular shall be incorporated in, and form part of, this Offering Circular:

(a)

(b)

(©)

(i)

(i)

(i)

(ii)

(i)

(i)

(i)

NAB's Annual Financial Report for the financial year ended 30 September 2019 in its
entirety (but excluding the section entitled "Chairman’s message" on pages 3-4 thereof),
containing the audit report and the consolidated audited financial statements of the NAB
Group and the non-consolidated audited financial statements of NAB for the financial year
ended 30 September 2019 (the 2019 NAB Annual Financial Report), which is published on
the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu) and is available via
http://dl.bourse.lu/dlp/108c858¢32585648139f513a10118d873b; and

NAB's Annual Financial Report for the financial year ended 30 September 2020 in its
entirety (but excluding the section entitled "Chairman’s message" on pages 3-4 thereof),
containing the audit report and the consolidated audited financial statements of the NAB
Group and the non-consolidated audited financial statements of NAB for the financial year
ended 30 September 2020 (the 2020 NAB Annual Financial Report), which is published on
the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu) and is available via
http://dl.bourse.lu/dlp/1067d73ce4b4bb446c8b7bcc3e9120a836;

BNZ's Disclosure Statement for the financial year ended 30 September 2018 in its entirety,
containing the consolidated audited financial statements of BNZ and its subsidiaries (the
2018 Disclosure Statement), which is published on the website of the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange (www.bourse.lu) and is available via
http://dl.bourse.lu/dlp/10d9ace01dbaf64f878d05d95404da5¢c9d;

BNZ's Disclosure Statement for the financial year ended 30 September 2019 in its entirety,
containing the consolidated audited financial statements of BNZ and its subsidiaries (the
2019 Disclosure Statement), which is published on the website of the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange (www.bourse.lu) and is available via
http://dl.bourse.lu/dIp/106deb671f90454c8792e0c42fae0fdb38; and

BNZ’s Disclosure Statement for the six months ended 31 March 2020 in its entirety,
containing the consolidated unaudited financial statements of BNZ and its subsidiaries (the
March 2020 HY Disclosure Statement and together with the 2018 Disclosure Statement
and the 2019 Disclosure Statement, the Disclosure Statements), which is published on the
website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu) and is available via
http://dl.bourse.lu/dlp/10713301193af748cf9fa274dc476f139e;

BNZ-1F's Annual Report and Financial Statements for the financial year ended 30 September
2018 in its entirety, containing the audited financial statements of BNZ-IF (the 2018 BNZ-
IF Annual Report), which is published on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange
(www.bourse.lu) and is available via
http://dl.bourse.lu/dIp/101dbcb31c326e4b13a2a99db2090776al; and

BNZ-IF's Financial Statements for the financial year ended 30 September 2019 in its
entirety, containing the audited financial statements of BNZ-IF (the 2019 BNZ-IF Financial
Statements), which is published on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange
(www.bourse.lu) and is available via
http://dl.bourse.lu/dlp/10d1525741742a4c46ad7e62705f96589¢;
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(d)

the statutory documents of NAB, BNZ and BNZ-IF as follows, each of which is published on the
website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu):

Q) the constitution of NAB (available via
http://dl.bourse.lu/dlp/10eb63cd21a954456fb46fd3570a8d053a);

(i) the constitution of BNz (available via
http://dl.bourse.lu/dlp/10eccc422e651145d4bf20b4bb48a78132); and

(iii)  the constitution of BNZ-IF (available via

http://dl.bourse.lu/dlp/1007a606b82¢c594f56893b9ed60ee1bad4); and

(e) for the purposes of an issue of Notes when the first tranche of Notes which is being increased was
issued under an Offering Circular with an earlier date, the Terms and Conditions of the Notes set out
on:

(1) pages 87 to 133 of the Offering Circular dated 15 December 2011 (as amended by the
Supplement dated 23 November 2012) (available via
http://dl.bourse.lu/dlp/10ab0c8de4735e44b3a4dedfc2f268c782 and
http://dl.bourse.lu/dlp/10610eab2c49badea89f3563683138b4f3, respectively);

(i) pages 115 to 173 of the Offering Circular dated 14 December 2012 (available via

http://dl.bourse.lu/dlp/10bddaf675c783494d870d0a9c3ea93e37);

(iti))  pages 123 to 183 of the Offering Circular dated 16 December 2013 (available via
http://dl.bourse.lu/dIp/10fe5b8c3814464b76831611663f675e6a);

(iv)  pages 113 to 171 of the Offering Circular dated 15 December 2014 (available via
http://dl.bourse.lu/dIp/10a3b995ea3ca6495b826f6d73691528ed);

(v) pages 123 to 185 of the Offering Circular dated 19 November 2015 (available via
http://dl.bourse.lu/dIp/10f8b64d72c5094a25b98648d8ed63cf19);

(vi)  pages 122 to 181 of the Offering Circular dated 17 November 2016 (available via
http://dl.bourse.lu/dIp/10e791542da932453da0068bed7ba66c81);

(vii) pages 130 to 188 of the Offering Circular dated 17 November 2017 (available via
http://dl.bourse.lu/dlp/100a7deb20d530437188eflebd4be686¢ef);

(viii) pages 140 to 207 of the Offering Circular dated 21 November 2018 (available via
http://dl.bourse.lu/dlp/10fbbdd8a7ce9d47bab9d4597b4596af52); and

(ix)  pages 112 to 180 of the Offering Circular dated 20 November 2019 (available via

http://dl.bourse.lu/dlp/103a5bc576cb574ce389b75b51c9e26192).

shall be incorporated in, and form part of, this Offering Circular, each of which is also published on

the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu).

Any documents themselves incorporated by reference in the documents incorporated by reference in this

Offering Circular will not form part of this Offering Circular.

Any non-incorporated parts of a document referred to herein are either (i) not considered by the relevant

Issuer to be relevant for investors or (ii) included elsewhere in this Offering Circular.

Any statement contained herein or in a document and/or information which is incorporated by reference
herein shall be modified or superseded for the purpose of the Offering Circular to the extent that a statement
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contained in any such subsequent document and/or information which is incorporated by reference herein
modifies or supersedes such earlier statement (whether expressly, by implication or otherwise), provided that
such modifying or superseding statement is made by way of supplement to the Offering Circular pursuant to
Article 23 of the Prospectus Regulation (in the case of PR Notes) or rule 206 of Part 2, Chapter 2 of the rules
and regulations of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (in the case of Exempt Notes).

The content of websites or URLSs referred to in this Offering Circular do not form part of this Offering
Circular.

The documents listed in (a) — (c) above contain financial information on the Issuers and the Guarantor as
described in the "Cross-Reference Table" below. Other information contained in such documents, but not
specifically set out in the tables below, is considered as additional information and is not required by the
relevant schedules of Commission Regulation (EU) No 2019/980.

Cross-Reference Table

NAB BNZ (as an Issuer and as the BNZ-IF
Guarantor)
Balance sheet 2019 NAB Annual Financial Report, 2019 Disclosure Statement, 2019 BNZ-IF Financial Statements,
page 76 page 10 page 3
2020 NAB Annual Financial Report, 2018 Disclosure Statement, 2018 BNZ-IF Annual Report,
page 88 page 10 page 3

March 2020 HY Disclosure

Statement,
page 6
Income statement 2019 NAB Annual Financial Report, 2019 Disclosure Statement, 2019 BNZ-IF Financial Statements,
page 74 page 8 page 1
2020 NAB Annual Financial Report, 2018 Disclosure Statement, 2018 BNZ-IF Annual Report,
page 86 page 8 page 1

March 2020 HY Disclosure

Statement,
page 4
Cash flow statement 2019 NAB Annual Financial Report, 2019 Disclosure Statement, 2019 BNZ-IF Financial Statements,
pages 77-78 pages 11-12 pages 4-5
2020 NAB Annual Financial Report, 2018 Disclosure Statement, 2018 BNZ-IF Annual Report,
pages 89-90 pages 11-12 pages 4-5

March 2020 HY Disclosure

Statement,
pages 7-8
Accounting policies 2019 NAB Annual Financial Report, 2019 Disclosure Statement, 2019 BNZ-IF Financial Statements,
and explanatory notes pages 81-164 pages 13-75 pages 6-16
2020 NAB Annual Financial Report, 208 Disclosure Statement, 2018 BNZ-IF Annual Report,
pages 93-193 pages 13-76 pages 6-16
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March

2020 HY Disclosure

Statement,

pages 9-39

Audit reports

2019 NAB Annual Financial Report,
pages 166-173

2020 NAB Annual Financial Report,
pages 195-202

2019 Disclosure Statement,

pages 76-81

2018 Disclosure Statement,

pages 77-80

March

2020 HY Disclosure

Statement,

pages 40-41

2019 BNZ-IF Financial Statements,
pages 17-18

2018 BNZ-IF Annual Report,
pages 17-18

Legal and arbitration
proceedings

2019 NAB Annual Financial Report,
Note 29, at pages 145 -148

2020 NAB Annual Financial Report,
Note 30, at pages 168-173

2019 Disclosure Statement,

page 3

2018 Disclosure Statement,

page 3

March

2020 HY Disclosure

Statement,

page 2

None

None

(B)

Credit Ratings

Each of the Issuers and the Programme is, as of the date of this Offering Circular, rated as follows:

NAB BNZ BNZ-IF
Issuer credit rating | S&P Global Ratings S&P Global Ratings Moody's Investors
(Long-Term / Short- | Australia Pty Ltd: Australia Pty Ltd: Service Pty Limited:
Term)

AA- [ A-1+ AA-/ A-1+ Al/Prime-1

Moody's Investors Moody's Investors

Service Pty Limited: Service Pty Limited:

Aa3/ Prime-1 Al/Prime-1

Fitch Australia Pty Ltd: Fitch Australia Pty Ltd:

A+ /F1 A+/F1
Senior  Notes  and | S&P Global Ratings S&P Global Ratings | S&P Global Ratings
Guaranteed Senior | Australia Pty Ltd: Australia Pty Ltd: Australia Pty Ltd:

Notes with a maturity of
less than one year

A-1+

Moody's Investors
Service Pty Limited:

Prime-1

A-1+

Moody's Investors
Service Pty Limited:

Prime-1

A-1+

Moody's Investors
Service Pty Limited:

Prime-1
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Senior  Notes and | S&P Global Ratings S&P Global Ratings | S&P Global Ratings

Guaranteed Senior | Australia Pty Ltd: Australia Pty Ltd: Australia Pty Ltd:

Notes with a maturity of

more than one year AA- AA- AA-
Moody's Investors Moody's Investors Moody's Investors
Service Pty Limited: Service Pty Limited: Service Pty Limited:
Aa3 Al Al

Subordinated Notes S&P Global Ratings N/A N/A

Australia Pty Ltd:
BBB+

Moody's Investors
Service Pty Limited:

Baal

Notes issued under the Programme may be unrated or rated by either of S&P Global Ratings Australia Pty
Ltd (S&P Australia) and/or Moody's Investors Service Pty Limited (Moody's Australia) or by another
independent credit rating agency. Where a Tranche of Notes is rated, such rating will not necessarily be the
same as the rating assigned to the Programme by the relevant rating agency (if applicable).

There are credit ratings contained in certain of the documents incorporated by reference into this Offering
Circular. In the case of the 2019 NAB Annual Financial Report and the 2020 NAB Annual Financial Report,
these credit ratings are assigned by S&P Australia, Moody's Australia and Fitch Australia Pty Ltd (Fitch
Australia). In the case of BNZ’s Disclosure Statements, these credit ratings are assigned by S&P Australia,
Moody's Australia and Fitch Australia.

S&P Australia, Moody's Australia and Fitch Australia are not established in the EU and have not applied for
registration under Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009 (as amended) (the CRA Regulation). The ratings of S&P
Australia, Moody's Australia and Fitch Australia have been endorsed by S&P Global Ratings Europe
Limited (S&P Europe), Moody’s Deutschland GmbH (Moody’s Europe) and Fitch Ratings Limited (Fitch
Europe) respectively in accordance with the CRA Regulation. Each of S&P Europe, Moody's Europe and
Fitch Europe is established in the EU or the United Kingdom and registered under the CRA Regulation. As
such each of S&P Europe, Moody's Europe and Fitch Europe is included in the list of credit rating agencies
published by the European Securities and Markets Authority on its website at
http://www.esma.europa.eu/page/List-registered-and-certified-CRAs in accordance with the CRA
Regulation. The European Securities Markets Authority has indicated that ratings issued in Australia, which
have been endorsed by S&P Europe, Moody's Europe or Fitch Europe may be used in the EU by the relevant
market participants.

Any credit rating in respect of any Notes or Issuer is for distribution only to persons who are not a "retail
client" within the meaning of section 761G of the Corporations Act and are also sophisticated investors,
professional investors or other investors in respect of whom disclosure is not required under Part 6D.2 of the
Corporations Act and, in all cases, in such circumstances as may be permitted by applicable law in any
jurisdiction in which an investor may be located.
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FORM OF THE NOTES

The Notes of each Series will be in either bearer form, with or without interest coupons attached, or
registered form, without interest coupons attached. Bearer Notes will be issued outside the United States in
reliance on Regulation S and Registered Notes will be issued both outside the United States in reliance on
the exemption from registration provided by Regulation S and within the United States to QIBs (as defined
below) in reliance on Rule 144A.

Bearer Notes

Each Tranche of Bearer Notes will initially be issued in the form of either a temporary bearer global note (a
Temporary Bearer Global Note) or, if so specified in the applicable Final Terms, a permanent bearer
global note (a Permanent Bearer Global Note and, together with the Temporary Bearer Global Note, the
Bearer Global Notes) which, in either case, will:

(i if the Bearer Global Notes are intended to be issued in new global note (NGN) form, as stated in the
applicable Final Terms, be delivered on or prior to the original issue date of the Tranche to a
common safekeeper (the Common Safekeeper) for Euroclear Bank SA/NV (Euroclear) and
Clearstream Banking S.A. (Clearstream, Luxembourg); and

(i) if the Bearer Global Notes are not intended to be issued in NGN form, be delivered on or prior to the
original issue date of the Tranche to (A) a common depositary (the Common Depositary) for
Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or (B) a sub-custodian for the Central Moneymarkets Unit
Service (the CMU), operated by the Hong Kong Monetary Authority (the HKMA) (the CMU
Service).

It is anticipated that all Bearer Notes issued by the Issuers under the Programme will not be issued in NGN
form and will be deposited with a sub-custodian for the CMU or a common depositary for Euroclear and
Clearstream, Luxembourg. Bearer Notes issued by NAB, BNZ and/or BNZ-IF do not currently satisfy the
ECB's Eurosystem eligibility criteria and, accordingly, cannot be recognised as eligible collateral for
Eurosystem monetary policy and intra-day credit operations.

Where the global Notes issued in respect of any Tranche of Notes are in NGN form, the applicable Final
Terms will also indicate whether or not such global Notes are intended to be held in a manner which would
allow Eurosystem eligibility. Any indication that the global Notes are to be so held does not necessarily
mean that the Notes of the relevant Tranche will be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem
monetary policy and intra-day credit operations by the Eurosystem either upon issue or at any times during
their life, as such recognition depends upon satisfaction of the Eurosystem eligibility criteria. The Common
Safekeeper for NGNs will either be Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or another entity approved by
Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg.

While any Bearer Note is represented by a Temporary Bearer Global Note, payments of principal, interest (if
any) and any other amount payable in respect of the Notes due prior to the Exchange Date (as defined below)
will be made (against presentation of the Temporary Bearer Global Note if the Temporary Bearer Global
Note is not intended to be issued in NGN form) only to the extent that certification (in a form to be provided)
to the effect that the beneficial owners of interests in the Temporary Bearer Global Note are not U.S. persons
or persons who have purchased for resale to any U.S. person, as required by U.S. Treasury regulations, has
been received by Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or the CMU Lodging Agent and Euroclear
and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or the CMU Lodging Agent, as applicable, has given a like
certification (based on the certification it has received) to the Principal Paying Agent.

On and after the date (the Exchange Date) which is 40 days after a Temporary Bearer Global Note is issued,

interests in such Temporary Bearer Global Note will be exchangeable (free of charge) upon a request as
described therein either for (i) interests in a Permanent Bearer Global Note of the same Series or (ii) for
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definitive Bearer Notes of the same Series with, where applicable, receipts, interest coupons and talons
attached (as indicated in the applicable Final Terms and subject, in the case of definitive Bearer Notes, to
such notice period as is specified in the applicable Final Terms), in each case against certification of
beneficial ownership as described above unless such certification has already been given, provided that
purchasers in the United States and certain U.S. persons will not be able to receive definitive Bearer Notes.
The CMU Service may require that any such exchange for a Permanent Bearer Global Note is made in whole
and not in part and in such event, no such exchange will be effected until all relevant account holders (as set
out in a CMU Instrument Position Report (as defined in the rules of the CMU Service) or any other relevant
notification supplied to the CMU Lodging Agent by the CMU Service) have so certified. The holder of a
Temporary Bearer Global Note will not be entitled to collect any payment of interest, principal or other
amount due on or after the Exchange Date unless, upon due certification, exchange of the Temporary Bearer
Global Note for an interest in a Permanent Bearer Global Note or for definitive Bearer Notes is improperly
withheld or refused.

Payments of principal, interest (if any) or any other amounts on a Permanent Bearer Global Note will be
made through Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg (against presentation or surrender (as the case may
be) of the Permanent Bearer Global Note if the Permanent Bearer Global Note is not intended to be issued in
NGN form) without any requirement for certification.

The applicable Final Terms will specify that a Permanent Bearer Global Note will be exchangeable (free of
charge), in whole but not in part, for definitive Bearer Notes with, where applicable, receipts, interest
coupons and talons attached upon either (i) not less than 60 days' written notice (a), in the case of Notes held
by a Common Depositary or Common Safekeeper for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, from
Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg (acting on the instructions of any holder of an interest in such
Permanent Bearer Global Note) to the Principal Paying Agent as described therein and/or (b), in the case of
Notes held through the CMU Service, from the relevant person(s) for whose account(s) interests in the
relevant Bearer Global Note are credited, as set out in a CMU Instrument Position Report or any other
relevant notification supplied to the CMU Lodging Agent by the CMU Service (each, an Accountholder)
therein to the CMU Lodging Agent as described therein or (ii) only upon the occurrence of an Exchange
Event. For these purposes, Exchange Event means that (i) an Event of Default (as defined in Condition 10)
has occurred and is continuing, (ii) the relevant Issuer has been notified that both Euroclear and Clearstream,
Luxembourg have and, in the case of Notes held through the CMU Service, the CMU Service has, been
closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of holiday, statutory or
otherwise) or have announced an intention permanently to cease business or have in fact done so and, in any
such case, no successor clearing system satisfactory to the Trustee is available or (iii) the relevant Issuer or
(in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes) the Guarantor has or will become subject to adverse tax
consequences which would not be suffered were the Notes represented by the Permanent Bearer Global Note
in definitive form and a certificate to such effect signed by two Authorised Signatories (as defined in the
Trust Deed) of the relevant Issuer or (in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes) the Guarantor is given to the
Trustee. The relevant Issuer will promptly give notice to Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14 if an
Exchange Event occurs. In the event of the occurrence of an Exchange Event, (a) in the case of Notes held
by a Common Depositary or Common Safekeeper for Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg, Euroclear
and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg (acting on the instructions of any holder of an interest in such Permanent
Bearer Global Note) and/or, (b) in the case of Notes held through a sub-custodian for the CMU Service, the
relevant Accountholder therein, and/or (c) the Trustee, may give notice to the Principal Paying Agent or, as
the case may be, the CMU Lodging Agent requesting exchange and, in the event of the occurrence of an
Exchange Event as described in (iii) above, the relevant Issuer may also give notice to the Principal Paying
Agent or, as the case may be, the CMU Lodging Agent, requesting exchange. Any such exchange shall occur
not later than 45 days after the date of receipt of the first relevant notice by the Principal Paying Agent or, as
the case may be, the CMU Lodging Agent.
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Tranches of Bearer Notes shall not be physically delivered in Belgium, except to a clearing system, a
depositary or other institution for the purpose of their immobilisation in accordance with article 4 of
the Belgian Law of 14 December 2005.

A Noteholder who holds a principal amount of less than the minimum Specified Denomination will not
receive a definitive Bearer Note in respect of such holding and would need to purchase a principal amount of
Notes so that it holds an amount equal to one or more Specified Denominations.

The following legend will appear on all Bearer Notes (other than Temporary Bearer Global Notes), receipts,
interest coupons and talons relating to such Notes where TEFRA D is specified in the applicable Final
Terms:

"ANY UNITED STATES PERSON (AS DEFINED IN THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE OF THE
UNITED STATES) WHO HOLDS THIS OBLIGATION WILL BE SUBJECT TO LIMITATIONS
UNDER THE UNITED STATES INCOME TAX LAWS, INCLUDING THE LIMITATIONS PROVIDED
IN SECTIONS 165(j) AND 1287(a) OF THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE."

The sections referred to provide that United States holders, with certain exceptions, will not be entitled to
deduct any loss on Bearer Notes, receipts or interest coupons and will not be entitled to capital gains
treatment in respect of any gain on any sale, disposition, redemption or payment of principal in respect of
Bearer Notes, receipts, interest coupons or talons.

Notes which are represented by a Bearer Global Note will only be transferable in accordance with the rules
and procedures for the time being of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or the CMU Service, as the case
may be.

Registered Notes

The Registered Notes of each Tranche offered and sold in reliance on Regulation S, which will be sold to
non-U.S. persons outside the United States, will initially be represented by a global note in registered form (a
Regulation S Global Note). Prior to expiry of the period that ends 40 days after the completion of the
distribution of each Tranche of Notes, as certified by the relevant Dealer (in the case of a non-syndicated
issue) or the relevant Lead Manager (in the case of a syndicated issue) (the Distribution Compliance
Period), beneficial interests in a Regulation S Global Note may not be offered or sold to, or for the account
or benefit of, a U.S. person save as otherwise provided in Condition 2 and may not be held otherwise than
through Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or the CMU Service and such Regulation S Global Note will
bear a legend regarding such restrictions on transfer.

The Registered Notes of each Tranche may only be offered and sold in the United States or to U.S. persons
in private transactions to "qualified institutional buyers" within the meaning of Rule 144A under the
Securities Act (QIBs). The Registered Notes of each Tranche sold to QIBs will be represented by a global
note in registered form (a Rule 144A Global Note and, together with a Regulation S Global Note, the
Registered Global Notes).

Registered Global Notes will either (i) be deposited with a custodian for, and registered in the name of a
nominee of, The Depository Trust Company (DTC); (ii) be deposited with a custodian for, and registered in
the name of a nominee of, DTC for the accounts of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, (iii), when
represented by a Regulation S Global Note, be deposited with a common depositary or a common
safekeeper, for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and registered in the name of a common nominee of
Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or in the name of a nominee of the common safekeeper, or (iv),
when represented by a Regulation S Global Note, be deposited with a sub-custodian for the HKMA as
operator of the CMU Service, as specified in the applicable Final Terms. Persons holding beneficial interests
in Registered Global Notes will be entitled or required, as the case may be, under the circumstances
described below, to receive physical delivery of definitive Notes in fully registered form.
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The Rule 144A Global Note will be subject to certain restrictions on transfer set forth therein and will bear a
legend regarding such restrictions.

Payments of principal, interest and any other amount in respect of the Registered Global Notes will, in the
absence of provision to the contrary, be made to the person shown on the Register (as defined in Condition
6.4) as the registered holder of the Registered Global Notes. None of the relevant Issuer, (in the case of
Guaranteed Senior Notes) the Guarantor, the Trustee, any Paying Agent or the Registrar will have any
responsibility or liability for any aspect of the records relating to or payments or deliveries made on account
of beneficial ownership interests in the Registered Global Notes or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing
any records relating to such beneficial ownership interests.

Payments of interest in respect of the Registered Notes in definitive form will, in the absence of provision to
the contrary, be made to the persons shown on the Register on the relevant Record Date (as defined in
Condition 6.4) immediately preceding the due date for payment in the manner provided in that Condition.

Interests in a Registered Global Note will be exchangeable (free of charge), in whole but not in part, for
definitive Registered Notes without receipts, interest coupons or talons attached only upon the occurrence of
an Exchange Event. For these purposes, Exchange Event means that (i) an Event of Default has occurred
and is continuing, (ii) in the case of Notes registered in the name of a nominee for DTC, either DTC has
notified the relevant Issuer that it is unwilling or unable to continue to act as depositary for the Notes and no
alternative clearing system is available or DTC has ceased to constitute a clearing agency registered under
the Exchange Act, (iii) in the case of Notes registered in the name of a nominee for a common depositary for
Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, the relevant Issuer has been notified that both Euroclear and
Clearstream, Luxembourg, and in the case of Notes held through the CMU Service, the CMU Service, have
been closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of holiday, statutory or
otherwise) or have announced an intention permanently to cease business or have in fact done so and, in any
such case, no successor clearing system satisfactory to the Trustee is available or (iv) the relevant Issuer or
(in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes) the Guarantor has or will become subject to adverse tax
consequences which would not be suffered were the Notes represented by the Registered Global Note in
definitive form and a certificate to such effect signed by two Authorised Signatories of the relevant Issuer or
(in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes) the Guarantor is given to the Trustee. The relevant Issuer will
promptly give notice to Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14 if an Exchange Event occurs. In the
event of the occurrence of an Exchange Event, DTC, Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg (acting on the
instructions of any holder of an interest in such Registered Global Note) and/or in the case of Notes held
through the CMU Service, the relevant account holders therein, may give notice to the Registrar or, as the
case may be, the CMU Lodging Agent requesting exchange and, in the event of the occurrence of an
Exchange Event as described in (iv) above, the relevant Issuer may also give notice to the Registrar or, as the
case may be, the CMU Lodging Agent requesting exchange. Any such exchange shall occur not later than 10
days after the date of receipt of the first relevant notice by the Registrar or, as the case may be, the CMU
Lodging Agent.

Transfer of Interests

Interests in a Registered Global Note may, subject to compliance with all applicable restrictions, be
transferred to a person who wishes to hold such interest in another Registered Global Note. No beneficial
owner of an interest in a Registered Global Note will be able to transfer such interest, except in accordance
with the applicable procedures of DTC, Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and the CMU Service, in each
case to the extent applicable. Registered Notes are also subject to the restrictions on transfer set forth
therein and will bear a legend regarding such restrictions; see "Subscription and Sale and Transfer and
Selling Restrictions".

General

Pursuant to the Agency Agreement (as defined under "Terms and Conditions of the Notes"), the Principal
Paying Agent or, as the case may be, the CMU Lodging Agent shall arrange that, where a further Tranche of
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Notes is issued which is intended to form a single Series with an existing Tranche of Notes at a point after
the Issue Date of the further Tranche, the Notes of such further Tranche shall be assigned a common code
and ISIN and, where applicable, a CUSIP and CINS number or, where the CMU Service is able to generate a
temporary CMU Instrument Number, a CMU instrument number which are different from the common code,
ISIN, CUSIP, CINS and CMU instrument number assigned to Notes of any other Tranche of the same Series
until such time as the Tranches are consolidated and form a single Series, which shall not be prior to the
expiry of the Distribution Compliance Period applicable to the Notes of such Tranche.

For so long as any of the Notes is represented by a Global Note held on behalf of Euroclear, Clearstream,
Luxembourg and/or the CMU Service, each person (other than Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or
the CMU Service) who is for the time being shown in the records of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or
the CMU Service as the holder of a particular nominal amount of such Notes (in which regard any certificate
or other document issued by Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or the CMU Service as to the nominal
amount of such Notes standing to the account of any person shall be conclusive and binding for all purposes
save in the case of manifest error) shall be treated by the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor, the Agents and the
Trustee as the holder of such nominal amount of such Notes for all purposes other than with respect to the
payment of principal or interest on such nominal amount of such Notes, for which purpose the bearer of the
relevant Bearer Global Note or the registered holder of the relevant Registered Global Note shall be treated
by the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor and the Agents and the Trustee as the holder of such nominal amount of
such Notes in accordance with and subject to the terms of the relevant Global Note and the expressions
Noteholder and holder of Notes and related expressions shall be construed accordingly. Notwithstanding
the above, if a Note is held through the CMU Service, any payment that is made in respect of such Note shall
be made to, or to the order of, the bearer or at the direction of the registered holder to the person(s) for whose
account(s) interests in such Note are credited as being held through the CMU Service in accordance with the
CMU Rules (as defined in the Trust Deed) at the relevant time as notified to the CMU Lodging Agent by the
CMU Service in a relevant CMU Instrument Position Report or any other relevant notification by the CMU
Service (which notification, in either case, shall be conclusive evidence of the records of the CMU Service as
to the identity of any accountholder and the principal amount of any Note credited to its account, save in the
case of manifest error) and such payments shall discharge the obligation of the Issuer in respect of that
payment under such Note.

So long as DTC or its nominee is the registered owner or holder of a Registered Global Note, DTC or such
nominee, as the case may be, will be considered the sole owner or holder of the Notes represented by such
Registered Global Note for all purposes under the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement and such Notes except
to the extent that in accordance with DTC's published rules and procedures any ownership rights may be
exercised by its participants or beneficial owners through participants.

Any reference herein to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or DTC and/or the CMU Service
shall, whenever the context so permits, be deemed to include a reference to any additional or alternative
clearing system specified in the applicable Final Terms.

No Noteholder, Receiptholder or Couponholder shall be entitled to proceed directly against the relevant
Issuer or (in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes) the Guarantor unless the Trustee, having become bound so
to proceed, fails or is unable so to do within a reasonable period and the failure or inability shall be
continuing.
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FORM OF FINAL TERMS
APPLICABLE FINAL TERMS IN RESPECT OF PR NOTES

Set out below is the form of Final Terms for the purposes of Article 8(2)(a) of the Prospectus Regulation
which will be completed for each Tranche of PR Notes issued under the Programme

[PROHIBITION OF SALES TO EEA AND UK RETAIL INVESTORS — The Notes are not intended to
be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available
to any retail investor in the European Economic Area (the EEA) or in the United Kingdom (the UK). For
these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point
(12) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, MiFID I1); or (ii) a customer within the meaning
of Directive (EU) 2016/97 (the Insurance Distribution Directive), where that customer would not qualify
as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or (iii) not a qualified investor as
defined in the Prospectus Regulation (where Prospectus Regulation means Regulation (EU) 2017/1129).
Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (as amended, the
PRIIPs Regulation) for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors
in the EEA or in the UK has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making
them available to any retail investor in the EEA or in the UK may be unlawful under the PRIIPs
Regulation.]*

[MIFID Il product governance/Professional investors and eligible counterparties only target market —
Solely for the purposes of [the/each] manufacturer's product approval process, the target market assessment
in respect of the Notes has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Notes is eligible
counterparties and professional clients only, each as defined in [Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, MiFID
ID/[MIFID I1]; and (ii) all channels for distribution of the Notes to eligible counterparties and professional
clients are appropriate. [Consider any negative target market.] Any person subsequently offering, selling or
recommending the Notes (a distributor) should take into consideration the manufacturer['s/s'] target market
assessment; however, a distributor subject to MiFID Il is responsible for undertaking its own target market
assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the manufacturer['s/s] target market
assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.]?

[In connection with Section 309B of the Securities and Futures Act (Chapter 289) of Singapore (as modified
or amended from time to time, the SFA) and the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets Products)
Regulations 2018 of Singapore (the CMP Regulations 2018), the Issuer has determined the classification of
the Notes as prescribed capital markets products (as defined in the CMP Regulations 2018) and Excluded
Investment Products (as defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and
MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendations on Investment Products)]?

FINAL TERMS
[Date]

[National Australia Bank Limited (ABN 12 004 044 937)/Bank of New Zealand/
BNZ International Funding Limited, acting through its London Branch]

1 Legend to be included on front of the Final Terms if the Notes potentially constitute “packaged” products and no key information document will be
prepared or the Issuer wishes to prohibit offers to EEA and UK retail investors for any other reason, in which case the item entitled “Prohibition of
Sales to EEA and UK Investors” should be specified to be “Applicable”.

2 Legend to be included on front of the Final Terms if transaction involves one or more manufacturer(s) subject to MiFID 1l and if following the
"ICMA 1" approach.

8 To amend notification if the Notes are “capital markets products other than prescribed capital markets products” pursuant to Section 3098 of the
SFA or Specified Investment Products (as defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-
N16: Notice on Recommendations on Investment Products). Relevant Manager(s)/Dealer(s) to consider whether it / they have received the
necessary product classification from the Issuer prior to the launch of the offer, pursuant to Section 309B of the SFA.
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Legal Entity Identifier (LEI): [F8SB4JFBSYQFRQEH3Z21/N7LGVZM7X4UQ66T7LT74/
549300HVMZ89HDMELWO08]

Issue of [Aggregate Nominal Amount of Tranche] [Title of Notes]
[guaranteed by Bank of New Zealand]
under the U.S.$100,000,000,000

Global Medium Term Note Programme

[The Notes will only be admitted to trading on the Professional Segment of the Regulated Market of
the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, which is a specific segment of an EEA regulated market (as defined
in MiFID I1), to which only qualified investors (as defined in the Prospectus Regulation) can have
access and shall not be offered or sold to non-qualified investors.]*

PART A—CONTRACTUAL TERMS

[Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Conditions set forth in the
Offering Circular dated 16 November 2020 [and the supplement[s] to it dated [date] [and [date]] which
[together] constitute[s] a base prospectus for the purposes of the Prospectus Regulation (the Offering
Circular). This document constitutes the Final Terms of the Notes described herein for the purposes of
Avticle 8 of the Prospectus Regulation and must be read in conjunction with the Offering Circular in order to
obtain all the relevant information. The Offering Circular is available on the website of the Luxembourg
Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu).]

(The following alternative language applies if the first tranche of an issue which is being increased was
issued under an Offering Circular with an earlier date.)

[Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Conditions (the
Conditions) set forth in the Offering Circular dated [15 December 2011/14 December 2012/16 December
2013/15 December 2014/19 November 2015/17 November 2016/17 November 2017/21 November 2018/20
November 2019] [and the supplement to it dated 23 November 2012]. This document constitutes the Final
Terms of the Notes described herein for the purposes of Article 8 of the Prospectus Regulation and must be
read in conjunction with the Offering Circular dated 16 November 2020 [and the supplement[s] to it dated
[date] [and [date]] which [together] constitute[s] a base prospectus for the purposes of the Prospectus
Regulation (the Offering Circular), save in respect of the Conditions which are extracted from the Offering
Circular dated [15 December 2011/14 December 2012/16 December 2013/15 December 2014/19 November
2015/17 November 2016/17 November 2017/21 November 2018/20 November 2019], in order to obtain all
the relevant information. The Offering Circular is available on the website of the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange (www.bourse.lu).]

(Include whichever of the following apply or specify as "Not Applicable”. Note that the numbering should
remain as set out below, even if "Not Applicable" is indicated for individual paragraphs or subparagraphs
(in which case the sub-paragraphs of the paragraphs which are not applicable can be deleted). Italics
denote directions for completing the Final Terms.)

(If the Notes issued by Bank of New Zealand or BNZ International Funding Limited, acting through its

London Branch have a maturity of less than one year from the date of their issue, the minimum denomination
must be £100,000 or its equivalent in any other currency.)

1. (a) Series Number: [ ]

4 Legend to be included for PR Notes with a minimum denomination of less than €100,000 (or equivalent in another currency) which will only be
admitted to trading on the Professional Segment of the Regulated Market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.
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(b) Tranche Number: [ ]

(c) Date on which the Notes will be  The Notes will be consolidated and form a single Series
consolidated and form a single with [identify earlier Tranches] on [the Issue Date/the
Series: date that is 40 days after the Issue Date/exchange of the
Temporary Bearer Global Note for interests in the
Permanent Bearer Global Note, as referred to in
Paragraph 22 below, which is expected to occur on or

about [date]][Not Applicable]

2. Specified Currency or Currencies: [ ]
3. Aggregate Nominal Amount:
(a)  Series: [ ]
(b)  Tranche: [ ]
4, Issue Price: [ ] per cent. of the Aggregate Nominal Amount

[plus accrued interest from [insert date]] (include in the
case of fungible issues only, if applicable)

5. @ Specified Denominations: [ ]

(N.B. Notes must have a minimum denomination of
€100,000 (or equivalent) unless they are to be admitted
to trading only on a regulated market, or a specific
segment of a regulated market, to which only qualified
investors have access, in which case the Notes must have
a minimum denomination of at least €1,000 (or
equivalent). It is anticipated that Notes issued by BNZ
and BNZ-IF under the Programme that are to be
admitted to trading on a regulated market, or a specific
segment of a regulated market, to which only qualified
investors have access, shall be issued with a minimum
denomination of €100,000 (or equivalent).)

(Note — where multiple denominations above [€100,000]
or equivalent are being used the following sample
wording should be followed:

"[€100,000] and integral multiples of [€1,000] in excess
thereof up to and including [€199,000]. No Notes in
definitive form will be issued with a denomination above
[€199,000].")

(b) Calculation Amount (in relation [ ]

to calculation of interest for

Notes in global form see

Conditions):
(If only one Specified Denomination, insert the Specified
Denomination. If more than one Specified Denomination,
insert the highest common factor. Note: There must be a
common factor in the case of two or more Specified
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6. @) Issue Date:

(b) Interest Commencement Date:
7. Maturity Date:
8. Interest Basis:
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Denominations.)

[ ]
[Specify/Issue Date/Not Applicable]

(N.B. An Interest Commencement Date will not be
relevant for certain Notes, for example Zero Coupon
Notes.)

[Fixed rate—specify date/undated/Interest Payment Date
falling in or nearest to [specify month and year]]

[Floating rate—Interest Payment Date falling in or
nearest to [specify month and year]]/[Undated]

(N.B. for certain Fixed Rate Notes, including Notes
denominated in Renminbi or Hong Kong dollars, or
Fixed Rate Notes which apply a Business Day
Convention other than Following Business Day
Convention specified in paragraph 14(f) below, where
the Interest Payment Dates are subject to modification it
will be necessary to use the “Interest Payment Date
falling in or nearest to [specify month and year]”
formulation)

(N.B. for Zero Coupon Notes, include relevant Business
Day Convention language if the Maturity Date is to be
postponed or brought forward (as applicable) in
accordance with a Business Day Convention. For a Zero
Coupon Note with a Maturity Date that is to be
postponed or brought forward (as applicable) in
accordance with the Modified Following Business Day
Convention consider including: “/date] [month] [year],
unless [date] [month] [year] is not a [specify applicable
financial centres, as appropriate] Business Day, in which
case the Maturity Date shall be postponed to the next day
which is a [specify applicable financial centres, as
appropriate] Business Day unless it would thereby fall
into the next calendar month, in which event the Maturity
Date shall be brought forward to the immediately
preceding [specify applicable financial centres, as
appropriate] Business Day. [Specify applicable financial
centres, as appropriate] Business Day means a day on
which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets
settle payments and are open for general business
(including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign
currency deposits) in [specify applicable financial
centres, as appropriate].”)

1l ] per cent. per annum Fixed Rate]
[[LIBOR/EURIBOR/HIBOR/CDOR/SIBOR/CNH

HIBOR/NIBOR] [Compounded Daily [SONIA/SOFR]]
[Average [SONIA/SOFR]] [BBSW Rate/BKBM Rate]
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10.

11.

12.

13.

Redemption/Payment Basis:

Change of Interest Basis:

U.S. Dollar Equivalent:

Put/Call Options:

(a)
(b)

Status of the Notes:

Date of [Board] approval for
issuance  of Notes [and
Guarantee] obtained:

+-[ ] per cent. per annum Floating Rate]
[Zero Coupon]
(further particulars specified below)

(N.B. It is expected that BBSW Rate or BKBM Rate will
only be selected where “BBSW Determination” or
“BKBM Determination”, respectively, are marked as
“Applicable” below)

Subject to any purchase and cancellation or early
redemption, the Notes will be redeemed on the Maturity
Dateat[ ] per cent. of their nominal amount

[Specify details of any provision for change of Notes into
another Interest Basis or cross refer Paragraphs 14 and
15 below if details are included there] [Not Applicable]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(N.B. Where Notes are denominated in Renminbi, it is
expected that this paragraph will be marked
“Applicable”.)

[Investor Put]

[Issuer Call]

[Not Applicable]

[(further particulars specified below)]

[Senior]/[Subordinated]/[Guaranteed Senior]

[ ]1[and [ ], respectively][Not Applicable]
(N.B. Only relevant where Board (or similar)
authorisation is required for the particular tranche of
Notes or related Guarantee)

PROVISIONS RELATING TO INTEREST (IF ANY) PAYABLE

14.

Fixed Rate Note Provisions:

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

Rate(s) of Interest:

Interest Payment Date(s):

Fixed Coupon Amount(s) for
Notes in definitive form (and in
relation to Notes in global form,
see Conditions):

Broken Amount(s) for Notes in
definitive form (and in relation
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[Applicable/Not Applicable]
(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of
this Paragraph)

[ ] per cent. per annum payable in arrear on each
Interest Payment Date

[ ] in each year, commencing on [ ], up to (and
including) the Maturity Date (Amend appropriately in the
case of irregular coupons)

[ ] per Calculation Amount

[ ] per Calculation Amount payable on the Interest
Payment Date falling [infon] [ ] [Not Applicable]
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to Notes in global form, see
Conditions):

(e) Day Count Fraction:

()] Business Day Convention:

Q) Adjusted:
(i) Non-Adjusted:
(9) Additional Business Centre(s):

(h) Determination Date(s):

15. Floating Rate Note Provisions:

@ Specified  Period(s)/Specified
Interest Payment Dates:

(b) Business Day Convention:

(c) Additional Business Centre(s):

(d) Manner in which the Rate of
Interest and Interest Amount is
to be determined:

(e) Party responsible for calculating
the Rate of Interest and Interest
Amount (if not the Agent):
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[30/360]

[Actual/Actual (ICMA)]

[RBA Bond Basis/Australian Bond Basis]
[Actual/Actual (ISDA)][Actual/Actual]
[Actual/365 (Fixed)]

[Actual/365 (Sterling)]

[Actual/360]

[30E/360] [Eurobond Basis]

[30E/360 (ISDA)]

[Floating Rate Convention/Following Business Day
Convention/Modified Following Business Day
Convention/Preceding Business Day Convention]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
[Applicable/Not Applicable]

[ ] [Not Applicable]

1l ] in each year] [Not Applicable]

(Only relevant where Day Count Fraction is
Actual/Actual (ICMA). In such a case, insert regular
interest payment dates, ignoring issue date or maturity
date in the case of a long or short first or last coupon)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of
this Paragraph)

[ ] [, subject to adjustment in accordance with the
Business Day Convention set out in (b) below /, not
subject to adjustment, as the Business Day Convention in
(b) below is specified to be Not Applicable]

[Floating Rate Convention/Following Business Day
Convention/Modified Following Business Day
Convention/Preceding Business Day Convention][Not
Applicable]

[ ] [Not Applicable]

[Screen Rate Determination — Term Rate/Screen Rate
Determination — SOFR/Screen Rate Determination —
SONIA/ISDA Determination/BBSW
Determination/BKBM Determination]

[ ][Not Applicable]
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()] Screen Rate Determination:

(M Reference Rate and
Relevant Financial
Centre:

(i) Interest Determination
Date(s):

(iii) Relevant Screen Page:

(iv) SOFR Provisions:

(A) Calculation
Method:

(B) Observation
Method:

© Lookback
Period (p):

(D) Observation
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[Applicable — Term Rate/Applicable — SOFR/Applicable
— SONIA/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of
this Paragraph)

Reference Rate: [[ ] month
[LIBOR/EURIBOR/HIBOR/CDOR/SIBOR/CNH
HIBOR/NIBOR]] [SONIA] [SOFR]

Relevant Time: [ ][Not Applicable]

(Where (i) Reference Rate is SONIA and Calculation
Method is not SONIA Index Determination, or (ii)
Reference Rate is SOFR, Relevant Time will be ‘Not
Applicable’)

Relevant Financial Centre:
[London/Brussels/Hong Kong/Toronto/Singapore/Oslo]
[Not Applicable]

(Where Reference Rate is SONIA or SOFR, Relevant
Financial Centre will be ‘Not Applicable’)

[the first day of each Interest Period][the second/[specify]
business day prior to the start of each Interest Period][the
second day on which the TARGET2 System is open prior
to the start of each Interest Period][The [first/[specify]]
[U.S. Government Securities Business Day/London
Banking Day] falling after the last day of the relevant
Observation Period][The day falling [specify] [U.S.
Government Securities Business Day[s]/London Banking
Day[s]] prior to each Interest Payment Date][specify
other]

[ ]

(In the case of EURIBOR, if not Reuters EURIBORO1
ensure it is a page which shows a composite rate or
amend the fallback provisions appropriately.)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of
this paragraph)

[Compounded Daily SOFR Formula/SOFR Index
Determination/Average SOFR]

[Lookback/Observation Shift/Not Applicable]
[5/[specify other] U.S. Government Securities Business
Days][Not Applicable]

[5/[specify other] U.S. Government Securities Business
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Shift Period:

(E) Relevant
Number:

(V) SONIA Provisions:

(A) Calculation
Method:

(B) Observation
Method:

© Lag Lookback
Period (p):

(D) Observation
Shift Period:
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Days][Not Applicable]

(N.B. When setting the Lookback Period (p) or the
Observation Shift Period, the practicalities of this period
should be discussed with the Agent or, if applicable, such
other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of
Interest, as specified in the applicable Final Terms. It is
anticipated that ‘(p)’ will be no fewer than 5 U.S.
Government Securities Business Days unless otherwise
agreed with the Agent or, if applicable/required, such
other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of
Interest, as specified in the applicable Final Terms, in
relation to the relevant issuance)

[[specify] U.S. Government Securities Business
Days][Not Applicable]

(Not applicable unless Calculation Method is SOFR
Index Determination)

(N.B. When setting the Relevant Number, the
practicalities of this period should be discussed with the
Agent or, if applicable, such other party responsible for
the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the
applicable Final Terms. It is anticipated that the Relevant
Number will be no fewer than 5 U.S. Government
Securities Business Days unless otherwise agreed with
the Agent or, if applicable/required, such other party
responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as
specified in the applicable Final Terms, in relation to the
relevant issuance)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of
this paragraph)

[Compounded Daily SONIA Formula/SONIA Index
Determination/Average SONIA]

[Lag/Observation Shift/Not Applicable]

[5/[specify other] London Banking Days][Not
Applicable]

[5/[specify other] London Banking Days][Not
Applicable]

(N.B. When setting the Lag Lookback Period (p) or the
Observation Shift Period, the practicalities of this period
should be discussed with the Agent or, if applicable, such
other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of
Interest, as specified in the applicable Final Terms. It is
anticipated that ‘(p)’ will be no fewer than 5 London
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(E) Relevant
Number:

(o) ISDA Determination:

(M Floating Rate Option:

(i) Designated Maturity:

(iii) Reset Date:

(h) BBSW Determination:

(1) Relevant Financial
Centre:

(i) Interest  Determination
Date(s):

Q) BKBM Determination:
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Banking Days unless otherwise agreed with the Agent or,
if applicable/required, such other party responsible for
the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the
applicable Final Terms, in relation to the relevant
issuance)

[[specify] London Banking Days][Not Applicable]

(Not applicable unless Calculation Method is SONIA
Index Determination)

(N.B. When setting the Relevant Number, the
practicalities of this period should be discussed with the
Agent or, if applicable, such other party responsible for
the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the
applicable Final Terms. It is anticipated that the Relevant
Number will be no fewer than 5 London Banking Days
unless otherwise agreed with the Agent or, if
applicable/required, such other party responsible for the
calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the
applicable Final Terms, in relation to the relevant
issuance)

(It is anticipated that Screen Rate Determination will be
used on an issue by issue basis, unless otherwise agreed
between the Relevant Issuer and the relevant dealer or
the relevant managers on the launch of a particular
issue.)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of
this Paragraph)

[ ]
[ ]
[ ]

(In the case of a LIBOR or EURIBOR based option, the
first day of the Interest Period)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of
this Paragraph)

[Sydney]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
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(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of
this Paragraph)

(M Relevant Financial [Auckland and Wellington]
Centre:
(i) Interest  Determination [ ]
Date(s):
() Linear Interpolation: [Not Applicable][Applicable — the Rate of Interest for the

[long/short] [first/last] Interest Period shall be calculated
using Linear Interpolation (specify for each short or long
interest period)]

(K) Margin(s): [+/-][ ] per cent. per annum

() Minimum Rate of Interest: 1l ] per cent. per annum][Not Applicable]
(m) Maximum Rate of Interest: 1l ] per cent. per annum][Not Applicable]
(n) Day Count Fraction: [[Actual/Actual (ISDA)] [Actual/Actual]

Actual/365 (Fixed)

Actual/365 (Sterling)

Actual/360

[30/360] [360/360] [Bond Basis]
[30E/360] [Eurobond Basis]
30E/360 (ISDA)

RBA Bond Basis

Australian Bond Basis]

(See Condition 5.7 for alternatives)

(0) Interest Amounts Non- [Applicable/Not Applicable]

Adjusted:
16. Zero Coupon Note Provisions: [Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the
remaining subparagraphs of this Paragraph)
@) Accrual Yield: [ ] per cent. per annum
(b) Reference Price: [ ]

() Day Count Fraction in relation [30/360]
to Early Redemption Amounts:

[Actual/360]
[Actual/365]

PROVISIONS RELATING TO REDEMPTION

17. Notice periods for Condition 7.2: Minimum period: [30/[ ]] days
Maximum period: [[60/[ ]] days] [Not Applicable]

18. Issuer Call: [Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of
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(@) Optional Redemption Date(s):

(b) Optional Redemption Amount
and method, if any, of
calculation of such amount(s):

(c) If redeemable in part:
Q) Minimum Redemption
Amount:

(i) Maximum Redemption
Amount:

(d) Notice periods:

19. Investor Put:

@ Optional Redemption Date(s):

(b) Optional Redemption Amount:
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this Paragraph)

[ ]

i ] per Calculation Amount] / [In accordance with
the table below]

Optional Redemption Optional Redemption

Date Amount (as a percentage
of  the Calculation
Amount)

[ ] [ ]

(NB: If the Optional Redemption Amount is other than a
specified amount per Calculation Amount, the Notes will
need to be Exempt Notes)

Minimum period: [5/[ 1] days
Maximum period: [10/[ ]] days

(N.B. When setting notice periods, the Issuer is advised to
consider the practicalities of distribution of information
through intermediaries, for example, clearing systems
(which require a minimum of 5 clearing system business
days’ notice for a call) and custodians, as well as any
other notice requirements which may apply, for example,
as between the Issuer and the Agent or Trustee)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of
this Paragraph)

[ ]

1l ] per Calculation Amount] / [In accordance with
the table below]

Optional Redemption Optional Redemption
Date Amount (as a percentage
of the Calculation
Amount)
[ ] [ ]
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(c) Notice periods:

20. Final Redemption Amount:

21. Early Redemption Amount payable on
redemption for taxation reasons or on
event of default:

(NB: If the Optional Redemption Amount is other than a
specified amount per Calculation Amount, the Notes will
need to be Exempt Notes)

Minimum period: [15/[ ]] days
Maximum period: [30/[ ]] days

(N.B. When setting notice periods, the Issuer is advised to
consider the practicalities of distribution of information
through intermediaries, for example, clearing systems
(which require a minimum of 15 clearing system business
days’ notice for a put) and custodians, as well as any
other notice requirements which may apply, for example,
as between the Issuer and the Agent or Trustee)

[ ] per Calculation Amount

1l ] per Calculation Amount] / [Condition 7.5
applies]

GENERAL PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO THE NOTES

22. (@) Form of Notes:
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[Bearer Notes:

[Temporary Bearer Global Note exchangeable for a
Permanent Bearer Global Note which is exchangeable for
Definitive Bearer Notes [on 60 days' notice given at any
time/only upon an Exchange Event].]

[Temporary Bearer Global Note exchangeable for
Definitive Bearer Notes on and after the Exchange Date.]

[Permanent Bearer Global Note exchangeable for
Definitive Bearer Notes [on 60 days' notice given at any
time/only upon an Exchange Event].]

(Ensure that this is consistent with the wording in the
"Form of the Notes" section in the Offering Circular and
the Notes themselves. N.B. The exchange upon notice/at
any time options should not be expressed to be applicable
if the Specified Denomination of the Notes in Paragraph
5(a) includes language substantially to the following
effect: "[€100,000] and integral multiples of [€1,000] in
excess thereof up to and including [€199,000]."
Furthermore, such Specified Denomination construction
is not permitted in relation to any issue of Notes which is
to be represented on issue by a Temporary Bearer Global
Note exchangeable for Definitive Bearer Notes.)

[Registered Notes:
Regulation S Global Note (U.S.$[ ] nominal amount)

registered in the name of a nominee for [DTC/a sub-
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(b) New Global Note:

23. Additional Financial Centre(s):

24. Talons for future Coupons to be
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custodian for the CMU/a common depositary for
Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg/a common
safekeeper for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg
(and held under the NSS)]/Rule 144A Global Note
(U.S.$[ ] nominal amount) registered in the name of
a nominee for [DTC/a common depositary for Euroclear
and Clearstream, Luxembourg/a common safekeeper for
Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg (and held under
the NSS)] (specify nominal amounts)]

(It is anticipated that all Registered Notes issued by NAB,
BNZ or BNZ-IF under the Programme will be registered
in the name of a common depositary for Euroclear and
Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or in the name of a
nominee for DTC and/or a sub-custodian for the CMU,
because Registered Notes issued by NAB, BNZ or BNZ-IF
do not currently satisfy the ECB's Eurosystem eligibility
criteria and, accordingly, cannot be recognised as
eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and
intra-day credit operations.)

(Ensure that this is consistent with the wording in the
"Form of the Notes" section in the Offering Circular and
the Notes themselves. NB: The exchange event upon
notice/at any time options should not be expressed to be
applicable if the Specified Denomination of the Notes in
Paragraph 5(a) includes language substantially to the
following effect: "[€100,000] and integral multiples of
[€1,000] in excess thereof up to and including
[€199,000]." Furthermore, such Specified Denomination
construction is not permitted in relation to any issue of
Notes which is to be represented on issue by a Temporary
Bearer Global Note exchangeable for a Definitive Bearer
Note.)

[Yes] [No]

[It is anticipated that all Bearer Notes issued by NAB,
BNZ or BNZ-IF under the Programme will not be issued
in NGN form and will be deposited with a sub-custodian
for the CMU or a common depositary for Euroclear and
Clearstream, Luxembourg. Bearer Notes issued by NAB,
BNZ or BNZ-IF do not currently satisfy the ECB's
Eurosystem eligibility criteria and, accordingly, cannot
be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem
monetary policy and intra-day credit operations.]

[ ] [Not Applicable]
(Note that this Paragraph relates to the date of payment
and not the end dates of Interest Periods for the purposes
of calculating the amount of interest to which sub-
paragraph 15(c) relates.)

[Yes, as the Notes have more than 27 coupon payments,
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attached to Definitive Bearer Notes: Talons may be required if, on exchange into definitive
form, more than 27 coupon payments are still to be
made/No]

THIRD PARTY INFORMATION

[Relevant third party information (for example: “The description[s] of the [‘AA-’] and [‘Aa3’] credit
rating[s] in Item [2] of Part B of these Final Terms”)] [has/have] been extracted from [specify source(s)]
[respectively]. The Issuer confirms that such information has been accurately reproduced and that, so far as it
is aware and is able to ascertain from such information published by [specify source(s)], no facts have been
omitted which would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading. [Complete/amend as
appropriate]

Signed on behalf of [insert name of Issuer]: [Signed on behalf of Bank of New Zealand:
B B
Duly authorised Duly authorised

By:

Duly authorised]
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PART B—OTHER INFORMATION

Ratings:
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[Application has been made by the Issuer (or on its
behalf) for the Notes to be admitted to trading on [the
[Professional Segment of the] Regulated Market of the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange and listed on the official
list of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange] [other] with
effect from [ ].] [Application is expected to be made by
the Issuer (or on its behalf) for the Notes to be admitted
to trading on [the [Professional Segment of the]
Regulated Market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange
and listed on the official list of the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange] [other] with effect from [ ].] [Not
Applicable.]

(When documenting a fungible issue, need to indicate
that original Notes are already admitted to trading.)

[ ]

1. LISTING AND ADMISSION TO TRADING
@ Listing and Admission to
trading:
(b) Estimate of total expenses
related to admission to trading:
2. RATINGS

[The Notes to be issued [[have been]/[are expected to
be]]rated [ ]by[ ].][Not Applicable] [The following
ratings reflect ratings assigned to Notes of this type
issued under the Programme generally: [specify rating(s)
and rating agencies]]

[Need to include a brief explanation of the meaning of
the ratings if this has previously been published by the
rating provider. Consider including the following (to be
completed at the time of the relevant issuance):

[[S&P Global Ratings] has, in its [month, year]
publication “[S&P Global Ratings Definitions]”,
described a [long-term issue] credit rating of [‘447] in
the following terms: [“An obligation rated 'AA’ differs
from the highest-rated obligations only to a small
degree. The obligor's capacity to meet its financial
commitments on the obligation is very strong ... Ratings
from 'AA" to 'CCC' may be modified by the addition of a
plus (+) or minus (-) sign to show relative standing
within the rating categories.”.]] [Complete as
applicable]

[[Moody’s Investors Service] has, in its [month, year]
publication “[Rating Symbols and Definitions]”,
described a credit rating of [‘4a’] in the following
terms: [ “Obligations rated Aa are judged to be of high
quality and are subject to very low credit risk ... Note:
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Moody’s appends numerical modifiers 1, 2, and 3 to
each generic rating classification from Aa through Caa.
The modifier 1 indicates that the obligation ranks in the
higher end of its generic rating category; the modifier 2
indicates a mid-range ranking; and the modifier 3
indicates a ranking in the lower end of that generic
rating category.”.]] [Complete as applicable].

3. INTERESTS OF NATURAL AND LEGAL PERSONS INVOLVED IN THE ISSUE

[Save for any fees payable to [specify names of dealers/managers] (the [Dealers])/[Managers]), so
far as the Issuer is aware, no person involved in the issue of the Notes has an interest material to the
offer. The [Dealers/Managers] and their affiliates have engaged, and may in the future engage, in
investment banking and/or commercial banking transactions with, and may perform other services
for, the Issuer [and the Guarantor] and [its/their] affiliates in the ordinary course of business. —
Amend as appropriate if there are other interests]

(When adding any other description, consideration should be given as to whether such matters
described constitute "significant new factors" and consequently trigger the need for a supplement to
the Offering Circular under Article 23 of the Prospectus Regulation.)

4. REASONS FOR THE OFFER AND ESTIMATED NET PROCEEDS

(1 Reasons for the offer: [See "Use of Proceeds" in the Offering Circular/Give
details]

(See "Use of Proceeds" wording in Offering Circular
— if reasons for offer different from what is disclosed
in the Offering Circular, give details)

(i) Estimated net proceeds: [ ]
5. YIELD (Fixed Rate Notes only)
Indication of yield: [ 1[Not Applicable]

6. OPERATIONAL INFORMATION

@) ISIN: [ ]
(b) Common Code: [ ]
() CFI: [[See/[[include code], as updated, as set out on] the

website of the Association of National Numbering
Agencies (ANNA) or alternatively sourced from the
responsible National Numbering Agency that assigned
the ISIN/Not Applicable/Not Available]

(d) FISN: [[See/[[include code], as updated, as set out on] the
website of the Association of National Numbering
Agencies (ANNA) or alternatively sourced from the
responsible National Numbering Agency that assigned
the ISIN/Not Applicable/Not Available]

(e) [CMU Instrument Number:] [ ]
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()

(9)

(h)
(i)

@)

(k)

(1

[CUSIP/CINS/Other  securities

code(s):]

Any clearing system(s) other
than [Euroclear and
Clearstream, Luxembourg,]
[CMU Service] [and DTC]
[delete as applicable] and the
relevant identification
number(s):

Delivery:
names  of

If  syndicated,
Managers:

Name(s) and address(es) of
additional Paying Agent(s) (if
any):

Deemed delivery of clearing
system notices for the purposes
of Condition 14:

Intended to be held in a manner
which would allow Eurosystem
eligibility:
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(Only applicable for Notes held through the CMU
Service)

[Insert here any other relevant codes such as CUSIP and
CINS codes and renumber accordingly]

[Not Applicable/give name(s) and number(s)]

Delivery [against/free of] payment

[Not Applicable/give names]

[ ][Not Applicable]

[Any notice delivered to Noteholders through [Euroclear
and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg] [and/or DTC] [and/or
the persons shown in a CMU Instrument Position Report
issued by the CMU Service] will be deemed to have been
given on the [day]/[[second] day after the day] on which
it was given to [Euroclear and Clearstream,
Luxembourg,] [DTC] [or the persons shown in a CMU
Instrument Position Report issued by the CMU Service,]
[as applicable].]

[Yes. Note that the designation "yes" simply means that
the Notes are intended upon issue to be deposited with
one of the ICSDs as common safekeeper [(and registered
in the name of a nominee of one of the ICSDs acting as a
common safekeeper)] [include this text for Registered
Notes] and does not necessarily mean that the Notes will
be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem
monetary policy and intra-day credit operations by the
Eurosystem either upon issue or at any or all times
during their life. Such recognition will depend upon the
ECB being satisfied that Eurosystem eligibility criteria
have been met.]

[No. Whilst the designation is specified as "no" at the
date of these Final Terms, should the Eurosystem
eligibility criteria be amended in the future such that the
Notes are capable of meeting them the Notes may then
be deposited with one of the ICSDs as common
safekeeper [(and registered in the name of a nominee of
one of the ICSDs acting as common safekeeper)][include
this text for Registered Notes]. Note that this does not
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7. SELLING RESTRICTIONS

@ U.S. Selling Restrictions:

(b) The Republic of Korea (Korea)
Selling Restrictions:

(c) Prohibition of Sales to EEA and
UK Retail Investors:

necessarily mean that the Notes will then be recognised
as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and
intra day credit operations by the Eurosystem at any time
during their life. Such recognition will depend upon the
European Central Bank being satisfied that Eurosystem
eligibility criteria have been met.]] [include this text if
"no" selected]

Reg. S Compliance Category [1/2/3];
[TEFRA DITEFRA C/TEFRA not applicable]

[Not Applicable/The Notes have not been and will not be
registered for public offering under the Financial
Investments Services and Capital Markets Act of Korea
(the FSCMA). Accordingly, (i) the number of persons to
whom the Notes have been and will be offered shall be
fewer than 50 (as calculated in accordance with the
Enforcement Decree of the FSCMA), and (ii) the
number of Notes (where, for this purpose, the minimum
Specified Denomination specified in these Final Terms
shall constitute one Note) offered in Korea or to a
resident in Korea (as defined in the Foreign Exchange
Transactions Law of Korea (FETL) and its Enforcement
Decree) shall be fewer than 50. Furthermore, the Notes
shall not be divided or redenominated within 1 year from
the issuance. Except for the Notes offered in Korea or to
a resident in Korea in accordance with the
aforementioned restriction, none of the Notes may be
offered, sold and delivered directly or indirectly, or
offered or sold to any person for re-offering or resale,
directly or indirectly, in Korea or to any resident of
Korea within 1 year from the issuance of the Notes,
except pursuant to the applicable laws and regulations of
Korea.

Furthermore, by purchasing the Notes, each Noteholder
will be deemed to represent, warrant and agree that it
shall comply with all applicable regulatory requirements
(including but not limited to requirements under the
FETL) in connection with the purchase of the Notes.]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If the Notes clearly do not constitute “packaged”
products or the Notes do constitute “packaged” products
and a key information document will be prepared, “Not
Applicable” should be specified. If the Notes may
constitute “packaged” products and no key information
document will be prepared, “Applicable” should be
specified.)

5 only applicable for Notes offered into Korea otherwise state ‘Not Applicable'.
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(d) Prohibition of Sales to Belgian [Applicable/Not Applicable]
Consumers:
(N.B. advice should be taken from Belgian counsel
before disapplying this selling restriction)
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APPLICABLE FINAL TERMS IN RESPECT OF EXEMPT NOTES
Set out below is the form of Final Terms which will be completed for each Tranche of Exempt Notes.

[PROHIBITION OF SALES TO EEA AND UK RETAIL INVESTORS — The Notes are not intended to
be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available
to any retail investor in the European Economic Area (the EEA) or in the United Kingdom (the UK). For
these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point
(11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, MiFID I1); or (ii) a customer within the meaning
of Directive (EU) 2016/97 (the Insurance Distribution Directive), where that customer would not qualify
as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or (iii) not a qualified investor as
defined in the Prospectus Regulation (where Prospectus Regulation means Regulation (EU) 2017/1129).
Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (as amended, the
PRIIPs Regulation) for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors
in the EEA or in the UK has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making
them available to any retail investor in the EEA or in the UK may be unlawful under the PRIIPs
Regulation.]*

[MIFID Il product governance/[Professional investors and eligible counterparties only] target market
[~ Solely for the purposes of [the/each] manufacturer's product approval process, the target market
assessment in respect of the Notes has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Notes is eligible
counterparties and professional clients only, each as defined in [Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, MiFID
I)/[MIFID I1]; and (ii) all channels for distribution of the Notes to eligible counterparties and professional
clients are appropriate. [Consider any negative target market.] Any person subsequently offering, selling or
recommending the Notes (a distributor) should take into consideration the manufacturer['s/s'] target market
assessment; however, a distributor subject to MiFID 1l is responsible for undertaking its own target market
assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the manufacturer['s/s] target market
assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.]?/[appropriate target market legend to be
included.] [complete/amend as appropriate]]

[In connection with Section 309B of the Securities and Futures Act (Chapter 289) of Singapore (as modified
or amended from time to time, the SFA) and the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets Products)
Regulations 2018 of Singapore (the CMP Regulations 2018), the Issuer has determined the classification of
the Notes as prescribed capital markets products (as defined in the CMP Regulations 2018) and Excluded
Investment Products (as defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and
MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendations on Investment Products).]®

THE CSSF HAS NEITHER APPROVED NOR REVIEWED INFORMATION CONTAINED IN
THESE FINAL TERMS IN RESPECT OF EXEMPT NOTES

FINAL TERMS
[Date]

[National Australia Bank Limited (ABN 12 004 044 937)/Bank of New Zealand/
BNZ International Funding Limited, acting through its London Branch]

! Legend to be included on fiont of the Final Terms if the Notes potentially constitute “packaged” products and no key information document will be
prepared or the Issuer wishes to prohibit offers to EEA and UK retail investors for any other reason, in which case the item entitled “Prohibition of
Sales to EEA and UK Investors” should be specified to be “Applicable”.

2 This version of the legend to be included on front of the Final Terms if transaction involves one or more manufacturer(s) subject to MiFID Il and if
following the "ICMA 1" approach.

8 To amend notification if the Notes are “capital markets products other than prescribed capital markets products” pursuant to Section 309B of the
SFA or Specified Investment Products (as defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-N16:
Notice on Recommendations on Investment Products). Relevant Manager(s)/Dealer(s) to consider whether it / they have received the necessary
product classification from the Issuer prior to the launch of the offer, pursuant to Section 309B of the SFA.
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Legal Entity Identifier (LEI): [F8SB4JFBSYQFRQEH3Z21/N7LGVZM7X4UQ66T7LT74/
549300HVMZ89HDMELWO08]

Issue of [Aggregate Nominal Amount of Tranche] [Title of Notes]
[guaranteed by Bank of New Zealand]
under the U.S.$100,000,000,000

Global Medium Term Note Programme
PART A—CONTRACTUAL TERMS

[Any person making or intending to make an offer of the Notes may only do so in circumstances in
which no obligation arises for the Issuer or any [Dealer/Manager] to publish a prospectus pursuant to
Article 3 of the Prospectus Regulation or to supplement a prospectus pursuant to Article 23 of the
Prospectus Regulation, in each case, in relation to such offer.]*

This document constitutes the Final Terms of the Notes described herein. This document must be read in
conjunction with the Offering Circular dated 16 November 2020 [as supplemented by the supplement[s] to it
dated [date[s]]] (the Offering Circular). Full information on the Issuer [and the Guarantor] and the offer of
the Notes is only available on the basis of the combination of these Final Terms and the Offering Circular.
Copies of the Offering Circular may be obtained free of charge, from the registered office of the Principal
Paying Agent at Winchester House, 1 Great Winchester Street, London EC2N 2DB.

[Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Conditions (the
Conditions) set forth in the Offering Circular [dated [15 December 2011/14 December 2012/16 December
2013/15 December 2014/19 November 2015/17 November 2016/17 November 2017/21 November 2018/20
November 2019] [and the supplement to it dated 23 November 2012] and attached hereto].] (Only include
this language where it is a fungible issue and the original Tranche was issued under an Offering Circular
with a different date.)

(Include whichever of the following apply or specify as "Not Applicable". Note that the numbering should
remain as set out below, even if "Not Applicable™ is indicated for individual paragraphs or subparagraphs.
Italics denote directions for completing the Final Terms.)

(If the Notes issued by Bank of New Zealand or BNZ International Funding Limited, acting through its
London Branch have a maturity of less than one year from the date of their issue, the minimum denomination
must be £100,000 or its equivalent in any other currency.)

1. (@) Issuer: [National Australia Bank Limited (ABN 12 004 044 937) /Bank
of New Zealand/BNZ International Funding Limited, acting
through its London Branch]

(b) [Guarantor: Bank of New Zealand

The Notes described herein are not guaranteed by any
government, government agency or compensation scheme of the
Commonwealth of Australia, Her Majesty the Queen in right of
New Zealand or any other jurisdiction.]

2. (a) Series Number: [ ]

(b) Tranche Number: [ ]

4 Do not include if the "Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors" legend is included (because the Notes potentially constitute "packaged"
products and no key information document will be prepared) and the related selling restriction is specified to be "Applicable".
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(c) Date on which the

Notes will be
consolidated and form a
single Series:

3. Specified Currency or
Currencies:

4. Aggregate Nominal Amount:
@ Series:
(b) Tranche:

5. Issue Price:

6. @ Specified
Denominations:

(b) Calculation Amount (in
relation to calculation
of interest for Notes in
global form see
Conditions):

7. @) Issue Date:

(b) Interest
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[The Notes will be consolidated and form a single Series with
[identify earlier Tranches] on [the Issue Date/the date that is 40
days after the Issue Date/exchange of the Temporary Bearer
Global Note for interests in the Permanent Bearer Global Note, as
referred to in Paragraph 28 below, which is expected to occur on
or about [date]][Not Applicable]

[ ]
[ ]
[ ]

[ ] per cent. of the Aggregate Nominal Amount [plus
accrued interest from [insert date]] (include in the case of
fungible issues only, if applicable)

[ ] [(subject to Condition 10A.2A) (include in the case of
Subordinated Notes only, if applicable)]

(Note — where multiple denominations above [€100,000] or
equivalent are being used the following sample wording should
be followed:

"[€100,000] and integral multiples of [€1,000] in excess thereof
up to and including [€199,000]. No Notes in definitive form will
be issued with a denomination above [€199,000].")

(N.B. If an issue of Notes is (i) NOT admitted to trading on a
European Economic Area or United Kingdom exchange; and (ii)
only offered in the European Economic Area or United Kingdom
in circumstances where a prospectus is not required to be
published under the Prospectus Regulation, the [€100,000]
minimum denomination is not required. It is anticipated that
Notes to be admitted to trading on the Euro MTF Market will be
issued in minimum denominations of at least €100,000.)

[ ] [(subject to Condition 10A.2A) (include in the case of
Subordinated Notes only, if applicable)]

(If only one Specified Denomination, insert the Specified
Denomination. If more than one Specified Denomination, insert
the highest common factor. Note: There must be a common factor
in the case of two or more Specified Denominations.)

[ ]
[Specify/Issue Date/Not Applicable]
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Commencement Date:

8. Maturity Date:

9, Interest Basis:
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(N.B. An Interest Commencement Date will not be relevant for
certain Notes, for example Zero Coupon Notes.)

[Fixed rate—[Specify date]/[Interest Payment Date falling in or
nearest to [specify month and year]/[Undated]]

[Floating rate—Interest Payment Date falling in or nearest to
[specify month and year]/[Undated]]

(N.B. for certain Fixed Rate Notes, including Notes denominated
in Renminbi or Hong Kong dollars, or Fixed Rate Notes which
apply a Business Day Convention other than Following Business
Day Convention specified in paragraph 16(f) below, where the
Interest Payment Dates are subject to modification it will be
necessary to use the “Interest Payment Date falling in or nearest
to [specify month and year]” formulation)

(N.B. for Zero Coupon Notes, include relevant Business Day
Convention language if the Maturity Date is to be postponed or
brought forward (as applicable) in accordance with a Business
Day Convention. For a Zero Coupon Note with a Maturity Date
that is to be postponed or brought forward (as applicable) in
accordance with the Modified Following Business Day
Convention consider including: “/date] [month] [year], unless
[date] [month] [year] is not a [specify applicable financial
centres, as appropriate] Business Day, in which case the
Maturity Date shall be postponed to the next day which is a
[[specify applicable financial centres, as appropriate Business
Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in
which event the Maturity Date shall be brought forward to the
immediately preceding [specify applicable financial centres, as
appropriate] Business Day. [Specify applicable financial centres,
as appropriate] Business Day means a day on which commercial
banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are
open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange
and foreign currency deposits) in [specify applicable financial
centres, as appropriate].”)

1l ] per cent. per annum Fixed Rate]

[[LIBOR/EURIBOR/HIBOR/CDOR/SIBOR/CNH
HIBOR/NIBOR] [Compounded Daily [SONIA/SOFR]] [Average
[SONIA/SOFR]] [BBSW Rate/BKBM Rate] +/- [ ] per
cent. per annum Floating Rate]

(N.B. It is expected that BBSW Rate or BKBM Rate will only be
selected  where  ‘BBSW  Determination” or “BKBM
Determination”, respectively, are marked as “Applicable”
below)

([Where interpolated rates for the first Interest Period use the
following: "The ISDA Rate" in respect of the first Interest Period
(such period for the avoidance of doubt being from (and
including) the Interest Commencement Date to (but excluding)
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10. Redemption/Payment Basis:

11. Change of Interest Basis or
Redemption/Payment Basis:

12. U.S. Dollar Equivalent:

13. Put/Call Options:

14. (@) Status of the Notes:

(b) [Date  of  [Board]
approval for issuance of
Notes [and Guarantee]
obtained:

the Interest Payment Date falling in [ ]) shall be determined
through the use of straight-line interpolation by reference to two
rates based on the Floating Rate Option, one of which shall be
determined as if the Designated Maturity were [ ] months
and the other of which shall be determined as if the Designated
Maturity were [ ] months])

[Zero Coupon]

[Index Linked Interest]

[Dual Currency Interest]

[Specify other]

(further particulars specified below)

[Redemption at par] [(subject to Condition 10A.2A) (include in
the case of Subordinated Notes only, if applicable)]

[Index Linked Redemption]

[Dual Currency Redemption]

[Partly Paid]

[Instalment]

[Specify other]

[Specify details of any provision for change of Notes into another
Interest Basis or Redemption/Payment Basis] [Not Applicable]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(N.B. Where Notes are denominated in Renminbi, it is expected
that this paragraph will be marked “Applicable”.)

[Investor Put]

[Issuer Call]

[Regulatory Event Call]

[(further particulars specified below)]
[Not Applicable]

[Senior]/[Subordinated]/[Guaranteed Senior]

[(see further particulars in paragraph 15 below)]
(N.B. Further particulars statement only relevant where the
Issuer is NAB and "Subordinated” is selected)

[ ][and [ ], respectively]]

(N.B. Only relevant where Board (or similar) authorisation is
required for the particular tranche of Notes or related
Guarantee)

PROVISIONS RELATING TO SUBORDINATED NOTES

15. Subordinated Notes:

@ Write-Off:

0083121-0000440 UKO2: 2001152480.25

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this
paragraph 15)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
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(b)

Conversion:
(M CD:

(i) VWAP Period:

(iii) Issue Date

VWAP:

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

[ ]

[As specified in the Schedule to the Conditions])/[[ ] Business
Days]
[As specified in the Schedule to the Conditions])/[[ ] Business

Days]

PROVISIONS RELATING TO INTEREST (IF ANY) PAYABLE

16. Fixed Rate Note Provisions:

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(€)

()

Rate(s) of Interest:

Interest Payment
Date(s):
Fixed Coupon

Amount(s) for Notes in
definitive form (and in
relation to Notes in
global form, see
Conditions):

Broken Amount(s) for
Notes in definitive form
(and in relation to
Notes in global form,
see Conditions):

Day Count Fraction:

Business Day
Convention:
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[Applicable/Not Applicable]
(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this
Paragraph)

[ ] per cent. per annum [payable [annually/semi-
annually/quarterly/other (specify)] in arrear on each Interest
Payment Date] (If payable other than annually, consider
amending Condition 5)

1 ] in each year, commencing on [ ], up to (and
including) the Maturity Date (Amend appropriately in the case of
irregular coupons)

[ ] per Calculation Amount [(subject to Condition 10A.2A)
(include in the case of Subordinated Notes only, if applicable)]

[ ] per Calculation Amount payable on the Interest Payment
Date falling [in/on] [ ] [Not Applicable]

[30/360]

[Actual/Actual (ICMA)]

[RBA Bond Basis][Australian Bond Basis]
[Actual/Actual (ISDA)][Actual/Actual]
[Actual/365 (Fixed)]

[Actual/365 (Sterling)]

[Actual/360]

[30E/360] [Eurobond Basis]

[30E/360 (ISDA)]

[Specify other]

(See Condition 5.7 for alternatives)

[Floating Rate Convention/Following Business Day
Convention/Modified Following Business Day
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(M Adjusted:

(i) Non-Adjusted:

(9) Additional Business

Centre(s):

(h) Determination Date(s):

Q) Other terms relating to

the method

of

calculating interest for
Fixed Rate Notes which

are Exempt Notes:

17. Floating Rate Note Provisions:

(@) Specified
Period(s)/Specified

Interest Payment Dates:

(b) Business
Convention:

Day

) Additional Business

Centre(s):

(d) Manner in which the

Rate of Interest

and

Interest Amount is to be

determined:

(e) Party responsible

for

calculating the Rate of
Interest and Interest

Amount (if not
Agent):

4] Screen
Determination:
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the

Rate

Convention/Preceding Business Day Convention/[Specify other]]
[Applicable/Not Applicable]
[Applicable/Not Applicable]

[ ] [Not Applicable]

1 ] in each year] [Not Applicable]

(Only relevant where Day Count Fraction is Actual/Actual
(ICMA). In such a case, insert regular interest payment dates,
ignoring issue date or maturity date in the case of a long or short
first or last coupon)

[None/Give details]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this
Paragraph)

[ ] [, subject to adjustment in accordance with the Business
Day Convention set out in (b) below /, not subject to any
adjustment, as the Business Day Convention in (b) below is
specified to be Not Applicable]

[Floating Rate Convention/Following Business Day
Convention/Modified Following Business Day Convention/
Preceding Business Day Convention/[Specify other]][Not
Applicable]

[ ] [Not Applicable]

[Screen Rate Determination — Term Rate/Screen Rate
Determination — SOFR/Screen Rate Determination -
SONIA/ISDA  Determination/BBSW  Determination/BKBM
Determination/Specify other]

[ ] [Not Applicable]

[Applicable — Term Rate/Applicable — SOFR/Applicable —
SONIA/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this
Paragraph)
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() Reference Rate
and  Relevant
Financial
Centre:

(i) Interest
Determination
Date(s):

(iii) Relevant
Screen Page:

(iv) SOFR
Provisions:

(A) Calculation
Method:

(B) Observation
Method:

(C) Lookback
Period (p):

(D) Observation
Shift Period:
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Reference Rate: [[ ] month
[LIBOR/EURIBOR/HIBOR/CDOR/SIBOR/CNH
HIBOR/NIBOR]] [SONIA] [SOFR] [Specify other Reference
Rate]

Relevant Time: [ ] [Not Applicable]

(Where (i) Reference Rate is SONIA and Calculation Method is
not SONIA Index Determination, or (ii) Reference Rate is SOFR,
Relevant Time will be ‘Not Applicable’)

Relevant Financial Centre: [London/Brussels/Hong
Kong/Toronto/Singapore/Oslo/Specify other Relevant Financial
Centre] [Not Applicable]

(Where Reference Rate is SONIA or SOFR, Relevant Financial
Centre will be ‘Not Applicable’)

[the first day of each Interest Period][the second/[specify]
business day prior to the start of each Interest Period][the second
day on which the TARGET2 System is open prior to the start of
each Interest Period][The [first/[specify]] [U.S. Government
Securities Business Day/London Banking Day] falling after the
last day of the relevant Observation Period][The day falling
[specify] [U.S. Government Securities Business Days/London
Banking Days] prior to each Interest Payment Date][specify
other]

[ ]

(In the case of EURIBOR, if not Reuters EURIBORO1 ensure it is
a page which shows a composite rate or amend the fallback
provisions appropriately.)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this
paragraph)

[Compounded Daily SOFR Formula/SOFR Index
Determination/Average SOFR]

[Lookback/Observation Shift/Not Applicable]
[5/[specify other] U.S. Government Securities Business
Days][Not Applicable]

[5/[specify other] U.S. Government Securities Business
Days][Not Applicable]

(N.B. When setting the Lookback Period (p) or the Observation

Shift Period, the practicalities of this period should be discussed
with the Agent or, if applicable, such other party responsible for
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(E) Relevant
Number:

(v) SONIA
Provisions:

(A) Calculation
Method:

(B) Observation
Method:

(C) Lag
Lookback
Period (p):

(D) Observation

Shift Period:

(E) Relevant
Number:

0083121-0000440 UKO2: 2001152480.25

the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the
applicable Final Terms. It is anticipated that ‘(p)’ will be no
fewer than 5 U.S. Government Securities Business Days unless
otherwise agreed with the Agent or, if applicable/required, such
other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest,
as specified in the applicable Final Terms, in relation to the
relevant issuance)

[[specify] U.S. Government Securities Business Days][Not
Applicable]

(Not applicable unless Calculation Method is SOFR Index
Determination)

(N.B. When setting the Relevant Number, the practicalities of this
period should be discussed with the Agent or, if applicable, such
other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest,
as specified in the applicable Final Terms. It is anticipated that
the Relevant Number will be no fewer than 5 U.S. Government
Securities Business Days unless otherwise agreed with the Agent
or, if applicable/required, such other party responsible for the
calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable
Final Terms, in relation to the relevant issuance)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this
paragraph)

[Compounded Daily SONIA Formula/SONIA Index
Determination/Average SONIA]

[Lag/Observation Shift/Not Applicable]

[5/[specify other] London Banking Days][Not Applicable]

[5/[specify other] London Banking Days][Not Applicable]

(N.B. When setting the Lag Lookback Period (p) or the
Observation Shift Period, the practicalities of this period should
be discussed with the Agent or, if applicable, such other party
responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified
in the applicable Final Terms. It is anticipated that ‘(p)’ will be
no fewer than 5 London Banking Days unless otherwise agreed
with the Agent or, if applicable/required, such other party
responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified
in the applicable Final Terms, in relation to the relevant
issuance)

[[specify] London Banking Days][Not Applicable]

(Not applicable unless Calculation Method is SONIA Index
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(9) ISDA Determination:

(i Floating Rate
Option:

(i) Designated
Maturity:

(iii) Reset Date:

(h) BBSW Determination:

(M Relevant
Financial
Centre:

(ii) Interest
Determination
Date(s):

(1) BKBM Determination:

Q) Relevant
Financial
Centre:

(i) Interest

Determination
Date(s):
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Determination)

(N.B. When setting the Relevant Number, the practicalities of this
period should be discussed with the Agent or, if applicable, such
other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest,
as specified in the applicable Final Terms. It is anticipated that
the Relevant Number will be no fewer than 5 London Banking
Days unless otherwise agreed with the Agent or, if
applicable/required, such other party responsible for the
calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable
Final Terms, in relation to the relevant issuance)

(It is anticipated that Screen Rate Determination will be used on
an issue by issue basis, unless otherwise agreed between the
Relevant Issuer and the relevant dealer or the relevant managers
on the launch of a particular issue.)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this
Paragraph)

[ ]
[ ]
[ ]

(In the case of a LIBOR or EURIBOR based option, the first day
of the Interest Period)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this
Paragraph)

[Sydney]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this
Paragraph)

[Auckland and Wellington]
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() Linear Interpolation: [Not Applicable][Applicable — the Rate of Interest for the
[long/short] [first/last] Interest Period shall be calculated using
Linear Interpolation (specify for each short or long interest
period)]

(k) Margin(s): [+/-] ] ] per cent. per annum

() Minimum Rate of |[[ ] per cent. per annum][Not Applicable]
Interest:

(m) Maximum Rate of |[[ ] per cent. per annum][Not Applicable]

Interest:
(n) Day Count Fraction: [[Actual/Actual (ISDA)] [Actual/Actual]
Actual/365 (Fixed)
Actual/365 (Sterling)
Actual/360

[30/360] [360/360] [Bond Basis]
[30E/360] [Eurobond Basis]
30E/360 (ISDA)

RBA Bond Basis

Australian Bond Basis

[Other]

(See Condition 5.7 for alternatives)

(0) Interest Amounts Non- [Applicable/Not Applicable]
Adjusted:

(9] Fallback provisions, | ]

rounding provisions
and any other terms
relating to the method
of calculating interest
on Floating Rate Notes
which are  Exempt
Notes, if different from
those set out in the
Conditions:

18. Zero Coupon Note Provisions: [Applicable/Not  Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the
remaining subparagraphs of this Paragraph)

(@) Accrual Yield: [ ] per cent. per annum
(b) Reference Price: [ ]
(c) Any other [ ]

formula/basis of

determining amount
payable  for  Zero
Coupon Notes which
are Exempt Notes:
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(d)

Day Count Fraction in
relation to Early
Redemption Amounts:

19. Index Linked Interest Note

Provisions:

@) Index/Formula:

(b) Calculation Agent:

(©) Party responsible for
calculating the Rate of
Interest (if not the
Calculation Agent) and
Interest Amount (if not
the Agent):

(d) Provisions for
determining  Coupon
where calculation by
reference  to  Index
and/or  Formula is
impossible or
impracticable:

(e) Specified
Period(s)/Specified
Interest Payment Dates:

()] Business Day
Convention:

(o) Additional Business
Centre(s):

(h) Minimum  Rate  of
Interest:

Q) Maximum  Rate of
Interest:

() Day Count Fraction:

(k) Interest Amounts Non-
Adjusted:

20. Dual Currency Interest Note

Provisions:

0083121-0000440 UKO2: 2001152480.25

[30/360]

[Actual/360]

[Actual/365]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this
Paragraph)

[give or annex details]

[give name]

[ ]

[need to include a description of market disruption or settlement
disruption events and adjustment provisions]

[Floating  Rate  Convention/Following  Business  Day
Convention/Modified Following Business Day
Convention/Preceding Business Day Convention/Specify other]

[ ] [Not Applicable]

[ ] per cent. per annum
[ ] per cent. per annum
[ ]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
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(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)

Rate of
Exchange/method of
calculating Rate of
Exchange:

Party, if any,
responsible for
calculating the principal
and/or interest due (if
not the Agent):

Provisions  applicable
where calculation by
reference to Rate of
Exchange impossible or
impracticable:

Person at whose option
Specified Currency(ies)
is/are payable:

(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this
Paragraph)

[give or annex details]

[need to include a description of market disruption or settlement
disruption events and adjustment provisions]

PROVISIONS RELATING TO REDEMPTION

21.

22.

Notice periods for

Condition 7.2:

Issuer Call:

@ Optional  Redemption
Date(s):

(b) Optional  Redemption

(©)

(d)

Amount and method, if
any, of calculation of
such amount(s):

If redeemable in part:

Q) Minimum
Redemption
Amount:

(i) Maximum
Redemption
Amount:

Notice periods:
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Minimum period: [30/[ ]] days
Maximum period: [[60/[ ]] days] [Not Applicable]
[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this
Paragraph)

[ ]

1l ] per Calculation Amount/Specify other/see Appendix]
[(subject to Condition 10A.2A) (include in the case of
Subordinated Notes only, if applicable)]

Minimum period: [5/[ ]] days
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23. Regulatory Event Call in
respect of Subordinated Notes:

Notice periods:

24, Investor Put:

@ Optional  Redemption
Date(s):

(b) Optional  Redemption
Amount and method, if
any, of calculation of
such amount(s):

(c) Notice periods:

25. Final Redemption Amount:

26. Early Redemption Amount
payable on redemption for
taxation reasons or on event of
default and/or the method of
calculating the same (if required
or if different from that set out

0083121-0000440 UKO2: 2001152480.25

Maximum period: [10/[ ] days

(N.B. When setting notice periods, the Issuer is advised to
consider the practicalities of distribution of information through
intermediaries, for example, clearing systems (which require a
minimum of 5 clearing system business days’ notice for a call)
and custodians, as well as any other notice requirements which
may apply, for example, as between the Issuer and the Agent or
Trustee)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraph of this
Paragraph)

Minimum period: [specify] days
Maximum period: [specify] days
[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this
Paragraph)

[ ]

1 ] per Calculation Amount/Specify other/see Appendix]

Minimum period: [15/[ ]] days
Maximum period: [30/[ ]] days

(N.B. When setting notice periods, the Issuer is advised to
consider the practicalities of distribution of information through
intermediaries, for example, clearing systems (which require a
minimum of 15 clearing system business days’ notice for a put)
and custodians, as well as any other notice requirements which
may apply, for example, as between the Issuer and the Agent or
Trustee)

1l ] per Calculation Amount/Specify other/see Appendix]
[(subject to Condition 10A.2A) (include in the case of
Subordinated Notes only, if applicable)]

i ] per Calculation Amount/Condition 7.5 applies/Specify

other/see Appendix] [(subject to Condition 10A.2A) (include in
the case of Subordinated Notes only, if applicable)]
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in Condition 7.5):

GENERAL PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO THE NOTES

217. Any applicable Tax
Jurisdiction:

28. @ Form of Notes:
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[Give details][Not Applicable] (N.B. See Condition 8)

[Bearer Notes:

[Temporary Bearer Global Note exchangeable for a Permanent
Bearer Global Note which is exchangeable for Definitive Bearer
Notes [on 60 days' notice given at any time/only upon an
Exchange Event].]

[Temporary Bearer Global Note exchangeable for Definitive
Bearer Notes on and after the Exchange Date.]

[Permanent Bearer Global Note exchangeable for Definitive
Bearer Notes [on 60 days' notice given at any time/only upon an
Exchange Event/at any time at the request of the Issuer].]

(Ensure that this is consistent with the wording in the "Form of
the Notes" section in the Offering Circular and the Notes
themselves.)

[Registered Notes:

Regulation S Global Note (U.S.$[ ] nominal amount) registered
in the name of a nominee for [DTC/a sub-custodian for the
CMU/a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream,
Luxembourg/a common safekeeper for Euroclear and
Clearstream, Luxembourg (and held under the NSS)]/Rule 144A
Global Note (U.S.$[ ] nominal amount) registered in the
name of a nominee for [DTC/a common depositary for Euroclear
and Clearstream, Luxembourg/a common safekeeper for
Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg (and held under the
NSS)] (specify nominal amounts)]

(It is anticipated that all Registered Notes issued by NAB, BNZ or
BNZ-IF under the Programme will be registered in the name of a
common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg
and/or in the name of a nominee for DTC and/or a sub-custodian
for the CMU, because Registered Notes issued by NAB, BNZ or
BNZ-IF do not currently satisfy the ECB's Eurosystem eligibility
criteria and, accordingly, cannot be recognised as eligible
collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra-day credit
operations.)

(Ensure that this is consistent with the wording in the "Form of
the Notes" section in the Offering Circular and the Notes
themselves. NB: The exchange event upon notice/at any time
options should not be expressed to be applicable if the Specified
Denomination of the Notes in Paragraph 6 includes language
substantially to the following effect: "[€100,000] and integral
multiples of [€1,000] in excess thereof up to and including
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29.

30.

31.

32.

33.

34.

(b) New Global Note:

Additional Financial Centre(s):

Talons for future Coupons or
Receipts to be attached to
Definitive Bearer Notes:

Details relating to Partly Paid
Notes: amount of each payment
comprising the lIssue Price and
date on which each payment is
to be made and consequences
(if any) of failure to pay,
including any right of the Issuer
to forfeit the Notes and interest
due on late payment:

Details relating to Instalment
Notes:

@) Instalment Amount(s):
(b) Instalment Date(s):

Additional United States
Federal Income Tax Disclosure:

Other terms  or
conditions:

special
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[€199,000]."  Furthermore, such Specified Denomination
construction is not permitted in relation to any issue of Notes
which is to be represented on issue by a Temporary Bearer
Global Note exchangeable for a Definitive Bearer Note.)

[Yes] [No]

[It is anticipated that all Bearer Notes issued by NAB, BNZ or
BNZ-IF under the Programme will not be issued in NGN form
and will be deposited with a sub-custodian for the CMU or a
common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg.
Bearer Notes issued by NAB, BNZ or BNZ-IF do not currently
satisfy the ECB's Eurosystem eligibility criteria and, accordingly,
cannot be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem
monetary policy and intra-day credit operations.]

[Not Applicable/give details]

(Note that this Paragraph relates to the date of payment and not
the end dates of Interest Periods for the purposes of calculating
the amount of interest, to which sub-paragraph 17(c) relates.)
[Yes, as the Notes have more than 27 coupon payments, Talons
may be required if, on exchange into definitive form, more than
27 coupon payments are still to be made/No]

[Not Applicable/give details. N.B. A new form of Temporary

Bearer Global Note and/or Permanent Bearer Global Note may
be required for Partly Paid issues]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this
Paragraph)

[give details]

[give details]

[Not Applicable/provide additional disclosure if necessary or
desired, e.g., in the case of a reopening of Notes.]

[Not Applicable/give details]
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[THIRD PARTY INFORMATION

[Relevant third party information] has been extracted from [specify source]. [Each of the] [The] Issuer [and
the Guarantor] confirms that such information has been accurately reproduced and that, so far as it is aware
and is able to ascertain from information published by [specify source], no facts have been omitted which
would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading.]

Signed on behalf of [insert name of Issuer]: [Signed on behalf of Bank of New Zealand:
B B
Duly authorised Duly authorised

By:

Duly authorised]
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PART B—OTHER INFORMATION

1. LISTING AND ADMISSION TO TRADING

[Application has been made by the Issuer (or on its behalf) for the Notes to be admitted to trading on
[the Luxembourg Stock Exchange's Euro MTF Market and listed on the official list of the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange] [other] with effect from [ ].] [Application is expected to be made by
the Issuer (or on its behalf) for the Notes to be admitted to trading on the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange Euro MTF Market and listed on the official list of the [Luxembourg Stock Exchange]
[other] with effect from [ ].] [Not Applicable.]

(When documenting a fungible issue, need to indicate that original Notes are already admitted to

trading.)
2. RATINGS
Ratings: [The Notes to be issued [[have been]/[are expected
to be]] rated [insert details] by [insert the legal
name of the relevant credit rating agency
entity(ies)] [Not Applicable] [The following ratings
reflect ratings assigned to Notes of this type issued
under the Programme generally: [specify ratings
and rating agencies]]
3. INTERESTS OF NATURAL AND LEGAL PERSONS INVOLVED IN THE ISSUE

[Save for any fees payable to the [Managers/Dealers], so far as the Issuer is aware, no person
involved in the issue of the Notes has an interest material to the offer. The [Managers/Dealers] and
[its/their] affiliates have engaged, and may in the future engage, in investment banking and/or
commercial banking transactions with, and may perform other services for, the Issuer [and the
Guarantor] and [its/their] affiliates in the ordinary course of business. — Amend as appropriate if
there are other interests]

4. [YIELD (Fixed Rate Notes only)

Indication of yield: [ ][Not Applicable]]
5. [USE OF PROCEEDS

Use of Proceeds: [ ]

(Only required if the use of proceeds is different to
that stated in the Offering Circular)]

6. OPERATIONAL INFORMATION

@) ISIN: [ ]
(b) Common Code: [ ]
(c) CFlI: [[See/[[include code], as updated, as set out on] the

website of the Association of National Numbering
Agencies (ANNA) or alternatively sourced from the
responsible National Numbering Agency that
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(d) FISN:

(e) [CMU Instrument Number:]

4] [CUSIP/CINS/  Other  securities
number:]

(9) Any clearing system(s) other than
[Euroclear and Clearstream,
Luxembourg,] [CMU Service] [and
DTC] [delete as applicable] and the
relevant identification number(s):

(h) Delivery:

(i Name(s) and  address(es)  of
additional Paying Agent(s) (if any):

() Deemed delivery of clearing system
notices for the purposes of Condition
14:

(k) Intended to be held in a manner

which would allow Eurosystem

eligibility:
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assigned the ISIN/Not Applicable/Not Available]

[[See/[[include code], as updated, as set out on] the
website of the Association of National Numbering
Agencies (ANNA) or alternatively sourced from the
responsible National Numbering Agency that
assigned the ISIN/Not Applicable/Not Available]

[ ]

(Only applicable for Notes held through the CMU
Service)

[Insert here any other relevant codes such as
CUSIP and CINS codes and renumber accordingly]

[Not Applicable/give name(s) and number(s)]

Delivery [against/free of] payment

[ 1[Not Applicable]

[Any notice delivered to Noteholders through
[Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg]
[and/or DTC] [and/or the persons shown in a CMU
Instrument Position Report issued by the CMU
Service] will be deemed to have been given on the
[day]/[[second] day after the day] on which it was
given to [Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg,]
[DTC] [or the persons shown in a CMU Instrument
Position Report issued by the CMU Service,] [as
applicable].]

[Yes. Note that the designation "yes" simply means
that the Notes are intended upon issue to be
deposited with one of the ICSDs as common
safekeeper [(and registered in the name of a
nominee of one of the ICSDs acting as a common
safekeeper)] [include this text for Registered Notes]
and does not necessarily mean that the Notes will be
recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem
monetary policy and intra-day credit operations by
the Eurosystem either upon issue or at any or all
times during their life. Such recognition will depend
upon the ECB being satisfied that Eurosystem
eligibility criteria have been met.]

[No. Whilst the designation is specified as "no" at
the date of these Final Terms, should the
Eurosystem eligibility criteria be amended in the



7. DISTRIBUTION
@ Method of distribution:
(b) If syndicated, names of Managers:

() Stabilisation Manager(s) (if any):

(d) If non-syndicated, name of relevant

Dealer:

(e) U.S. Selling Restrictions:

4] The Republic of Korea (Korea)
Selling Restrictions:
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future such that the Notes are capable of meeting
them the Notes may then be deposited with one of
the ICSDs as common safekeeper [(and registered
in the name of a nominee of one of the ICSDs
acting as common safekeeper)][include this text for
Registered Notes]. Note that this does not
necessarily mean that the Notes will then be
recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem
monetary policy and intra day credit operations by
the Eurosystem at any time during their life. Such
recognition will depend upon the European Central
Bank being satisfied that Eurosystem eligibility
criteria have been met.]] [include this text if "no"
selected]

[Syndicated/Non-syndicated]
[Not Applicable/give names]

[Not Applicable/give name]

[Not Applicable/give name]

Reg. S Compliance Category [1/2/3]; [TEFRA
D/TEFRA C/TEFRA not applicable]

[Not Applicable/The Notes have not been and will
not be registered for public offering under the
Financial Investments Services and Capital Markets
Act of Korea (the FSCMA). Accordingly, (i) the
number of persons to whom the Notes have been
and will be offered shall be fewer than 50 (as
calculated in accordance with the Enforcement
Decree of the FSCMA), and (ii) the number of
Notes (where, for this purpose, the minimum
Specified Denomination specified in these Final
Terms shall constitute one Note) offered in Korea or
to a resident in Korea (as defined in the Foreign
Exchange Transactions Law of Korea (FETL) and
its Enforcement Decree) shall be fewer than 50.
Furthermore, the Notes shall not be divided or
redenominated within 1 year from the issuance.
Except for the Notes offered in Korea or to a
resident in Korea in accordance with the
aforementioned restriction, none of the Notes may
be offered, sold and delivered directly or indirectly,
or offered or sold to any person for re-offering or
resale, directly or indirectly, in Korea or to any
resident of Korea within 1 year from the issuance of
the Notes, except pursuant to the applicable laws
and regulations of Korea.



(9) Prohibition of Sales to EEA and UK

Retail Investors:

(h) Additional selling restrictions:

(1 Prohibition of Sales to Belgian

Consumers:

Furthermore, by purchasing the Notes, each
Noteholder will be deemed to represent, warrant
and agree that it shall comply with all applicable
regulatory requirements (including but not limited
to requirements under the FETL) in connection with
the purchase of the Notes.®]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If the Notes clearly do not constitute “packaged”
products or the Notes do constitute “packaged”
products and a key information document will be
prepared, “Not Applicable” should be specified. If
the Notes may constitute “packaged” products and
no key information document will be prepared,
“Applicable” should be specified.)

[Not Applicable/give details]

(Additional selling restrictions are only likely to be
relevant for certain structured Notes, such as
commodity-linked Notes)

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(N.B. advice should be taken from Belgian counsel
before disapplying this selling restriction)

5 only applicable for Notes offered into Korea otherwise state ‘Not Applicable'.
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES

The following are the Terms and Conditions of the Notes which will be incorporated by reference into each
Global Note (as defined below) and each definitive Note, in the latter case only if permitted by the relevant
stock exchange or other relevant authority (if any) and agreed by the Issuer, the Guarantor (in the case of
Guaranteed Senior Notes) and the relevant Dealer at the time of issue but, if not so permitted and agreed,
such definitive Note will have endorsed thereon or attached thereto such Terms and Conditions. The
applicable Final Terms in relation to any Tranche of Notes may, in respect of an Exempt Note, specify other
terms and conditions which shall, to the extent so specified or to the extent inconsistent with the following
Terms and Conditions, replace or modify the following Terms and Conditions for the purpose of such Notes.
The applicable Final Terms (or the relevant provisions thereof) will be endorsed upon, or attached to, each
Global Note and definitive Note. Reference should be made to "applicable Final Terms" for a description of
the content of Final Terms which will specify which of such terms are to apply in relation to the relevant
Notes.

This Note is one of a Series (as defined below) of Notes issued by National Australia Bank Limited (ABN 12
004 044 937) (NAB), Bank of New Zealand (BNZ) or BNZ International Funding Limited, acting through
its London Branch (BNZ-IF) (each an Issuer and together, the Issuers) constituted by a Trust Deed (such
Trust Deed as modified and/or supplemented and/or restated from time to time, the Trust Deed) dated 17
March 2005 made between NAB as Issuer and Deutsche Trustee Company Limited (the Trustee, which
expression shall include any successor as Trustee). By a First Supplemental Trust Deed dated 17 October
2005 and made between, amongst others, NAB, BNZ-IF, BNZ as guarantor of Notes issued by BNZ-IF (the
Guarantor) and the Trustee, BNZ-IF became an Issuer under the Programme (as defined in the Trust Deed)
and, by a Twentieth Supplemental Trust Deed dated 21 November 2018 and made between NAB, BNZ-IF,
BNZ (as an Issuer and as the Guarantor) and the Trustee, BNZ became an Issuer under the Programme.
Notes issued by BNZ-IF (Guaranteed Senior Notes) will be unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by
the Guarantor under a guarantee set out in the Trust Deed (the Guarantee).

References herein to the Issuer shall be references to the party specified as Issuer in the applicable Final
Terms for this Note.

References herein to the Notes shall be references to the Notes of this Series and shall mean:

@ in relation to any Notes represented by a global Note (a Global Note), units of each Specified
Denomination in the Specified Currency;

(b) any Global Note;

(c) any definitive Notes in bearer form (Bearer Notes) issued in exchange for a Global Note in bearer
form; and

(d) any definitive Notes in registered form (Registered Notes) (whether or not issued in exchange for a
Global Note in registered form).

The Notes, the Receipts (as defined below) and the Coupons (as defined below) have the benefit of an
Amended and Restated Agency Agreement (as amended and/or supplemented and/or restated from time to
time, the Agency Agreement) dated 16 November 2020 and made between NAB, BNZ-IF, BNZ (as an
Issuer and as the Guarantor), the Trustee, Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch as issuing and principal
paying agent and agent bank (the Principal Paying Agent or Agent, which expression shall include any
successor agent) and as exchange agent (the Exchange Agent, which expression shall include any successor
exchange agent) and the other paying agents named therein (together with the Agent, the Paying Agents,
which expression shall include any additional or successor paying agents), Deutsche Bank AG, Hong Kong
Branch as CMU lodging agent (the CMU Lodging Agent, which expression shall include any successor
CMU lodging agent), Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas as registrar (together with the other
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registrars named therein, the Registrar, which expression shall include any additional or successor
registrars) and as transfer agent and the other transfer agents named therein (together with the Registrar, the
Transfer Agents, which expression shall include any additional or successor transfer agents). For the
purposes of these Terms and Conditions, all references (other than in relation to the determination of interest
and other amounts payable in respect of the Notes) to the Principal Paying Agent or Agent shall, with respect
to a Series of Notes to be held in the CMU Service (as defined below), be deemed to be a reference to the
CMU Lodging Agent to the extent necessary for enabling the CMU Lodging Agent to fully observe and
perform its obligations under the CMU Rules (as defined in the Trust Deed) and all such references shall be
construed accordingly.

Interest bearing definitive Notes have interest coupons (Coupons) and, in the case of Notes which, when
issued in definitive form, have more than 27 interest payments remaining, talons for further Coupons
(Talons) attached on issue. Any reference herein to Coupons or coupons shall, unless the context otherwise
requires, be deemed to include a reference to Talons or talons. Definitive Bearer Notes repayable in
instalments have receipts (Receipts) for the payment of the instalments of principal (other than the final
instalment) attached on issue. Registered Notes and Global Notes do not have Receipts, Coupons or Talons
attached on issue.

The Final Terms for this Note (or the relevant provisions thereof) are set out in Part A of the Final Terms
attached to or endorsed on this Note which complete these Terms and Conditions (the Conditions) and, in
the case of a Note which is neither admitted to trading on a regulated market in the European Economic Area
nor offered in the European Economic Area in circumstances where a prospectus is required to be published
under the Prospectus Regulation (an Exempt Note), may specify other terms and conditions which shall, to
the extent so specified or to the extent inconsistent with the Conditions, replace or modify the Conditions for
the purposes of this Note. References to the applicable Final Terms are, unless otherwise stated, to Part A
of the Final Terms (or the relevant provisions thereof) attached to or endorsed on this Note.

The Final Terms for each Tranche of Notes (other than Notes issued with a minimum denomination of less
than Euro 100,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency)) will state in particular whether the Notes of that
Tranche are (i) in the case of Notes issued by NAB or BNZ, senior Notes (Senior Notes), or (ii) in the case
of Notes issued by NAB only, term subordinated Notes (Subordinated Notes), or (iii) in the case of Notes
issued by BNZ-IF only, Guaranteed Senior Notes. The Final Terms for each Tranche of Notes issued with a
minimum denomination of less than Euro 100,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency) will be issued as
Senior Notes or Guaranteed Senior Notes.

The expression Prospectus Regulation means Regulation (EU) 2017/1129.

Any reference to Noteholders or holders in relation to any Notes shall mean (in the case of Bearer Notes)
the bearers for the time being of the Notes and (in the case of Registered Notes) the persons in whose name
the Notes for the time being are registered and shall, in relation to any Notes represented by a Global Note,
be construed as provided below. Any reference herein to Receiptholders shall mean the bearers for the time
being of the Receipts and any reference herein to Couponholders shall mean the bearers for the time being
of the Coupons and shall, unless the context otherwise requires, include the bearers for the time being of the
Talons. The Trustee acts for the benefit of the Noteholders, the Receiptholders and the Couponholders in
accordance with the provisions of the Trust Deed.

As used herein, Tranche means Notes which are identical in all respects (including as to listing or admission
to trading) and Series means a Tranche of Notes together with any further Tranche or Tranches of Notes
which (a) are expressed to be consolidated and form a single series and (b) have the same terms and
conditions or terms and conditions which are the same in all respects save for the Issue Date, the Issue Price,
the amount and date of the first payment of interest thereon and the date from which interest starts to accrue.

Copies of the Trust Deed and the Agency Agreement are available for inspection by appointment during

normal business hours at the registered office for the time being of the Trustee being at Winchester House, 1
Great Winchester Street, London EC2N 2DB and at the specified office of each of the Agent, the Registrar,
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the Exchange Agent and the other Paying Agents and Transfer Agents (such Agents and the Registrar being
together referred to as the Agents) and the Trustee or the relevant Agent may at its option provide such
documents for inspection by electronic means. If the Notes are to be admitted to trading on the regulated
market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange pursuant to the Prospectus Regulation or on the Luxembourg
Stock Exchange's Euro MTF Market, the applicable Final Terms will be published on the website of the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu). If this Note is an Exempt Note, the applicable Final Terms
will only be obtainable by a Noteholder holding one or more Notes and such Noteholder must produce
evidence satisfactory to the Issuer or (in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes) the Guarantor and the Trustee
or, as the case may be, the relevant Agent as to its holding of such Notes and identity. The Noteholders, the
Receiptholders and the Couponholders are deemed to have notice of, and are entitled to the benefit of, all the
provisions of the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement, the Guarantee (in the case of Guaranteed Senior
Notes) and the applicable Final Terms which are applicable to them. The statements in the Conditions
include summaries of, and are subject to, the detailed provisions of the Trust Deed and the Agency
Agreement.

Words and expressions defined in the Trust Deed or the Agency Agreement or used in the applicable Final
Terms shall have the same meanings where used in the Conditions unless the context otherwise requires or
unless otherwise stated and provided that, in the event of inconsistency between the Trust Deed and the
Agency Agreement, the Trust Deed will prevail and, in the event of inconsistency between the Trust Deed or
the Agency Agreement and the applicable Final Terms, the applicable Final Terms will prevail.

1. FORM, DENOMINATION AND TITLE

The Notes are in bearer form or in registered form as specified in the applicable Final Terms and, in the case
of definitive Notes, serially numbered, in the currency (the Specified Currency) and the denominations (the
Specified Denomination(s)) specified in the applicable Final Terms. Notes of one Specified Denomination
may not be exchanged for Notes of another Specified Denomination and Bearer Notes may not be exchanged
for Registered Notes and vice versa.

This Note may be a Fixed Rate Note, a Floating Rate Note or a Zero Coupon Note, or a combination of any
of the foregoing, depending upon the Interest Basis shown in the applicable Final Terms.

If this Note is an Exempt Note, this Note may also be an Index Linked Interest Note, a Dual Currency
Interest Note or a combination of any of the foregoing, depending upon the Interest Basis shown in the
applicable Final Terms.

If this Note is an Exempt Note, this Note may also be an Index Linked Redemption Note, an Instalment
Note, a Dual Currency Redemption Note, a Partly Paid Note or a combination of any of the foregoing,
depending upon the Redemption/Payment Basis shown in the applicable Final Terms.

Notes issued as Subordinated Notes must not be Zero Coupon Notes, Index Linked Interest Notes, Dual
Currency Interest Notes, Index Linked Redemption Notes, Partly Paid Notes, Instalment Notes, Dual
Currency Redemption Notes or any combination of any of the foregoing.

Definitive Bearer Notes are issued with Coupons attached, unless they are Zero Coupon Notes, in which case
references to Coupons and Couponholders in the Conditions are not applicable.

Subject as set out below, title to the Bearer Notes, Receipts and Coupons will pass by delivery and title to the
Registered Notes will pass upon registration of transfers in accordance with the provisions of the Agency
Agreement. The Issuer, the Guarantor (in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes), the Agents and the Trustee
will (except as otherwise required by law) deem and treat the bearer of any Bearer Note, Receipt or Coupon
and the registered holder of any Registered Note as the absolute owner thereof (whether or not overdue and
notwithstanding any notice of ownership or writing thereon or notice of any previous loss or theft thereof)
for all purposes but, in the case of any Global Note, without prejudice to the provisions set out in the next
succeeding paragraph.
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For so long as any of the Notes is represented by a Global Note held on behalf of Euroclear Bank SA/NV
(Euroclear) and/or Clearstream Banking S.A. (Clearstream, Luxembourg) and/or a sub-custodian for the
Central Moneymarkets Unit Service operated by the Hong Kong Monetary Authority (the CMU Service),
each person (other than Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or the CMU Service) who is for the time being
shown in the records of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or the CMU Service as the holder of a
particular nominal amount of such Notes (in which regard any certificate or other document issued by
Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or the CMU Service as to the nominal amount of such Notes standing
to the account of any person shall be conclusive and binding for all purposes save in the case of manifest
error) shall be treated by the Issuer, the Guarantor (in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes), the Agents and
the Trustee as the holder of such nominal amount of such Notes for all purposes other than with respect to
the payment of principal or interest on such nominal amount of such Notes, for which purpose the bearer of
the relevant Bearer Global Note or the registered holder of the relevant Registered Global Note shall be
treated by the Issuer, the Guarantor (in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes), any Agent and the Trustee as
the holder of such nominal amount of such Notes in accordance with and subject to the terms of the relevant
Global Note and the expressions Noteholder and holder of Notes and related expressions shall be construed
accordingly. Notwithstanding the above, if a Note is held through the CMU Service, any payment that is
made in respect of such Note shall be made at the direction of the bearer or at the direction of the registered
holder (to whose order such payments are to be made) to the person(s) for whose account(s) interests in such
Note are credited as being held through the CMU Service in accordance with the CMU Rules at the relevant
time as notified to the CMU Lodging Agent by the CMU Service in a relevant CMU Instrument Position
Report or any other relevant notification by the CMU Service (which notification, in either case, shall be
conclusive evidence of the records of the CMU Service as to the identity of any accountholder and the
principal amount of any Note credited to its account, save in the case of manifest error) (CMU
Accountholders) and such payments shall discharge the obligation of the Issuer in respect of that payment
under such Note. In determining whether a particular person is entitled to a particular nominal amount of
Notes as aforesaid, the Trustee may rely on such evidence and/or information and/or certification as it shall,
in its absolute discretion, think fit and, if it does so rely, such evidence and/or information and/or
certification shall, in the absence of manifest error, be conclusive and binding on all concerned.

For so long as The Depository Trust Company (DTC) or its nominee is the registered owner or holder of a
Registered Global Note, DTC or such nominee, as the case may be, will be considered the sole owner or
holder of the Notes represented by such Registered Global Note for all purposes under the Trust Deed and
the Notes except to the extent that in accordance with DTC's published rules and procedures any ownership
rights may be exercised by its participants or beneficial owners through participants.

Notes which are represented by a Global Note will be transferable only in accordance with the rules and
procedures for the time being of DTC, Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and the CMU Service, as the
case may be. References to DTC, Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or the CMU Service shall,
whenever the context so permits, be deemed to include a reference to any additional or alternative clearing
system specified in the applicable Final Terms or as may otherwise be approved by the Issuer, the Guarantor
(in the case of Guaranteed Senior Notes), the Agent and the Trustee.

2. TRANSFERS OF REGISTERED NOTES
(@) Transfers of interests in Registered Global Notes

Transfers of beneficial interests in Registered Global Notes will be effected by DTC, Euroclear, Clearstream,
Luxembourg or the CMU Service, as the case may be, and, in turn, by other participants and, if appropriate,
indirect participants in such clearing systems acting on behalf of beneficial transferors and transferees of
such interests. A beneficial interest in a Registered Global Note will, subject to compliance with all
applicable legal and regulatory restrictions, be transferable for Notes in definitive form or for a beneficial
interest in another Registered Global Note only in the authorised denominations set out in the applicable
Final Terms and only in accordance with the rules and operating procedures for the time being of DTC,
Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or the CMU Service, as the case may be, and in accordance with the
terms and conditions specified in the Agency Agreement. Transfers of a Registered Global Note registered in
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the name of a nominee for DTC shall be limited to transfers of such Registered Global Note, in whole but
not in part, to another nominee of DTC or to a successor of DTC or such successor's nominee.

(b) Transfers of Registered Notes in definitive form

Subject as provided in paragraphs (c), (e) and (f) below, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set
forth in the Agency Agreement, a Registered Note in definitive form may be transferred in whole or in part
(in the authorised denominations set out in the applicable Final Terms). In order to effect any such transfer
(i) the holder or holders must (A) surrender the Registered Note for registration of the transfer of the
Registered Note (or the relevant part of the Registered Note) at the specified office of the Registrar or any
Transfer Agent, with the form of transfer thereon duly executed by the holder or holders thereof or its or
their attorney or attorneys duly authorised in writing and (B) complete and deposit such other certifications
as may be required by the Registrar or, as the case may be, the relevant Transfer Agent and (ii) the Registrar
or, as the case may be, the relevant Transfer Agent must, after due and careful enquiry, be satisfied with the
documents of title and the identity of the person making the request. Any such transfer will be subject to
such reasonable regulations as the Issuer and the Registrar may from time to time prescribe (the initial such
regulations being set out in Schedule 4 to the Agency Agreement). Subject as provided above, the Registrar
or, as the case may be, the relevant Transfer Agent will, within three business days (being for this purpose a
day on which banks are open for business in the city where the specified office of the Registrar or, as the
case may be, the relevant Transfer Agent is located) of the request (or such longer period as may be required
to comply with any applicable fiscal or other laws or regulations), authenticate and deliver, or procure the
authentication and delivery of, at its specified office to the transferee or (at the risk of the transferee) send by
uninsured mail, to such address as the transferee may request, a new Registered Note in definitive form of a
like aggregate nominal amount to the Registered Note (or the relevant part of the Registered Note)
transferred. In the case of the transfer of part only of a Registered Note in definitive form, a new Registered
Note in definitive form in respect of the balance of the Registered Note not transferred will be so
authenticated and delivered or (at the risk of the transferor) sent to the transferor.

(c) Registration of transfer upon partial redemption

In the event of a partial redemption of Notes under Condition 7, the Issuer shall not be required to register
the transfer of any Registered Note, or part of a Registered Note, called for partial redemption.

(d) Costs of registration

Noteholders will not be required to bear the costs and expenses of effecting any registration of transfer as
provided above, except for any costs or expenses of delivery other than by regular uninsured mail and except
that the Issuer may require the payment of a sum sufficient to cover any stamp duty, tax or other
governmental charge that may be imposed in relation to the registration.

(e) Transfers of interests in Regulation S Global Notes

Prior to expiry of the applicable Distribution Compliance Period, transfers by the holder of, or of a beneficial
interest in, a Regulation S Global Note to a transferee in the United States or who is a U.S. person will only
be made upon receipt by the Registrar of a written certification substantially in the form set out in the
Agency Agreement, amended as appropriate (a Transfer Certificate), copies of which are available from
the specified office of the Registrar or any Transfer Agent, from the transferor of the Note or beneficial
interest therein to the effect that such transfer is being made to a person whom the transferor reasonably
believes is a QIB in a transaction meeting the requirements of Rule 144A and in accordance with any
applicable securities laws of any state of the United States or any other jurisdiction.

In the circumstances set out in this Condition 2(e), such transferee may take delivery through a Legended

Note in global or definitive form. After expiry of the applicable Distribution Compliance Period (i)
beneficial interests in Regulation S Global Notes registered in the name of a nominee for DTC may be held
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through DTC directly, by a participant in DTC, or indirectly through a participant in DTC and (ii) such
certification requirements will no longer apply to such transfers.

0] Transfers of interests in Legended Notes
Transfers of Legended Notes or beneficial interests therein may be made:

Q) to a transferee who takes delivery of such interest through a Regulation S Global Note, upon receipt
by the Registrar of a duly completed Transfer Certificate from the transferor to the effect that such
transfer is being made in accordance with Regulation S and that in the case of a Regulation S Global
Note registered in the name of a nominee for DTC, if such transfer is being made prior to expiry of
the applicable Distribution Compliance Period, the interests in the Notes being transferred will be
held immediately thereafter through Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or the CMU
Service; or

(i) to a transferee who takes delivery of such interest through a Legended Note where the transferee is a
person whom the transferor reasonably believes is a QIB in a transaction meeting the requirements
of Rule 144A, without certification; or

(iii)  otherwise pursuant to the Securities Act or an exemption therefrom, subject to receipt by the Issuer
of such satisfactory evidence as the Issuer may reasonably require, which may include an opinion of
U.S. counsel, that such transfer is in compliance with any applicable securities laws of any State of
the United States,

and, in each case, in accordance with any applicable securities laws of any State of the United States or any
other jurisdiction.

Upon the transfer, exchange or replacement of Legended Notes, or upon specific request for removal of the
Legend, the Registrar shall deliver only Legended Notes or refuse to remove the Legend, as the case may be,
unless there is delivered to the Issuer such satisfactory evidence as may reasonably be required by the Issuer,
which may include an opinion of U.S. counsel, that neither the Legend nor the restrictions on transfer set
forth therein are required to ensure compliance with the provisions of the Securities Act.

(9) Definitions

In this Condition, the following expressions shall have the following meanings:

Distribution Compliance Period means the period that ends 40 days after the completion of the distribution
of each Tranche of Notes, as certified by the relevant Dealer (in the case of a non-syndicated issue) or the
relevant Lead Manager (in the case of a syndicated issue);

Legended Note means Registered Notes (whether in definitive form or represented by a Registered Global
Note) sold in private transactions to QIBs in accordance with the requirements of Rule 144A;

QIB means a qualified institutional buyer within the meaning of Rule 144A;
Regulation S means Regulation S under the Securities Act;

Regulation S Global Note means a Registered Global Note representing Notes sold outside the United
States in reliance on Regulation S;

Rule 144A means Rule 144A under the Securities Act;

Rule 144A Global Note means a Registered Global Note representing Notes sold in the United States to
QIBs; and
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Securities Act means the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

3. STATUS OF THE SENIOR NOTES AND GUARANTEED SENIOR NOTES AND
SUBORDINATION

The applicable Final Terms (other than Notes issued with a minimum denomination of less than Euro
100,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency)) will indicate whether the Notes are, in the case of Notes
issued by NAB, Senior Notes or Subordinated Notes, in the case of Notes issued by BNZ, Senior Notes or, in
the case of Notes issued by BNZ-IF, Guaranteed Senior Notes. The applicable Final Terms for Notes issued
with @ minimum denomination of less than Euro 100,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency) will
indicate whether the Notes are to be issued by NAB or BNZ as Senior Notes or, in the case of Notes issued
by BNZ-IF, as Guaranteed Senior Notes.

NAB is an "authorised deposit-taking institution" (ADI) for the purposes of the Banking Act 1959 of
Australia (Banking Act) in Australia. Accordingly, but without limitation to the other mandatory priority
provisions of the Banking Act or the Reserve Bank Act 1959 of Australia or to other applicable laws, section
13A of Division 2 of Part Il of the Banking Act provides that, in the event NAB becomes unable to meet its
obligations or suspends payment, its assets in Australia are available to meet specified liabilities in Australia
in priority to all other liabilities of NAB (including Notes issued by NAB). These specified liabilities include
obligations of NAB in respect of protected accounts (as defined in the Banking Act), debts due to the Reserve
Bank of Australia (the RBA) and certain debts due to the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority
(APRA). Certain assets, such as the assets of NAB in a cover pool for a covered bond issued by NAB, are
excluded from constituting assets in Australia for the purposes of section 13A of the Banking Act and these
assets are subject to the prior claims of the holders of such covered bonds and certain other secured
creditors in respect of the covered bonds.

The claims which are preferred by law to the claims of a Noteholder in respect of a Note issued by NAB,
including without limitation under the Banking Act provisions referred to above, will include most deposits,
will be substantial and are not limited by these Conditions. NAB's assets which are excluded from
constituting assets in Australia and which are subject to prior claims in connection with covered bonds as
described above may also be substantial. In addition, future changes to applicable law may extend the debts
required to be preferred by law or the assets to be excluded.

The Notes are not deposit liabilities or protected accounts of NAB for the purposes of the Banking Act and
are not insured by any government, government agency or compensation scheme of Australia or any other
jurisdiction or by any other party. Notes issued by NAB are not guaranteed by any person.

3.1 Status of the Senior Notes and Guaranteed Senior Notes

The Senior Notes and Guaranteed Senior Notes and any relative Receipts and Coupons are unsubordinated,
direct and unsecured obligations of the Issuer and rank pari passu with all other unsecured and
unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer (other than any obligation preferred by mandatory provisions of
applicable law including (in respect of NAB only) but not limited to those referred in Division 2 of Part Il of
the Banking Act 1959 of Australia (Banking Act) and section 86 of the Reserve Bank Act 1959 of
Australia).

3.2 Subordination—NAB

The provisions of, and the defined terms contained within, this Condition 3.2 only apply to Subordinated
Notes.

@ Subordinated Notes are direct, unsecured obligations of NAB and are subordinate to the claims of all

Senior Creditors (as defined below) of NAB in right of payment of principal of and interest on such
Subordinated Notes with respect to the assets of NAB in the event of a Winding Up of NAB.
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(b) At any time prior to the Winding Up of NAB in Australia:

(1 payments by NAB of principal and interest or any other amount owing to a Noteholder or
the Trustee in connection with the Subordinated Notes are conditional upon NAB being
Solvent at the time those payments fall due; and

(i) NAB must not pay an amount owing to a Noteholder or the Trustee in connection with the
Subordinated Notes except to the extent that NAB may pay such amount and still be Solvent
immediately after doing so,

provided that this provision shall not affect or prejudice the payment of costs, charges, expenses, liabilities,
indemnities or remuneration of or to the Trustee or the rights and remedies of the Trustee in respect thereof.

Subordinated Notes rank in a Winding Up of NAB behind all claims of Senior Creditors, pari passu among
themselves, and subject to Condition 10A, pari passu with Equal Ranking Instruments and ahead of Junior
Ranking Instruments.

In a Winding Up of NAB a Noteholder's claim for an amount owing by NAB in connection with a
Subordinated Note is subordinated to the claims of Senior Creditors of NAB, in that:

x) all claims of Senior Creditors must be paid in full before the Noteholder's claim is paid; and

) until the Senior Creditors have been paid in full, the Noteholder must not claim in the Winding Up
of NAB in competition with the Senior Creditors so as to diminish any distribution, dividend or
payment which, but for that claim, the Senior Creditors would have been entitled to receive.

The Subordinated Notes will not contain any limitations on the amount of senior debt, deposits or other
obligations that may be hereafter incurred or assumed by NAB.

Each Noteholder irrevocably acknowledges and agrees that this Condition 3.2 is a debt subordination for the
purposes of section 563C of the Corporations Act 2001 of Australia (the Corporations Act). Each
Noteholder irrevocably acknowledges and agrees that the debt subordination effected by this Condition 3.2 is
not affected by any act or omission of NAB or a Senior Creditor which might otherwise affect it at law or in

equity.

To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, a holder of a Subordinated Note and any related Receipts
and Coupons shall not have any right to set-off any amounts owing to it by NAB in connection with that
Subordinated Note against any amount owing by it to NAB in connection with the Subordinated Notes or
otherwise and NAB shall not have any right to set-off any amounts owing by it to the holder in connection
with that Subordinated Note against any amount owing by the holder to it in connection with the
Subordinated Notes or otherwise.

Each Noteholder must not exercise its voting rights as an unsecured creditor in the Winding Up or
administration of NAB to defeat the subordination in this Condition 3.2. In addition, each Noteholder
irrevocably acknowledges and agrees that it must pay or deliver to the liquidator any amount or asset
received on account of its claim in the Winding Up of NAB in connection with a Subordinated Note in
excess of its entitlement under this Condition 3.2.

Nothing in this Condition 3.2 shall be taken to require the consent of any Senior Creditor to any amendment
of this Condition 3.2.

Equal Ranking Instruments means any instrument that ranks in a Winding Up of NAB as the most junior
claim in the Winding Up of NAB ranking senior to Junior Ranking Instruments and includes:
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(1) the undated subordinated Floating Rate Notes issued under the trust deed dated 4 October 1986
between NAB and The Law Debenture Trust Corporation p.l.c., as amended from time to time
(except in so far as such amendment is inconsistent with such ranking); and

(i) any other instruments issued after 1 January 2013 as Relevant Tier 2 Capital Instruments (as defined
in Condition 10A.16).

Junior Ranking Instruments means:

(1) any instrument issued as Tier 1 Capital (whether or not constituting Tier 1 Capital at the Issue Date
or at the time of commencement of the Winding Up of NAB); and

(i) any shares (including Ordinary Shares) in the capital of NAB (other than shares issued as Tier 2
Capital),

or any claims in respect of a shareholding including claims described in sections 563AA and 563A of the
Corporations Act.

Senior Creditors means all present and future creditors of NAB (including but not limited to depositors of
NAB) whose claims:

Q) would be entitled to be admitted in the Winding Up of NAB; and
(i) are not in respect of Equal Ranking Instruments or Junior Ranking Instruments,
including creditors in respect of Subordinated Notes issued before 1 January 2013.

Winding Up means, in relation to NAB, a winding up by a court of competent jurisdiction or otherwise
under applicable law (which, in the case of Australia, includes the Corporations Act).

The Trust Deed contains further provisions to give effect to the subordination contemplated by this
Condition 3.2.

3.3 [This paragraph is no longer applicable]

3.4 Status of the Senior Guarantee

The Guarantor has in the Trust Deed unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed the due and punctual
payment by BNZ-IF of the principal of, and interest on, the Guaranteed Senior Notes and all other amounts
payable under or pursuant to the Trust Deed. The obligations of the Guarantor under the Guarantee constitute
unsubordinated, direct and unsecured obligations of the Guarantor and will rank pari passu with all other
unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Guarantor (other than any obligation preferred by
mandatory provisions of applicable law).

4. [This paragraph is no longer applicable]

5. INTEREST

The applicable Final Terms will indicate whether the Notes are Fixed Rate Notes, Floating Rate Notes or
Zero Coupon Notes or, in the case of Exempt Notes, whether a different interest basis applies.

51 Interest on Fixed Rate Notes
This Condition 5.1 applies to Fixed Rate Notes only. The applicable Final Terms contains provisions

applicable to the determination of fixed rate interest and must be read in conjunction with this Condition 5.1
for full information on the manner in which interest is calculated on Fixed Rate Notes. In particular, the
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applicable Final Terms will specify the Interest Commencement Date, the Rate(s) of Interest, the Interest
Payment Date(s), the Maturity Date, the Fixed Coupon Amount, any applicable Broken Amount, the
Calculation Amount, the Day Count Fraction and any applicable Determination Date.

Each Fixed Rate Note bears interest from (and including) the Interest Commencement Date at the rate(s) per
annum equal to the Rate(s) of Interest. Interest will be payable in arrear on the Interest Payment Date(s) in
each year up to (and including) the Maturity Date.

If the Notes are in definitive form, except as provided in the applicable Final Terms, and subject to the
immediately succeeding paragraph, the amount of interest payable on each Interest Payment Date in respect
of the Fixed Interest Period ending on (but excluding) such date will amount to the Fixed Coupon Amount.
Payments of interest on any Interest Payment Date will, if so specified in the applicable Final Terms, amount
to the Broken Amount so specified.

If "Business Day Convention—Adjusted” is specified in the applicable Final Terms, (a) any Interest
Payment Date otherwise falling on a day which is not a Business Day (as defined in Condition 5.7 below)
will be postponed or brought forward (as applicable) in accordance with the Business Day Convention set
out in the applicable Final Terms (as described below) and (b) the amount of interest payable on such
Interest Payment Date will be adjusted accordingly and the provisions of subparagraph (d) of Condition 5.2
(excluding the determination of the Rate of Interest) and (f) of Condition 5.2 below (excluding the
notification of the Rate of Interest) shall apply, mutatis mutandis, as though references to "Floating Rate
Notes" were to "Fixed Rate Notes" and references to "Interest Amounts" were to amounts of interest payable
in respect of Fixed Rate Notes.

If "Business Day Convention—Non-Adjusted” is specified in the applicable Final Terms, any Interest
Payment Date otherwise falling on a day which is not a Business Day will be postponed or brought forward
(as applicable) in accordance with the Business Day Convention set out in the applicable Final Terms (as
described below) and there will be no corresponding adjustment of the amount of interest or, if applicable,
principal, payable on such Interest Payment Date.

Except in the case of Notes in definitive form where an applicable Fixed Coupon Amount or Broken Amount
is specified in the applicable Final Terms, interest shall be calculated in respect of any period by applying the
Rate of Interest to:

(A) in the case of Fixed Rate Notes which are (i) represented by a Global Note or (ii) Registered Notes
in definitive form, the aggregate outstanding nominal amount of (A) the Fixed Rate Notes
represented by such Global Note or (B) such Registered Notes (or, in each case, if they are Partly
Paid Notes, the aggregate amount paid up); or

(B) in the case of Fixed Rate Notes which are Bearer Notes in definitive form, the Calculation Amount;
and, in each case, multiplying such sum by the applicable Day Count Fraction.

The resultant figure (including after application of any Fixed Coupon Amount or Broken Amount, as
applicable, to the aggregate outstanding nominal amount of Fixed Rate Notes which are Registered Notes in
definitive form or the Calculation Amount in the case of Fixed Rate Notes which are Bearer Notes in
definitive form) shall be rounded to the nearest sub-unit of the relevant Specified Currency, half of any such
sub-unit being rounded upwards or otherwise in accordance with applicable market convention.

Where the Specified Denomination of a Fixed Rate Note which is a Bearer Note in definitive form is a
multiple of the Calculation Amount, the amount of interest payable in respect of such Fixed Rate Note shall
be the product of the amount (determined in the manner provided above) for the Calculation Amount and the
amount by which the Calculation Amount is multiplied to reach the Specified Denomination, without any
further rounding.
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5.2 Interest on Floating Rate Notes

This Condition 5.2 applies to Floating Rate Notes only. The applicable Final Terms contains provisions
applicable to the determination of floating rate interest and must be read in conjunction with this
Condition 5.2 for full information on the manner in which interest is calculated on Floating Rate Notes. In
particular, the applicable Final Terms will identify any Specified Interest Payment Dates, any Specified
Period, the Interest Commencement Date, the Business Day Convention, any Additional Business Centres,
whether ISDA Determination, Screen Rate Determination, BBSW Determination or BKBM Determination
applies to the calculation of interest, the party who will calculate the amount of interest due if it is not the
Agent, the Margin, any maximum or minimum interest rates and the Day Count Fraction. Where ISDA
Determination applies to the calculation of interest, the applicable Final Terms will also specify the
applicable Floating Rate Option, Designated Maturity and Reset Date. Where Screen Rate Determination
applies to the calculation of interest, the applicable Final Terms will also specify, inter alia, the applicable
Reference Rate, Relevant Financial Centre, Interest Determination Date(s) and Relevant Screen Page. Where
BBSW Determination or BKBM Determination applies to the calculation of interest, the applicable Final
Terms will also specify the applicable Relevant Financial Centre and Interest Determination Date(s).

@ Interest Payment Dates

Each Floating Rate Note bears interest from (and including) the Interest Commencement Date and such
interest will be payable in arrear on either:

(i the Specified Interest Payment Date(s) in each year specified in the applicable Final Terms; or

(i) if no Specified Interest Payment Date(s) is/are specified in the applicable Final Terms, each date
(each such date, together with each Specified Interest Payment Date, an Interest Payment Date)
which falls the number of months or other period specified as the Specified Period in the Final
Terms after the preceding Interest Payment Date or, in the case of the first Interest Payment Date,
after the Interest Commencement Date.

Such interest will be payable in respect of each Interest Period. In the Conditions, Interest Period means
the period from (and including) an Interest Payment Date (or the Interest Commencement Date) to (but
excluding) the next (or first) Interest Payment Date or the relevant payment date if the Notes become payable
on a date other than an Interest Payment Date.

If a Business Day Convention is specified in the applicable Final Terms and (x) if there is no numerically
corresponding day in the calendar month in which an Interest Payment Date should occur or (y) if any
Interest Payment Date would otherwise fall on a day which is not a Business Day, then, if the Business Day
Convention specified is:

(A) in any case where Specified Periods are specified in accordance with Condition 5.2 above, the
Floating Rate Convention, such Interest Payment Date (a) in the case of (x) above, shall be the last
day that is a Business Day in the relevant month and the provisions of (ii) below shall apply mutatis
mutandis or (b) in the case of (y) above, shall be postponed to the next day which is a Business Day
unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event (i) such Interest Payment
Date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day and (ii) each subsequent
Interest Payment Date shall be the last Business Day in the month which falls the Specified Period
after the preceding applicable Interest Payment Date occurred; or

(B) the Following Business Day Convention, such Interest Payment Date shall be postponed to the next
day which is a Business Day; or

© the Modified Following Business Day Convention, such Interest Payment Date shall be postponed to
the next day which is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in
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which event such Interest Payment Date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding
Business Day; or

(D) the Preceding Business Day Convention, such Interest Payment Date shall be brought forward to the
immediately preceding Business Day.

(b) Rate of Interest

The Rate of Interest payable from time to time in respect of Floating Rate Notes will be determined in the
manner specified in the applicable Final Terms.

(1 ISDA Determination for Floating Rate Notes

Where "ISDA Determination" is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the manner in which the Rate of
Interest is to be determined, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Period will be the relevant ISDA Rate plus
or minus (as indicated in the applicable Final Terms) the Margin (if any). For the purposes of this
subparagraph (i), ISDA Rate for an Interest Period means a rate equal to the Floating Rate that would be
determined by the Agent or other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest as specified in
the applicable Final Terms (and references in this Condition 5.2(b)(i) to "Agent" shall be construed
accordingly) under an interest rate swap transaction if the Agent were acting as Calculation Agent for that
swap transaction under the terms of an agreement incorporating the 2006 ISDA Definitions, as published by
the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. (ISDA), and as amended and updated as at the
Issue Date of the first Tranche of the Notes (the ISDA Definitions) and under which:

(A) the Floating Rate Option is as specified in the applicable Final Terms;
(B) the Designated Maturity is a period specified in the applicable Final Terms; and
© the relevant Reset Date is the day specified in the applicable Final Terms.

For the purposes of this subparagraph (i), Floating Rate, Calculation Agent, Floating Rate Option,
Designated Maturity and Reset Date have the meanings given to those terms in the ISDA Definitions.

Unless otherwise stated in the applicable Final Terms the Minimum Rate of Interest shall be deemed to be
zero.

(i) Screen Rate Determination for Floating Rate Notes referencing a Term Rate

(1) Where "Screen Rate Determination — Term Rate" is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the
manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Period
will, subject to Condition 5.5 and subject as provided below, be either:

(A) the offered quotation; or

(B) the arithmetic mean (rounded if necessary to the fifth decimal place, with 0.000005 being
rounded upwards) of the offered quotations,

(expressed as a percentage rate per annum) for the Reference Rate which appears or appear, as the
case may be, on the Relevant Screen Page as at the Relevant Time in the Relevant Financial Centre
on the Interest Determination Date in question plus or minus (as indicated in the applicable Final
Terms) the Margin (if any), all as determined by the Agent or other party responsible for the
calculation of the Rate of Interest as specified in the applicable Final Terms (and references in this
Condition 5.2(b)(ii) to "Agent" shall be construed accordingly). If five or more of such offered
quotations are available on the Relevant Screen Page, the highest (or, if there is more than one such
highest quotation, one only of such quotations) and the lowest (or, if there is more than one such
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lowest quotation, one only of such quotations) shall be disregarded by the Agent for the purpose of
determining the arithmetic mean (rounded as provided above) of such offered quotations.

If, other than in the circumstances described in Condition 5.5 below, the Relevant Screen Page is not
available or if, in the case of Condition 5.2(b)(ii)(1)(A), no such offered quotation appears or, in the
case of Condition 5.2(b)(ii)(1)(B), fewer than three of the offered quotations appear, in each case as
at the Relevant Time, the Agent shall request each of the Reference Banks to provide the Agent with
its offered quotation (expressed as a percentage rate per annum) for the Reference Rate at
approximately the Relevant Time on the Interest Determination Date in question. If two or more of
the Reference Banks provide the Agent with such offered quotations, the Rate of Interest for such
Interest Period shall be the arithmetic mean (rounded if necessary to the fifth decimal place, with
0.000005 being rounded upwards) of such offered quotations plus or minus (as indicated in the
applicable Final Terms) the Margin (if any), all as determined by the Agent.

If on any Interest Determination Date one only or none of the Reference Banks provides the Agent
with such an offered quotation as provided in the preceding paragraph, the Rate of Interest for the
relevant Interest Period shall be the rate per annum which the Agent determines as being the
arithmetic mean (rounded as provided above) of the rates, as communicated to (and at the request of)
the Agent by the Reference Banks or any two or more of them, at which such banks were offered, at
approximately the Relevant Time on the relevant Interest Determination Date, deposits in the
Specified Currency for a period equal to that which would have been used for the Reference Rate by
leading banks in the London inter-bank market (if the Reference Rate is LIBOR) or the Euro-zone
inter-bank market (if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR) or the Hong Kong inter-bank market (if the
Reference Rate is HIBOR) or the Toronto inter-bank market (if the Reference Rate is CDOR) or the
Singapore inter-bank market (if the Reference Rate is SIBOR) or the Hong Kong inter-bank market
(if the Reference Rate is CNH HIBOR) or the Oslo inter-bank market (if the Reference Rate is
NIBOR) plus or minus (as appropriate) the Margin (if any) or, if fewer than two of the Reference
Banks provide the Agent with such offered rates, either (as directed by the Issuer) the offered rate for
deposits in the Specified Currency for a period equal to that which would have been used for the
Reference Rate, or the arithmetic mean (rounded as provided above) of the offered rates for deposits
in the Specified Currency for a period equal to that which would have been used for the Reference
Rate, at which, at approximately the Relevant Time on the relevant Interest Determination Date, any
one or more banks (which bank or banks is or are in the opinion of the Issuer suitable for the
purpose) informs the Agent it is quoting to leading banks in the London inter-bank market (if the
Reference Rate is LIBOR) or the Euro-zone inter-bank market (if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR)
or the Hong Kong inter-bank market (if the Reference Rate is HIBOR) or the Toronto inter-bank
market (if the Reference Rate is CDOR) or the Singapore inter-bank market (if the Reference Rate is
SIBOR) or the Hong Kong inter-bank market (if the Reference Rate is CNH HIBOR) or the Oslo
inter-bank market (if the Reference Rate is NIBOR) plus or minus (as appropriate) the Margin (if
any), provided that, if the Rate of Interest cannot be determined in accordance with the foregoing
provisions of this Condition 5.2(b)(ii), the Rate of Interest shall be that determined as at the last
preceding Interest Determination Date (though substituting, where a different Margin, Maximum
Rate of Interest and/or Minimum Rate of Interest is to be applied to the relevant Interest Period from
that which applied to the last preceding Interest Period, the Margin, Maximum Rate of Interest
and/or Minimum Rate of Interest (as the case may be) relating to the relevant Interest Period in
place of the Margin, Maximum Rate of Interest and/or Minimum Rate of Interest (as applicable)
relating to that last preceding Interest Period).

In this Condition 5.2(b)(ii):

Interest Determination Date shall mean the date specified as such in the Final Terms or if none is so
specified:

if the Reference Rate is the London interbank offered rate (LIBOR) (other than Sterling or Euro
LIBOR), the second London business day prior to the start of each Interest Period;
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(i) if the Reference Rate is Sterling LIBOR, the first day of each Interest Period;

(iii) if the Reference Rate is Euro LIBOR or the Euro-zone interbank offered rate (EURIBOR), the
second day on which the TARGET2 System is open prior to the start of each Interest Period;

(iv) if the Reference Rate is the Hong Kong interbank offered rate (HIBOR), the first day of each
Interest Period;

(V) if the Reference Rate is the Toronto inter-bank offered rate (CDOR), the first day of each Interest
Period,;

(vi) if the Reference Rate is the Singapore interbank offered rate (SIBOR), the second Singapore
business day prior to the start of each Interest Period;

(vii)  if the Reference Rate is the CNH Hong Kong interbank offered rate (CNH HIBOR), the second
Hong Kong business day (excluding Saturdays) prior to the start of each Interest Period; and

(viii)  if the Reference Rate is the Norwegian interbank offered rate (NIBOR), the second Oslo business
day prior to the start of each Interest Period.

Reference Banks shall mean (i) in the case of a determination of LIBOR, the principal London office of
four major banks in the London inter-bank market; (ii) in the case of a determination of EURIBOR, the
principal Euro-zone office of four major banks in the Euro-zone inter-bank market; (iii) in the case of a
determination of HIBOR, four major banks in the Hong Kong inter-bank market; (iv) in the case of a
determination of CDOR, four Canadian Schedule 1 chartered banks; (v) in the case of a determination of
SIBOR, four major banks in the Singapore inter-bank market; (vi) in the case of a determination of CNH
HIBOR, the principal Hong Kong office of four major banks dealing in Renminbi in the Hong Kong inter-
bank market; and (vii) in the case of a determination of NIBOR, four major banks in the Oslo inter-bank
market; in each case selected by the Agent or as specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Reference Rate has the meaning given in Condition 5.7.

Relevant Financial Centre shall mean London, in the case of a determination of LIBOR, Brussels, in the
case of a determination of EURIBOR, Hong Kong, in the case of a determination of HIBOR, Toronto, in the
case of a determination of CDOR, Singapore, in the case of a determination of SIBOR, Hong Kong, in the
case of a determination of CNH HIBOR and Oslo, in the case of a determination of NIBOR, as specified in
the applicable Final Terms.

Relevant Time shall mean (i) in the case of LIBOR, 11.00 a.m., (ii) in the case of EURIBOR, 11.00 a.m.,
(iii) in the case of HIBOR, 11.00 a.m., (iv) in the case of CDOR, 10.15 a.m., (V) in the case of SIBOR, 11.00
a.m., (vi) in the case of CNH HIBOR, 11.15 a.m., or if, at or around that time it is notified that the fixing will
be published at 2:30 p.m., then as of 2:30 p.m., and (vii) in the case of NIBOR, 12.00 noon, each as specified
in the applicable Final Terms.

In the case of Exempt Notes, if the Reference Rate from time to time in respect of Floating Rate Notes is
specified in the applicable Final Terms as being other than LIBOR, EURIBOR, HIBOR, CDOR, SIBOR,
CNH HIBOR, NIBOR, SONIA, SOFR, BBSW Rate or BKBM Rate, the Rate of Interest in respect of such
Notes will be determined as provided in the applicable Final Terms.

(iii) ~ Screen Rate Determination for Floating Rate Notes referencing SOFR
(A) Where "Screen Rate Determination — SOFR" is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the
manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, and the Calculation Method is specified in

the applicable Final Terms as being "Compounded Daily SOFR Formula", the Rate of Interest for an
Interest Period will, subject as provided below, be the Compounded Daily SOFR Formula Rate with
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respect to such Interest Period plus or minus (as indicated in the applicable Final Terms) the Margin
(if any).

Compounded Daily SOFR Formula Rate means, with respect to an Interest Period, the rate of
return of a daily compound interest investment in U.S. dollars (with the Secured Overnight
Financing Rate as the reference rate for the calculation of interest) as calculated by the Agent (or
such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable
Final Terms) on the relevant Interest Determination Date in accordance with the following formula
(and the resulting percentage will be rounded, if necessary, to the nearest fifth decimal place, with
0.000005 being rounded upwards):

dg
1_[( SOFR; xn; ) 11 x 360
360 d

)
where:
d is the number of calendar days in:

@ where "Lookback" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Final
Terms, the relevant Interest Period; or

(b) where "Observation Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable
Final Terms, the relevant Observation Period;

d, is the number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days in:

@) where "Lookback" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Final
Terms, the relevant Interest Period; or

(b) where "Observation Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable
Final Terms, the relevant Observation Period;

i is a series of whole numbers from one to d,, each representing the relevant U.S.
Government Securities Business Day in chronological order from, and including, the first
U.S. Government Securities Business Day in:

(a) where "Lookback" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Final
Terms, the relevant Interest Period; or

(b) where "Observation Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable
Final Terms, the relevant Observation Period;

n;, for any U.S. Government Securities Business Day "i
from (and including) such U.S. Government Securltles Business Day
excluding) the following U.S. Government Securities Business Day;

, means the number of calendar days
"i" up to (but

Observation Period means, in respect of an Interest Period, the period from (and including)
the date falling "p" U.S. Government Securities Business Days prior to the first day of the
relevant Interest Period to (but excluding) the date falling "p" U.S. Government Securities
Business Days prior to (1) the Interest Payment Date for such Interest Period or (lI) if
applicable, the relevant payment date if the Notes become due and payable on a date other
than an Interest Payment Date;
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p means:

@) where "Lookback" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Final
Terms, the number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days included in the
"Lookback Period (p)" in the applicable Final Terms (or, if no such number is so
specified, five U.S. Government Securities Business Days); or

(b) where "Observation Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable
Final Terms, the number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days included in
the "Observation Shift Period" in the applicable Final Terms (or, if no such number
is so specified, five U.S. Government Securities Business Days);

SOFR means, in respect of any U.S. Government Securities Business Day, a rate determined
in accordance with the following provisions:

n the Secured Overnight Financing Rate published for such U.S. Government
Securities Business Day that appears on the SOFR Administrator's Website at or
about 3.00 p.m. (New York City time) on the U.S. Government Securities Business
Day immediately following such U.S. Government Securities Business Day; and

(m if the rate specified in paragraph (I) above does not so appear, unless both a
Benchmark Transition Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have
occurred, then the Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the
Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Final Terms) shall use the Secured
Overnight Financing Rate published on the SOFR Administrator's Website for the
first preceding U.S. Government Securities Business Day on which the Secured
Overnight Financing Rate was published on the SOFR Administrator's Website;

SOFRi means, in respect of any U.S. Government Securities Business Day "i":

@) where "Lookback" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Final
Terms, SOFR in respect of the U.S. Government Securities Business Day falling
"p" U.S. Government Securities Business Days prior to the relevant U.S.

Government Securities Business Day "i"; or

(b) where "Observation Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable
Final Terms, SOFR in respect of such U.S. Government Securities Business Day

;and

U.S. Government Securities Business Day means any day except for a Saturday, a Sunday
or a day on which the Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association recommends
that the fixed income departments of its members be closed for the entire day for purposes of
trading in U.S. government securities.

Certain other capitalised terms used in the foregoing terms and provisions relating to
determination of the Compounded Daily SOFR Formula Rate have the meanings set forth
under Condition 5.2(b)(iii)(E) below.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, if both a Benchmark Transition Event and its related
Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred with respect to determining the Compounded Daily
SOFR Formula Rate, the benchmark replacement provisions set forth in Condition 5.2(b)(iii)(E)
below shall apply for the purposes of all determinations of the Rate of Interest in respect of the
Notes.
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(B) Where "Screen Rate Determination — SOFR" is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the
manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, and the Calculation Method is specified in
the applicable Final Terms as being "SOFR Index Determination”, the Rate of Interest for an Interest
Period will, subject as provided below, be the Compounded SOFR Index Rate with respect to such
Interest Period plus or minus (as indicated in the applicable Final Terms) the Margin (if any).

Compounded SOFR Index Rate means, with respect to an Interest Period, the rate of return of a
daily compound interest investment as calculated by the Agent (or such other party responsible for
the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Final Terms) on the relevant
Interest Determination Date in accordance with the following formula (and the resulting percentage
will be rounded, if necessary, to the nearest fifth decimal place, with 0.000005 being rounded
upwards):

( SOFR Indexc,g ] 360

SOFR Indexs,. d

where:

d is the number of calendar days from (and including) the day in relation to which "SOFR
Indexswr" is determined to (but excluding) the day in relation to which "SOFR Indexend" is
determined (being the number of calendar days in the applicable reference period);

Relevant Number is as specified in the applicable Final Terms;

SOFR Indexeng means the SOFR Index value relating to the U.S. Government Securities
Business Day falling the Relevant Number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days
prior to (1) the Interest Payment Date for the relevant Interest Period or (I1) if applicable, the
relevant payment date if the Notes become due and payable on a date other than an Interest
Payment Date;

SOFR Indexswart means the SOFR Index value relating to the U.S. Government Securities
Business Day falling the Relevant Number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days
specified in the applicable Final Term